
 

 

 
 
 
 
Notice of public meeting of  

Community Safety Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
To: Councillors Douglas (Chair), Healey (Vice-Chair), King, 

Hodgson, Watson, Steward and Orrell 
 

Date: Tuesday, 15 January 2013 
 

Time: 5.00 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall, York 
 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point, Members are asked to declare: 

• Any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests 

• Any prejudicial interests or 
• Any disclosable pecuniary interests 

which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 3 - 8) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 13 

November 2012. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have 

registered to speak can do so.  The deadline for registering is 
5.00pm on Monday 14  January 2013.  Members of the public 
may speak on agenda items or matters within the remit of the 
committee. 
 
To register to speak please contact the Democracy Officer for the 
meeting on the details at the foot of the agenda. 
 

4. Cabinet Report on Surface Water 
Management   

(Pages 9 - 126) 

 This Cabinet Report on Surface Water Management is presented 
to the committee for information to support their consideration of 
a possible scrutiny review on City of York Council Emergency 
Planning Procedures. 
 

5. Quarter 2 Finance and Performance 
Update Environmental Services and Public 
Protection   

(Pages 127 - 132) 

 This report provides an update on financial performance, service 
plan improvement actions and performance measures for 
Environmental Services and Public Protection. 
 

6. Safer York Partnership Performance 
Report   

(Pages 133 - 146) 

 This report presents the Safer York Partnership performance 
report on the Community Safety Plan 2011-14. 
 

7. Work Plan   (Pages 147 - 148) 
 Members are asked to consider the committee’s work plan. 

 
8. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent. 

 
Democracy Officer: 
Name:  Jayne Carr 
Contact Details: 
Telephone – (01904) 552030 
Email – jayne.carr@york.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 



 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

• Registering to speak 
• Business of the meeting 
• Any special arrangements 
• Copies of reports 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



About City of York Council Meetings 
 
Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and 
contact details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no 
later than 5.00 pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of 
business on the agenda or an issue which the committee has 
power to consider (speak to the Democracy Officer for advice 
on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy 
Officer. 

A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s 
website or from Democratic Services by telephoning York 
(01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this 
meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for 
viewing online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of 
individual reports or the full agenda are available from Democratic 
Services.  Contact the Democracy Officer whose name and contact 
details are given on the agenda for the meeting. Please note a 
small charge may be made for full copies of the agenda 
requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  
The meeting will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue 
with an induction hearing loop.  We can provide the agenda or 
reports in large print, electronically (computer disk or by email), in 
Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take longer than others 
so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours for 
Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-
by or a sign language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact 
the Democracy Officer whose name and contact details are given 
on the order of business for the meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in 
another language, either by providing translated information or an 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



interpreter providing sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone 
York (01904) 551550 for this service. 

 
 
Holding the Cabinet to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Cabinet (39 out 
of 47).  Any 3 non-Cabinet councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of 
business following a Cabinet meeting or publication of a Cabinet 
Member decision. A specially convened Corporate and Scrutiny 
Management Committee (CSMC) will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Cabinet meeting, where a 
final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees 
appointed by the Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 
• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new 

ones, as necessary; and 
• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 

 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the 
committees to which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and 
reports for the committees which they report to; 

• York Explore Library and the Press receive copies of all public 
agenda/reports; 

• All public agenda/reports can also be accessed online at other 
public libraries using this link 
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 

 

Page 2



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

MEETING COMMUNITY SAFETY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

DATE 13 NOVEMBER 2012 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS DOUGLAS (CHAIR), HEALEY 
(VICE-CHAIR), KING, HODGSON, WATSON, 
STEWARD AND ORRELL 

  

 
25. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any 
personal interests, not included on the Register of Interests, or 
any prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they may have 
in respect of business on the agenda.  None were declared. 
 

26. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting of 11 

September 2012 be confirmed and signed by 
the Chair as a correct record. 

 
27. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

 
A member of the public had registered to speak at the meeting 
on item 5 (Emergency Planning in respect of flooding).  He drew 
specific reference to the impact of climate change on flooding 
and offered to provide contacts who could provide detailed 
information on this issue.   He drew attention to the work of the 
Environmental Audit Committee and explained about the impact 
of Rossby waves on weather patterns.  The speaker also raised 
concerns about glass recycling arrangements and carbon in 
buildings. 
 

28. ATTENDANCE OF CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES  
 
The Cabinet Member for Environmental Services had been 
invited to attend the meeting to outline his priorities and 
challenges for 2012/13.  He updated the committee on issues 
including: 

• The challenging financial position. 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



• Recycling rates.  The Cabinet Member stated that he 
welcomed the scrutiny review that was taking place on this 
issue. 

• Issues in respect of the Allerton Park facility and how this 
would operate in the future.  Planning permission had 
been granted.   

• Food waste. 
• Encouraging composting. 
• Working together to ensure that effective arrangements 
were in place at the end of university terms when students 
moved out of their accommodation. 

• Empowering communities and encouraging them to take 
ownership. 

• Working with the third sector and partner organisations. 
• Taking a joined up approach in the provision of services.  
• The need to ensure that there was effective 
communication with the public. 

 
The Cabinet Member responded to questions on the following 
issues: 

• Clarification was sought as to the timescale by which the 
Allerton Park facility would be operational.  Members were 
informed that the commissioning could take place within 
four-and-a-half to five years.  If, however, the project was 
subject to judicial review and a planning inquiry the 
timescale could be seven years. 

• Figures were requested in respect of garden waste.  The 
Cabinet Member stated that this information would be 
included in the report that was being prepared.  Modelling 
was taking place on potential take up of the service.   

• The Cabinet Member was asked about the level of charge 
that was being considered in respect of the collection of 
green bins and whether this was likely to have an impact 
on fly tipping and rates of recycling.  The Cabinet Member 
stated that no decisions had been made in respect of the 
charging as the modelling process was not yet finalised.  
Consideration was being given to the experiences of other 
Local Authorities when they had implemented a charge 
and the consequences of doing so. 

• Details were given of the arrangements that were in place 
in respect of individuals who wished to use a trailer when 
disposing of garden waste at the waste recycling centres 
and of the permit scheme that was in operation. 

Page 4



• Details were given of the processes used in respect of the 
recycling of glass and bottles and the ways in which the 
recycled material was utilised.   

• The Cabinet Member was asked if the closure of Beckfield 
Lane had resulted in increased use of the Towthorpe and 
Hazel Court facilities and on kerbside collections.  
Members were informed that work was taking place to 
ascertain the impact.   When this information was finalised 
it would be brought to the committee’s attention.  There 
had been no increase in fly tipping. 

• The Cabinet Member was asked if the future of the 
Towthorpe facility was assured.  He stated that there were 
no plans to close the facility. 

 
The Cabinet Member was thanked for his attendance at the 
meeting.   
 

29. EMERGENCY PLANNING IN RESPECT OF FLOODING  
 
A presentation was given on emergency planning in respect of 
flooding.  [A copy of a presentation outlining the issues covered 
is attached to the on-line agenda papers for this meeting].    The 
presentation focussed on the following issues: 

• The changing climate 
• Flood risk 
• Emergency planning 

 
Members were informed that a report on Surface Water 
Management was due to be considered by Cabinet on 4 
December 2012. 
 
The committee gave consideration as to whether they would 
wish to proceed with a scrutiny review on emergency planning 
in respect of flooding.  The Chair suggested that any such 
review could focus on the arrangements that were in place to 
support communities in returning to normality following flooding.    
Members were also mindful of the need to avoid duplicating 
work that was already taking place in preparing the report on 
Surface Water Management.   
 
RESOLVED: That, at the next meeting, the committee 

give consideration to the Cabinet report on 
Surface Water Management and any 
additional information in respect of the 

Page 5



emergency planning procedures that are in 
place.   

 
REASON: To enable the Committee to determine 

whether or not they would wish to proceed 
with a review on emergency planning in 
respect of flooding. 

 
30. NORTH YORKSHIRE AND YORK POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 

DRAFT PROTOCOL  
 
Members considered a report that presented a draft protocol for 
the working relationship between the new Police and Crime 
Panel (PCP) and the Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees (CDCs) across North Yorkshire.  Members were 
asked to comment on the protocol so that the views of City of 
York Council could be fed back to North Yorkshire County 
Council and collated with the views of the other councils. 
 
Members stated that they would wish to invite the Chair of the 
new Police and Crime Panel and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to meet with them in the forthcoming year.  They 
also requested that a diagram be provided to clarify the 
structure and scrutiny arrangements that would be in place. 
 
RESOLVED: That the draft protocol for the working 

relationship between the new Police and 
Crime Panel and the Crime and Disorder 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees across 
North Yorkshire be accepted. 

 
REASON: To clarify and understand the future role of this 

committee in its scrutiny of the local 
Community Safety Partnership and its 
relationship with the new PCP. 

 
31. DOMESTIC RECYCLING TASK GROUP SCRUTINY REVIEW  

 
A verbal update was given on the work of the Domestic 
Recycling Task Group scrutiny review.   
 
The Task Group had met on a number of occasions and had 
considered information from Local Authorities which were high 
performing in respect of domestic recycling.  They had also 
looked at a study carried out by Southampton Council.  
Consideration had been given to the campaigns and projects 

Page 6



that had been carried out by other councils to promote recycling, 
the costs involved and information as to their effectiveness.  
Information had also been obtained from the Local Government 
Association and other organisations.  The Cabinet Member and 
officers had been asked to target strategies at specific rounds to 
better enable the effectiveness of these measures to be 
evaluated and ascertain whether they provided value for money.  
 
Members commented on the difficulties in using comparative 
data unless this was obtained from other unitary authorities.   
 
RESOLVED: That the update from the Domestic Recycling 

Task Group be noted. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the committee is kept updated 

on the progress of the review. 
 

32. WORK PLAN  
 
Consideration to the committee’s work plan. 
 
Referring to discussions that had taken place at previous 
meetings regarding the possibility of carrying out a scrutiny 
review into CCTV, Members were informed that the Interim 
Director of City and Environmental Services had instigated an 
officer review of CCTV following an issue that had arisen.  
Members expressed concern that, when considering whether to 
proceed with a review, they had been advised that it would not 
be appropriate to do so until the move had taken place to the 
new offices and yet subsequently an officer review had been 
instigated.   They requested that their concerns about this 
matter to be forwarded to the Director and that a senior officer 
attend the next meeting to provide an update on the review. 
 
RESOLVED: That the committee’s work plan be updated to 

include the following items on the agenda for 
the next meeting: 

• Report and information on surface water 
management and emergency planning 

• Update on CCTV review 
 
REASON: To ensure that the committee has a planned 

programme of work in place. 
 
Councillor Douglas, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.00 pm and finished at 7.05 pm]. 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 

   

 
Cabinet 4 December 2012 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Transport, Planning & 
Sustainability 

 

Surface Water Management Plan  

Summary 

1 The enquiry into the flooding experienced nationally in 2007 
resulted in the publication of the Pitt Review with a key 
recommendation for Lead Local Flood Authorities to prepare Local 
Surface Water Management Plans.  These would outline the 
preferred strategy for the management of surface water in given 
locations, to establish a long term action plan and to influence 
future strategy development for maintenance, investment, 
planning and engagement.  

 
2 The Surface Water Management Plan which covers the whole of 
the Council’s area has been prepared, and this report requests 
members to approve it.  

 
Background 

 
3 While there is robust response procedure for the known effects of 
York’s flooding from river sources, knowledge of the effects of 
local rainfall flooding is minimal, due mainly to the lack of any 
events that have caused major problems. The Preliminary Flood 
Risk Assessment (PFRA), approved by Cabinet on 6 September 
2011, addressed this at a high level, and the Surface Water 
Management Plan (SWMP) assesses local flood risk in more 
detail. The output from these documents, together with the 
Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA), will form key 
evidence in the preparation of the Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy (LFRMS) which Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFAs) are 
required to produce under section 9 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 (FWMA).    

 

Agenda Item 4Page 9



 

4 The SWMP study analysed a sample of the surface water floods 
which affected locations across York during intense rainfall in June 
2007. Using Environment Agency (EA) flood mapping data, area 
specific hydraulic modelling and site investigation the analysis has 
enabled conclusions to be drawn as to the cause of the flooding and 
solutions. The SWMP report is included as annex 1. 

5 The analysis has concluded that: 
 
• Drainage infrastructure is often unrecorded and, when found, 
frequently blocked with roots and silt, or sometimes damaged 
due to utility or other excavations. This has highlighted a lack 
of knowledge of the location and condition of surface water 
infrastructure and long term neglect in its maintenance often 
rendering it ineffective against even minor flood risk. 
Blockages of the pipe system serving gullies renders them 
ineffective, and cleaning gullies in isolation often does not 
address the cause of flooding problems. Therefore the 
performance of all of the elements of the highway drainage 
infrastructure needs to be confirmed and optimised.   

 
• Natural surface water flow paths have often been adversely 
affected by development. Increased areas of impermeable 
surfacing from development and road schemes have put 
pressure on drainage infrastructure, which is frequently in an 
unsatisfactory condition, all of which increases flood risk. 
While it may not be possible to remedy this it has highlighted 
the importance of managing future development effectively to 
minimise flood risk. 

6 The Council, as highway authority, is responsible for maintenance of 
road gullies on the adopted network. The piped infrastructure serving 
these can be owned by Yorkshire Water Services, as is often the 
case in built up areas, or CYC, particularly on more rural roads. 
These may discharge into culverts or watercourses that are privately 
owned or maintained by an Internal Drainage Board. In practice it has 
been found that there is frequently a combination of ownerships and 
consequent responsibilities, which is why partnership working will be 
key to addressing the issues involved. 

 
7 It is clear that data deficiencies and the lack of maintenance make 
local flood risk difficult to predict and manage. The effects of intense 
rainfall events, which are predicted to be more prevalent due to 

Page 10



 

climate change, increase this risk. It has also become clear from the 
investigations that flood risk has been increased by inappropriately 
designed development.  
 

8 Investigations carried out in other areas not included in the study have 
led to the same conclusions. This gives confidence that the study 
sample is representative of the citywide situation. Arising from these 
conclusions the SWMP provides an action plan for the management 
of future local surface water flood risk.   

 
SWMP Action Plan 

 
9 The study has identified two principal ways in which future surface 
water flood risk should be managed: 

 
• Maintenance of assets. 
• Control of development 
 

 Maintenance of Assets 
 
10 Specific investment on highway drainage investigations and repairs 
was triggered by the 2007 flood event, and has resulted in repairs 
and the acquisition of data covering approximately 10% - 15% of the 
Council’s area. On the basis of expenditure of £855k since 2008 and 
the progress that has been made, it is estimated that further funding 
of £5m will be required to investigate, record and bring up to a 
satisfactory standard the council’s drainage infrastructure. The 
SWMP also raises concerns that the current gully cleaning regime 
does not focus satisfactorily on the mitigation of flood risk. 
 

11 It is recognised that there are significant financial implications in the 
actions identified and it is recommended that a review of the 
management of the highway drainage service based on flood risk 
management principles is carried out which would be the subject of a 
further report in due course. 

  
Control of development 
 

12 Historically it has been normal for surface water from developments 
and highways to discharge unchecked into drainage systems, but this 
is no longer acceptable. The NPPF, SFRA and FWMA all require 
development to incorporate sustainable drainage (SUDS) to manage 

Page 11



 

not only the risk of flooding to the site itself, but also the surrounding 
area. The Flood Risk Management team takes a proactive role in 
development management to resolve drainage and flood risk design 
issues at application stage to avoid the need for conditions. Without 
considering flood risk and drainage as a fundamental element of the 
design, options to provide sustainable solutions at a late stage of the 
process are difficult or impossible to achieve.  
 

13 The planning approval process does not cover highway works which 
can have an adverse effect on flood risk if carried out incorrectly. 
There is a clear requirement in the FWMA for highway authorities to 
make a contribution towards the achievement of sustainable 
development and the Flood Risk Management team will work with 
highway engineers to ensure that there is compliance with this 
requirement. 
 

14 The Council will become a SUDS Approval Body (SAB) when the 
relevant part of the FWMA is enacted and guidance is issued. This 
will enable SUDS installations and their future management to be 
approved by the council to mitigate flood risk.  

 
Consultation  

15 Although guidance recommends the formation of a partnership and 
the involvement of stakeholders in the study it recognises that 
flexibility is required and that the way a partnership operates in 
practice will vary. In view of the council’s well established working 
relationships with other flood risk management authorities and the 
dispersed and relatively minor nature of the flooding investigated it 
was decided that informal ad hoc partnerships would be most 
effective. Also there has been no impetus on the part of any 
communities to form action groups or to act collectively and as a 
consequence there have been no interest groups to involve as 
stakeholders in the study, though there has been liaison with 
residents and councillors as investigations progressed. 

 
16 The EA, IDBs and YWS have all been consulted on the final report 
and have confirmed approval. Adjacent county authorities were 
consulted and both confirmed that they had not identified any cross 
boundary local surface water issues.  

 
17 A formal partnership will be formed in the preparation of the Council’s 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy with the EA, YWS, IDBs and 

Page 12



 

appropriate community involvement, and the findings of this study, 
the PFRA and the SFRA will be form a key role in progressing it. 

   
Options 

• There is one option, to implement the SWMP 

Analysis 
 

18 Implementation of the SWMP will demonstrate that the Council 
recognises the importance of flood risk management and its duties 
under the FWMA. Although it will not prevent flooding it will ensure 
that the performance of existing infrastructure is optimised to 
minimise its effects. It will also ensure that flood risk is managed 
effectively in future development.  

 
19 The consequence of not doing this is that flood risk will increase due 
to the continuing dilapidation of the drainage infrastructure, 
potentially aggravated by inappropriate development. Unpredictable 
and unbudgeted costs of reactive response to flood events will 
continue to be incurred and there could be compensation claims if 
the council is seen to have not responded to the findings of the 
SWMP. While the implementation of the action plan will not 
completely remove the risk of surface water flooding, the annual 
review of ongoing risk and priorities will identify where action should 
be taken to minimise it.  

 
Council Plan 
 

20 The SWMP is an assessment of local surface water flood risk with 
proposals for action. In conjunction with the SFRA, which will be used 
to guide development away from flood risk areas, it assists in the 
delivery of four of these priorities: 
 
Get York Moving – helps to protect critical infrastructure from 
flooding. 
 
Create jobs and grow the economy – managing the impact of 
flooding and guide development away from flood risk areas. 
 
Protect Vulnerable People – identifying flood risk areas and 
potential protection. 
 

Page 13



 

Protect the Environment – Ensure that development takes flood 
risk into account. 
 

Implications 

21 The following implications have been identified: 

• Financial The Surface Water Management Plan in itself has no 
financial implications but recognises the need to properly fund 
drainage issues within the council. Members will need to 
consider the issues raised within the plan as part of future 
budget rounds. Bids for ongoing capital drainage works are 
made through the Capital Resource Allocation Methodology 
process 

• Human Resources (HR) There are no HR implications 

• Equalities There are no equalities implications 

• Legal There is no specific legal requirement to prepare a 
Surface Water Management plan although there is such a duty 
to prepare a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The 
Council may incur liability if flooding arises as a result of 
inadequate maintenance of the drains for which it is responsible. 

• Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder 
implications 

• Information Technology (IT) There are no IT implications 

• Property There are no Property implications 

Risk Management 
 

22 Risk management is discussed in the analysis of the option. 
 

 Recommendations 

23 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
1. Approves the Surface Water Management Plan  
 
Reason: to ensure that the Council has an action plan for 
managing surface water flood risk, and to influence the 

Page 14



 

development of future strategies for maintenance, investment, 
planning and engagement.  
 

2. Approves a review of the Council’s highway drainage 
maintenance service based on the principles of flood risk 
management, and to ensure that it is suitably funded. This will 
be the subject of a further report in due course. 

 
Reason: To ensure that surface water drainage infrastructure 
operates effectively to reduce surface water flood risk in 
vulnerable areas. 
 

3. Ensures that the current resources in the Flood Risk 
Management team are maintained, subject to the budget 
process, to enable effective involvement in the development 
control and highway design procedures. 

 
Reason: To ensure that development does not increase flood 
risk.   
 

Contact Details 

Author: Cabinet Member and Chief Officer 
Responsible for the report: 

Michael Tavener 
Flood Risk Manager 
City and Environmental 
Services 
01904 553504 

Cllr D M Merrett 
Cabinet Member for Transport, Planning 
and Sustainability 
 
Richard Wood 
Assistant Director, Strategic Planning & 
Transport 
Report 
Approved 

t√ 
Date 22 November 2012 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
Patrick Looker – Finance 
Andrew Docherty - Legal 
Wards Affected:   All √ 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
Background Papers: 
Annexes 
Annex 1 – Surface Water Management Plan  

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 1 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Surface Water 
Management Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Contents 
 

 Executive summary 
 

1 

 Abbreviations 
 

7 

1 Introduction and Background Information 
 

8 

2 Preparation 
 

19 

3 Available Information 
 

30 

4 Level of Assessment and Modelling Approach 
 

34 

5 Analysis of Modelling and Site Investigations 
 

41 

6 Discussion of Analysis and Assessment of Risk 
 

79 

7 Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

87 

8 Action Plan for the Future management of Surface Water 
Risk 
 

91 

 
 
Appendices  -  pdf links 
 

107 

1 Hydraulic Modelling report June 2011 
 

 

2 City of York Council Traffic Asset 
Management Plan (TAMP)  September 
2006 

Section 10: Highway Drainage 

 Paragraph 1.3 Assets Included 
 

3 Well-maintained Highways: Code of 
Practice for Highway Maintenance 
Management (CoP) 

Section 9.11: Service inspection 
Of Highway Drainage Systems 
 

 Section 10.7: Condition Of 
Highway Drainage Systems 
 

 Section 14.4: Flooding From 
Inadequate Drainage 

Page 18



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 2 
 

 
4 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment  

SFRA)  
(rev 2011)  
 

Section 4: Approach to Flood 
Risk 

5 Gritting and Gully Cleaning Routes  

Page 19



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
  
Executive Summary 
 
Background information 
 
The enquiry into the wide scale flooding experienced in 2007 resulted in the 
publication of the Pitt Review. A key recommendation was for Lead Local 
Flood Authorities to prepare Local Surface Water Management Plans 
outlining the preferred strategy for the management of surface water in a 
given location(s), to establish a long term action plan and to influence future 
strategy development for maintenance, investment, planning and 
engagement. 
 
While York is well known for flooding from fluvial sources and has a robust 
response procedure, knowledge of the effects of pluvial flooding is minimal, 
due mainly to the lack of any events that have caused significant problems, in 
particular property flooding. The Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment 
addressed this at a high level and the Surface Water Management Plan 
assesses local flood risk in more detail. The output from this, together with 
the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, will be used as key evidence 
in the preparation of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy    
 
The study and findings 
 
A sample of areas where surface water flooding occurred in 2007 was 
modelled and investigated, enabling the cause(s) of the flooding to be 
identified and to propose potential solutions. At many locations it was found 
that the effects of flooding were greater than predicted by the model, either 
more frequent or more extensive and in some cases both. This is an 
indication of defective infrastructure limiting the capacity of the system, and 
this was confirmed by the investigations. The findings are considered to 
represent the citywide situation. 
 
The investigations have highlighted a lack of knowledge of the location of 
surface water infrastructure and long term neglect in its maintenance. The 
causes of blockage were usually found to be root infiltration, silt or damage 
due to utility or other excavations, and often a combination of all of these. 
 
The investigations also established that drainage infrastructure and natural 
flow paths have often been affected by development. While it may not be 
possible to remedy this it has highlighted the importance of managing flood 
risk correctly as part of the development control process.    
 

Page 20



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 2 
 

It is clear that the significant data deficiency and maintenance backlog make 
local flood risk difficult to predict and manage. The effects of intense rainfall 
events, which are predicted to be more prevalent due to climate change, 
increase this risk. Investment in highway drainage investigations over the 
past four years has resulted in repairs and the acquisition of data covering 
approximately 10% - 15% of the Council’s area. 
 
Blockages of the pipe system serving gullies renders them ineffective, and 
cleaning gullies in isolation often does not address the cause of flooding 
problems. Therefore the performance of all of the elements of the highway 
drainage infrastructure needs to be confirmed and optimised, and gully 
cleaning needs to be planned on the principles of flood risk management. 
 
The conclusions from the study are: 
 
• The location of much of the surface water infrastructure is unrecorded 
and its condition consequently unknown.  

 
• When it is located riparian owners are usually unaware of its presence or 
strategic importance, or of their responsibilities for its maintenance. 

 
• Drainage infrastructure is often inaccessible due to development. 
 
• Development has often paid little regard to the pre-existing natural flow 
paths and drainage infrastructure. For example former field drains and 
minor watercourses have frequently been filled during development, or 
inadequately piped in with no record of location or provision of any 
access points for maintenance. 

 
• Blockage of pipes, ditches and culverts in Council, YWS and private 
ownership is common 

 
• Pipes and culverts are commonly blocked with silt and roots. 
 
• Damage to pipes and culverts by the utility companies is common. 
 
• Maintenance of known infrastructure beyond the emptying of gullies is 
poor or non existent and when gullies are cleaned connections are not 
checked so re-blocking is common.  

 
• Funding for maintenance of highway infrastructure, in particular gully 
cleaning, has been reduced annually over successive years to a point 

Page 21



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 3 
 

where it is now mainly a reactive operation. Such routine gully emptying 
that is carried out is generally not in the areas that suffer surface water 
flooding.  

 
• Repairs to drainage systems and attempts at remedying flooding 
problems have often been badly executed and ill thought out with no 
regard to a holistic solution based on knowledge of the drainage of the 
area. Often these have not been effective, or have aggravated the 
problem. 

 
• Designs for road alterations often do not take into account effects on 
drainage infrastructure. These can physically affect the drainage of a site 
and ease and access for maintenance, and also increase impermeable 
areas and flood risk. While this would be important anywhere it is an 
essential consideration in such a flat area. If not considered as an 
integral part of the design it can cause or aggravate flooding. 

 
 
The recommendations from the study are:  

• A commitment is made to fund continuing investigations to locate 
unrecorded drainage infrastructure in those areas where information is 
unavailable, and to record it. 

 
• A commitment is made carry out repair work to damaged infrastructure 
already identified and remedial action taken to ensure that the 
performance of the existing surface water infrastructure is optimised. 

 
• Future maintenance is scheduled rather than reactive and based on the 
requirements of the service. 

 
• The effects of future rainfall events are monitored at known flood risk 
locations. 

 
• CYC liaise with YWS to agree ownership of previously unrecorded 
assets. 

 
• Riparian owners are made aware of their obligations with regard to 
maintenance of flows. 

 
• CYC liaise with the relevant utility companies to remove their 
equipment where it has damaged the drainage system. 

Page 22



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 4 
 

 
• Flood Risk Management should be an integral part of highway 
alteration and maintenance design. 

 
• The Transport Asset Management Plan should be reviewed and 
updated. 

 
• The Flood Risk Management Team continues to play a proactive role in 
the development control process to ensure that there is compliance 
with all relevant guidance. 

 
Action Plan 
 
Arising from the conclusions and recommendations the study has identified 
two principal ways in which future surface water flood risk can be effectively 
managed: 
 

• Maintenance of assets. 
• Control of development. 

 
1) Maintenance of assets:  
 
The deficiencies in the surface water infrastructure assets need to be 
addressed by appropriate investment to continue investigation work. This will 
enable the assets to be located and recorded, and to carry out cleaning and 
repairs as necessary. On the basis of the progress that has been made with 
the funding to date, it is estimated that a further £5m is required, calculated 
on a pro-rata basis, to complete the records and bring all of the assets up to 
a satisfactory standard. This will ensure that future flood risk is minimised. No 
capital schemes for improvements have been identified to date.  
 
This is clearly a substantial amount and it has been calculated assuming that 
future investigations will be as complex as those already carried out. This 
may not be the case but can only be confirmed as investigations progress. 
Therefore this estimated amount should be regarded as confirmation that 
ongoing funding is required to address flood risk and provide highway asset 
data. In practical terms the amount that can be effectively spent in any year is 
limited by the availability of appropriately skilled resources to direct and carry 
out the work, and this should be the determining factor in deciding funding 
levels, together with an ongoing assessment of risk.  
 
Taking the above into consideration it is recommended that:  

Page 23



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 5 
 

 
1. Annual funding of £200k is made available to continue investigations 
and record data. The hierarchy for investigations will be:  

 
a) areas of known flood risk. 

 
b) areas where there are gullies but no recorded infrastructure 

serving them. 
 
c) areas where there is a risk of back up of sewage from combined 

sewerage systems during surface water flood events. 
 

d) other areas. 
 
2. The Transport Asset Management Plan is reviewed and updated to 
reflect the improved asset information available from the 
investigations. 

 
3. Progress on investigations, repairs and data acquisition is reported 
annually to enable:  

 
a) requirements for future funding to be reviewed and revised as 

necessary. 
 
b) the effectiveness and efficiency of the maintenance regime to be 

reviewed and amended as necessary. 
 

c) residual flood risk to be assessed to determine whether specific 
funding is required to resolve more significant flooding problems. 

 
2) Control of development 
 
The study has identified numerous locations where flood risk has been 
aggravated by development and highway works. While historically it has 
been acceptable for surface water from developments and highways to 
discharge unchecked into drainage systems this is no longer acceptable. 
PPS25, the NPPF, CYC’s SFRA and the FWMA all require development to 
incorporate sustainable drainage to manage not only the risk of flooding to 
the site itself, but also the surrounding area.  
 
The SFRA provides detailed guidance to planning development managers to 
manage this risk. The Flood Risk Management team takes a very proactive 
role in development management striving to resolve drainage and flood risk 

Page 24



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 6 
 

design issues at application stage to avoid the need for conditions. Without 
considering flood risk and drainage as a fundamental element of the design, 
options to provide sustainable solutions at a late stage of the process are 
difficult or impossible to achieve. Close working with the Development 
Management Team is necessary to ensure applications are dealt with 
appropriately. 
  
The planning approval process does not cover highway works, which, if 
carried out incorrectly, can have an adverse effect on flood risk. There is a 
clear requirement in the F&WMA for highway authorities to make a 
contribution towards the achievement of sustainable development and the 
Flood Risk Management team will work with highway engineers to ensure 
that there is compliance with this requirement. 
 
Taking the above into consideration it is recommended that: 
 

1) Development in flood risk areas is only permitted strictly in 
accordance with the NPPF and SFRA. 

 
2) The Flood Risk Management team continues to take a proactive role 

in development management with the aims of minimising the number 
of approvals that are given with drainage conditions attached. 

 
3) Where drainage conditions are attached to approvals the Flood Risk 

Management team will ensure that they are realistic and achievable. 
 
4) The Council sets up procedures to become the SuDS Approval Body 

when the relevant part of the Act is enacted and guidance is issued. 
 
5) The Flood Risk Management team works with highway maintenance 

and design engineers to ensure that they fully understand the need 
for sustainable drainage in their work, and that suitable designs are 
implemented.  

Page 25



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
Abbreviations 
 
 
Acronym  Definition 
AStSWF Areas Susceptible to Surface Water Flooding 
CFMP Catchment Flood Management Plan 
CYC City of York Council 
Defra  Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
EA  Environment Agency 
EC  European Commission 
FCERM Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management  

 FMfSW  Flood Map for Surface Water 
FWMA  Flood & Water Management Act 2010 
GIS Geographical Information System 
IDB    Internal Drainage Board 
IUD  Integrated Urban Drainage 
LDF  Local Development Framework 
LLFA  Lead Local Flood Authority 
LPA  Local Planning Authority 
LRF  Local Resilience Forum 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
PPS25  Planning and Policy Statement 25: Development and 
PFRA  Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment 
RBD  River Basin District 
SAB SUDS Approving Body 
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
SUDS Sustainable Drainage Systems 
SWMP Surface Water Management Plan 
YWS Yorkshire Water Services 
 

Page 26



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
1.1  The enquiry into the wide scale flooding experienced in 2007 at 

various locations across the country resulted in the publication of the 
Pitt Review. This contained a large number of recommendations for 
Government to consider and the key recommendation with respect to 
surface water management is Recommendation 18: 

 
 Recommendation 18: “Local Surface Water Management Plans, as 

set out in PPS25, and coordinated by Local Authorities, should 
provide the basis for managing all Flood Risk”  

 
 Surface Water Management Plans (SWMPs) are referred to in 

Planning Policy Statement 25 (PPS25) as a tool to manage surface 
water flood risk on a local basis by improving and optimising 
coordination between relevant stakeholders. SWMPs will build on 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessments (SFRAs) and provide the vehicle 
for local organisations to develop a shared understanding of local 
flood risk, including setting out priorities for action, maintenance needs 
and links into local development frameworks and emergency plans.  

 
1.2  A SWMP outlines the preferred strategy for the management of 

surface water in a given location(s) and the associated study is carried 
out in consultation with local partners having responsibility for surface 
water management and drainage in that area. The goal of a SWMP is 
to establish a long term action plan and to influence future strategy 
development for maintenance, investment, planning and engagement. 

 
1.3  Defra guidance on the production of SWMPs was published in March 

2010 informed by the Integrated Urban Drainage (IUD) Pilot Studies 
carried out under the Government‘s Making Space for Water strategy, 
between 2007 and 2009. The stages for producing a SWMP are: 

  
• Preparation;  

• Risk Assessment;  

• Options; and  

• Implementation and Review.  
 
1.4  The City of York SWMP was made possible by the availability of 

funding through the Surface Water Early Actions Grant Scheme in 

Page 27



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 9 
 

March 2010. The submission for funding highlighted the central area 
within the outer ring road as follows: 

 
Within this area there are 2800 properties at risk of flooding. Many 
of these are protected from river flooding by flood defence 
structures which were constructed in the 1980/90s to withstand a 1 
in 100 year event. The flooding in 2000 was within 50mm of 
overtopping those defences and subsequently it was assessed to 
be a 1 in 80 year event. Clearly the advent of climate change has 
modified the perceived protection of the defences. The study will 
also look at the pluvial issues developing in the catchment”. 

 
1.5  This funding was made available prior to the commencement of the 

Flood and Water Management Act and predated the availability of the 
supporting information which was issued to facilitate the compilation of 
the Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA). However the 
information provided for the PFRA has been of use in this study.  

 
1.6  York is well known for flooding from fluvial sources. This is well 

documented with a well rehearsed response. Monitoring of upstream 
rivers enables accurate warnings to be issued, events are predictable 
and rises in river level are usually slow, always affecting the same 
areas. However, knowledge of the effects of pluvial flooding is 
minimal, due mainly to the lack of any events that have caused 
problems which could be considered significant in terms of major 
impact on a particular area. Knowledge of such events is frequently 
dependent on reporting by the public, and it has been found that 
differing thresholds of tolerance and concerns regarding effects on 
property value and insurability may result in events going unreported 
to the Council.   

 
1.7  Consideration of this background information and the SWMP 

Technical Guidance, published by Defra in March 2010, led to the 
decision that the study should focus purely on local sources of 
flooding to build up a clearer understanding of the risk specifically from 
those sources. In making this decision, consideration was given to the 
potential link between fluvial and pluvial flooding using the emerging 
information from Environment Agency surface water modelling and 
records of surface water flooding from one event in 2007. These 
sources of information confirmed that surface water flooding was 
independent of fluvial flooding and was likely to occur in relatively 
small isolated areas dispersed throughout the Council’s area. The 

Page 28



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 10 
 

mapping also suggested that there is often no obvious connection 
between the flooded areas.  

 
1.8  Taking this into account the study area for the SWMP has been 

extended from that defined in the funding bid to include the whole of 
the area defined by the administrative boundary of City of York 
Council. It studies a sample of those areas where surface water 
flooding was recorded in 2007 and identifies the causes and potential 
solutions. It discusses whether the conclusions from the study are 
representative of the citywide situation and gives recommendations for 
future action.  

Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment 
 
1.9  The Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA) is a high level 

screening exercise to identify areas of most significant flood risk 
across Europe. The chief drivers behind its preparation are two sets of 
legislation: the Flood Risk Regulations (The Regulations), which came 
into force on the 10th December 2009, and the Flood & Water 
Management Act (FWMA) which gained Royal Assent on the 8th April 
2010. Under this legislation, all Unitary Authorities, and in two-tier 
systems, all County Councils, are designated a Local Lead Flood 
Authority (LLFA) and have been allocated a number of key 
responsibilities with respect to local flood risk management, one of 
which is to prepare a PFRA. The aim of this PFRA is to provide an 
assessment of local flood risk across the study area, including 
information on past floods and the potential consequences of future 
floods. 

 
1.10  The Council’s PFRA has been completed and was approved by its 

Cabinet on 6 September 2011 and is available on the Council’s 
website.  This will be used to inform the preparation of the SWMP. 
The following is the executive summary: 

 
Under the EC Floods Directive, which has been transposed into UK 
law through the Flood Risk Regulations (2009), City of York Council 
is required to undertake a Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment 
(PFRA) to assess the harmful consequences of past and potential 
future flooding, and to identify areas of significant flood risk (‘flood 
risk areas’). 

 

Page 29



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 11 
 

City of York Council is a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) as 
defined in the regulations, and has responsibility for preparing the 
deliverables of the Flood Risk Regulations for ‘local flood risk’ 
(flooding from surface runoff, ordinary watercourses and 
groundwater). The Environment Agency has responsibility for 
preparing the deliverables of the Flood Risk Regulations for flooding 
from Main Rivers and the Sea. 
 
The PFRA process is aimed at providing a high level overview of 
flood risk from local flood sources, including surface water, 
groundwater, ordinary watercourses and canals. As a LLFA, City of 
York Council must submit their PFRA to the Environment Agency 
for review by 22nd June 2011. The methodology for producing this 
PFRA has been based on the Environment Agency’s Final PFRA 
Guidance and Defra’s Guidance on selecting Flood Risk Areas, 
both published in March 2011. 
 
The first stage of the PFRA is to assess past floods that have had 
significant harmful consequences for human health, economic 
activity or the environment, or could have harmful consequences if 
they were to occur now. Little information on past flooding was 
available but that relating to one event in 2007, caused by flooding 
from local sources, was collected and analysed. This provided 
limited information but based on the evidence that was collected; no 
past flood events were considered to have had ‘significant harmful 
consequences’. 
 

The PFRA has also considered the potential risk of future flooding. 
This has been based on hydraulic modelling which predicts the 
potential impact of flooding on people, property and the 
environment. The best available information on potential future 
floods is the national Surface Water maps produced by the 
Environment Agency. This has been used to inform an assessment 
of the numbers and types of properties in York that are vulnerable to 
surface water flooding during an extreme rainfall event. The events 
modelled are in excess of any experienced or recorded in York to 
date.  
 
The final stage of the PFRA process is the identification of ‘Flood 
Risk Areas”. Indicative Flood Risk Areas’ have been calculated by 
the Environment Agency using a threshold defined nationally by 
ministers at the Department for food and rural affairs (Defra). An 
indicative ‘Flood Risk Area’ has been identified where clusters of at 

Page 30



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 12 
 

least 30,000 people have been identified as being at risk of flooding 
from local sources.  

 
Of the ten indicative ‘Flood Risk Areas’ that have been identified 
nationally by the Environment Agency and Defra, none are located 
in York and City of York is not proposing to add a new ‘Flood Risk 
Area’ for the purposes of the PFRA. 
 

1.11  Figure 1.1 shows the areas identified by the EA in their indicative 
mapping as being at theoretical risk of surface water flooding. Six of 
these 1km2 areas fall within the CYC authority boundary. Four are in 
the City centre, one around the A59 north of Acomb, and one west of 
New Earswick. None of these produced clusters which would affect 
30,000 people. One, the 1km2 to the west of the centre encompasses 
an area that has recorded surface water flooding but the other 
squares do not. 

 

 
Figure 1.1: Flood Risk Locations identified by the EA 

Page 31



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 13 
 

General Description of the York Area  
 

Administrative Background 
 

1.12  The study area for this SWMP is defined by the administrative 
boundary of City of York Council, located in the Vale of York in North 
Yorkshire, rather than that defined in the funding bid. The 
geographical extent of this area is shown in figure 1.2. 

 
1.13  City of York Council Unitary Authority covers an area of approximately 

275 km2 and was formed in April 1996. It comprises the former York 
City Council area extended to include a rural belt with many villages of 
various sizes which were formerly within the Ryedale, Selby and 
Harrogate District Council areas. It is bordered by North Yorkshire 
County Council on its northern, western and southern boundaries and 
by East Riding of Yorkshire Council on its eastern boundary, which is 
formed by the river Derwent. The study area has no coastline. The 
geographical context of the authority area is shown in figure 1.3. 

 

 
 

Figure 1.2 – Geographical Extent of City of York Unitary 
Authority 

 

Page 32



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 14 
 

 
 
Figure 1.3 – Geographical Context of City of York Unitary Authority 

 
The River Network 

 
1.14  York is located at the confluence of the River Ouse and the River Foss 

with the River Derwent forming its eastern boundary with East Riding 
of Yorkshire Council. These rivers drain three catchments, the 
Yorkshire Dales, Howardian Hills and North York Moors respectively. 
The Ouse and Derwent are classified as Main Rivers, under the 
management of the Environment Agency, for their entire length though 
the area. The Foss is Main River for a distance of  3.3 km upstream of 
its confluence with the Ouse and beyond that point is an ordinary 
watercourse, the responsibility of the Foss (2008) IDB. 

 
1.15  The three Main Rivers all run generally in a southwards direction, fed 

by a number of various sized tributaries. The river network is shown 
on Figure 1.4. 
 

Page 33



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 15 
 

 
 
Figure 1.4 – Detailed River Network 

 
1.16  In 2006 ordinary watercourses with potential to cause property 

flooding were also designated Main River and transferred to the EA’s 
management. As a result the lower reaches of Blue Beck, Burdyke 
and Holgate Beck, all tributaries of the Ouse, and Tang Hall Beck and 
Osbaldwick Beck, tributaries of the Foss, are now the responsibility of 
the EA. Upstream lengths of these watercourses and their tributaries 
are designated ordinary watercourses and are the responsibility of the 
Council or appropriate IDB.  

 
1.17  A summary of the rivers and watercourses, and responsibilities for 

them are as follows: 
 

River Ouse - the largest river drains the Yorkshire Dales catchment 
and is formed from the Swale, Ure and Nidd upstream of York. The 
river downstream of Naburn weir is tidal and the Wharfe joins the 
Ouse at Kelfield just south of the York boundary. The Ouse has the 
following main tributaries within the York boundary: - 

Page 34



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 16 
 

 
• Blue Beck, draining residential and commercial development in 
Rawcliffe and Clifton Moor northwest of the city, the responsibility 
of riparian owners to Rawcliffe Lake. The lake is the responsibility 
of YWS and its level is controlled by them. Downstream of this, to 
the Ouse, Blue Beck is Main River. 

• Burdyke, draining residential and commercial development in 
Clifton north of the city, to the south of Bootham Stray, the 
responsibility of Kyle and Upper Ouse IDB. Downstream of this 
point to the Ouse is Main River, including Burdyke pumping 
station. 

• Holgate Beck, draining residential development in Woodthorpe, 
Acomb and Holgate west of the city to the north of Hob Moor, the 
responsibility of Ainsty (2008) IDB.  Downstream of this point to 
the Ouse is Main River, including Holgate Beck pumping station.  

• Germany Beck, draining residential development in parts of 
Heslington and Fulford including the existing and new university 
campuses, along with agricultural land east of the city to the River 
Ouse south of Fulford. The entire length is the responsibility of 
Ouse and Derwent IDB. 

 
River Foss - the third largest river has the following main 
tributaries within the York boundary: - 

 
• Westfield Beck, draining areas of residential development in 
Haxby, Wigginton and New Earswick north of the city to join the 
Foss south of New Earswick. This is the responsibility of Foss 
(2008) IDB. Westfield Beck pumping station, owned by YWS, 
diverts excess flows from the Haxby and Wigginton catchments to 
the river Foss to protect the downstream village of New Earswick 
from flooding. 

• South Beck, draining Monk’s Cross Retail Park and residential 
development in Huntington north east of the city. The upstream of 
length is the responsibility of Foss (2008) IDB and final 350m to 
the Foss is the responsibility of CYC. 

• Tang Hall Beck, draining residential development in Tang Hall 
and agricultural land in the upper catchment around Stockton on 
Forest north east of the city, the responsibility of Foss (2008) IDB 
to the outskirts of Heworth. Downstream is Main River. 

Page 35



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 17 
 

• Osbaldwick Beck, draining residential development in Osbaldwick 
and agricultural land in the upper catchment around Holtby and 
Murton east of the city, the responsibility of Foss (2008) IDB to 
the outskirts of Tang Hall. Downstream is Main River. 

River Derwent - the second largest river with the following main 
tributaries draining into the river within the York area: - 

 
• Elvington Beck, draining residential development and agricultural 
land to the west of the village of Elvington, including part of the 
former airfield which is now in commercial and leisure use. The 
entire length is the responsibility of Ouse and Derwent IDB 
including the pumping station at the confluence of the beck and 
the River Derwent. 

 
Broad Physical Characteristics of the City of York area 

 
1.18  York and its surrounding areas have a diverse character consisting of 

urban, industrial and agricultural land-uses. The Vale of York consists 
mainly of valuable agricultural land, with the urban and residential 
areas centered on the two largest settlements of York and Selby. 

Topography: The Vale of York is a low-lying mainly flat landscape, 
though minor ridges and glacial moraines provide subtle local 
variations in topography. The area lies between the Pennines to the 
west and the North York Moors and the Wolds to the east. South of 
York, much of the land is less than 20m above sea level. 
 
Geology: British Geological Survey maps show the bedrock in the 
area to consist of the Sherwood Sandstone group, thick soft 
sandstone of Triassic age that forms the centre of the Vale of York. 
The superficial deposits, which overlay the sandstone, consist 
predominantly of sands and gravels, with some clay and till. Bands of 
alluvium deposits can be seen to intersect the City of York along the 
path of the River Ouse and River Foss. 
 
Soils: Soil types are often a reflection of the underlying solid geology 
and similarly land use is often associated with the soil. The river 
valleys are dominated by soils formed from glacial till, sands and 
gravels that are generally fertile and suitable for agriculture. A band of 
groundwater clay soils, which are seasonally waterlogged and 
affected by shallow fluctuating groundwater table, extends south 
easterly from Thirsk, around York to Selby. 

 

Page 36



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 18 
 

Hydrogeology: The hydrogeology of an area is directly influenced by 
the characteristics of the local drift and solid geology. Different rock 
types may either hold or transmit water or may act as a barrier to 
groundwater flow. Aquifers are important for several reasons; they act 
as a source of good quality water for water supply and provide base 
flow to rivers. The underlying bedrock for the whole flood risk area is 
Sherwood Sandstone, a formation always classified as a Major 
Aquifer. The drift deposits overlying the Sherwood Sandstone are 
classified as a Minor Aquifer, where the drift is relatively permeable, 
and a Non-Aquifer, where the drift deposits are fairly thick and have 
low permeability. 

Page 37



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
2 PREPARATION 
 
Guidance 
 
2.1  The guidance for preparing SWMPs is provided by Defra in their 

Surface Water Management Plan Technical Guidance and Annexes 
published in March 2010. The introduction to this document provides 
background information on the use of the guidance and its 
appropriateness, and in particular paragraphs i.6 and i.7 and i.9 are 
relevant to this study: 

 
i.6 It is recognised that SWMP studies will vary to meet local needs 
and circumstances and the guidance offers a flexible approach that 
will allow lead local flood authorities to undertake a SWMP study 
which is tailored to their needs and requirements.  
 
i.7 This guidance is primarily intended to be used for the 
development of SWMPs in areas of high flood risk with complex 
integrated drainage arrangements. The principles contained within 
this guidance may also be usefully applied to less complex or lower 
risk areas although the approach and level of analysis should be 
proportionate to the risk and complexity of the area concerned. 
 
i.9 The guidance is not prescriptive, but it provides a clear and 
logical framework which should be adopted to undertake a SWMP 
study and to produce an action plan. Technical detail in the main 
body of the guidance is kept to a minimum and further technical 
information is signposted throughout the guidance and in annexes. 
The guidance draws on good practice from the IUD pilot studies and 
the first edition SWMPs. 

 
2.2  SWMPs carried out to date by other authorities have usually been 

triggered by significant flooding and have therefore tended to 
concentrate on specific problem areas known to suffer frequent 
flooding with significant consequences. By targeting resources in such 
a way, solutions can be developed with significant benefits specific to 
the affected areas. 

 
2.3  The local definition of significant flooding, as opposed to that in the 

PFRA, will be the subject of debate in the preparation of the Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy. These will also serve as a trigger 
for the initiation of section 19 investigations into flood incidents under 

Page 38



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 20 
 

the FWMA. It is likely that criteria considered for inclusion will 
include:– 

 
• The internal flooding of one or more residential or business 
properties. 

 
• A risk to life as a result of the depth and/or velocity of floodwater. 
 
• A risk of contamination from sewage back up or flooding arising 
from the overloading of combined sewerage systems by surface 
water.  

 
 
 
• Critical infrastructure (e.g. emergency services buildings, utility 
company infrastructure, schools, day centres, hospitals and main 
transport routes) suffering flooding or obstruction, or were in 
imminent danger of flooding. 

 
• The imminent danger of flooding of five or more properties 
 

2.4  On the basis of these draft criteria, while there has been recorded 
flooding in some areas which would trigger investigations, it has not 
been on the scale for which the guidance is primarily intended. 
Therefore this SWMP has had to take a different approach which of 
necessity has required departures from the guidance.  

 
Information 
 
2.5  Two sources of information have been used to determine the scope 

and focus of this study: 
 

1. The Council has records of surface water flooding at various 
locations across its area, mainly resulting from rainfall in 2007. At 
some locations the consequences would have merited a S19 
investigation. The most comprehensive records relate to the 
consequences of intense rainfall in June 2007 when areas in Haxby, 
Wigginton, Rufforth, Strensall, Clifton, Rawcliffe, Acomb and 
Holgate were affected by very localised rainfall events ranging from 
1 in 7 to 1 in 100 year return period. These records show that 138 
locations reported flood related problems, of which 7 were believed 
to be habitable properties suffering from internal flooding. The 

Page 39



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 21 
 

flooding mostly affected roads where the rainfall exceeded the 
drainage infrastructure design capacity of 1 in 30 years. These 
flooding records correlated well with those of Yorkshire Water 
Services, with whom there was considerable liaison and sharing of 
information after the event during investigations. There are no other 
records available from other sources. 

 
2. The Environment Agency has produced 2 sets of modelled surface 
water flood risk maps, “Areas Subject to Surface Water Flooding” 
(AStSWF) and “Flood Maps for Surface Water Flooding” (FMfSW). 
Both have been looked at in some detail during both the PFRA 
process and this study and the FMfSW is considered to be the most 
realistic representation of the situation for the York area in the 
absence of observed data. The FMfSW estimated that 13,200 
properties would be affected by a 1:200 AEP event, 11,500 to a 
depth of 0.1m and 1,700 to a depth of 0.3m. However, neither this 
modelling, nor the observed flooding in 2007 (see below) shows any 
large areas affected by flooding, but shows small areas affected at 
discrete locations across the City. Due to the type of very localised 
rainfall that causes such events and the dispersal of the affected 
areas throughout the City it is most unlikely that such a number of 
properties would all be affected at the same time. Additionally, 
although many areas are shown to be susceptible to surface water 
flooding, most have no record of actual flooding although it may 
have happened and not been reported. 

 
2.6  A further source of local flooding can be from groundwater. Modelled 

information on this is provided by the EA is their “Areas Susceptible to 
Groundwater Flooding” (AStGWF) map. Groundwater flooding occurs 
as a result of water rising up from the underlying aquifer or from water 
flowing from abnormal springs. This tends to occur after long periods 
of sustained high rainfall, and the areas at most risk are often low-
lying where the water table is more likely to be at shallow depth.  

 
2.7  Groundwater flooding is known to occur in areas underlain by major 

aquifers, although increasingly it is also being associated with more 
localised floodplain sands and gravels. The British Geological Survey 
maps show the bedrock in the area to consist of the Sherwood 
Sandstone group, a thick soft sandstone of Triassic age that forms the 
centre of the Vale of York. This is always classified as a Major Aquifer. 
Superficial deposits overlaying the sandstone consist predominantly of 
sands and gravels, with some clay and till. Bands of alluvium deposits 

Page 40



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 22 
 

intersect the City of York along the path of the River Ouse and River 
Foss. The drift deposits overlying the Sherwood Sandstone are 
classified as a Minor Aquifer, where the drift is relatively permeable, 
and a Non-Aquifer, where the drift deposits are fairly thick and have 
low permeability.  

 
2.8  Although the AStGWF map suggests a potential for groundwater 

flooding, the Council has no record of areas where groundwater 
emergence is known to be a cause of significant flooding. It has not 
therefore been considered in this study and was also ruled out as a 
potential cause of flooding in the PFRA. 

 
2.9  The surface water drainage of many areas of York is poor due to the 

presence of clay. Flooding problems caused by this are often 
mistakenly referred to as groundwater flooding, whereas it is caused 
by the inability of water to drain downwards, not the effect of water 
rising from the ground.  

 
2.10  Consideration of the available information has therefore led to the 

conclusion that York does not have any large areas susceptible to 
frequent surface water flooding with significant consequences. The 
main effect of recorded intense rainfall events, supported by evidence 
from the FMfSW, is occasional flooding, sometimes of significance as 
defined by the draft criteria, of isolated properties but more often flash 
flooding of roads at various locations dispersed across the area. By its 
nature this type of rainfall is localised and tends to affect different 
areas in each event. The study therefore examines the areas of 
recorded flooding in 2007 in conjunction with the FMfSW mapping. 

 
Catchment Flood Management Plans 
 
2.11  Catchment Flood Management Plans, prepared by the EA, provide an 

overview of all types of inland flood risk in each river catchment with 
recommendations for risk management now and over the next 50 – 
100 years. Two CFMPs are relevant to the York area, covering the 
Ouse and Derwent. 

 
 
 
 
River Ouse Catchment Flood Management Plan 

Page 41



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 23 
 

 
2.12  There are 2 policy units in the CFMP covering areas within the York 

boundary, 7.1.25 the North York and City Centre, and 7.1.26 South of 
York. These contain short, medium and long term actions for flood risk 
management within those areas. Those relevant to surface water 
management are the same for both Policy Units and listed in Table 2.1 

 
SHORT TERM ACTIONS: Before the next review of the CFMP (1-5 
years) 
Action Outcome 
 
Work in partnership with the 
LLFA to reduce the risk of 
flooding from surface water. 
Carry out detailed studies in 
areas identified as at 
‘significant risk’ in the 
preliminary flood risk 
assessment. This should 
include investigation of areas 
known to be susceptible to 
surface water flooding in the 
North York and City Centre 
policy unit. 

 
Working in partnership to reduce surface 
water flood risk within the policy unit a long 
term prioritised plan of action will be 
developed to reduce the risk of flooding 
from this source. Further detailed 
understanding of the risk this source of 
flooding poses will ensure that future 
strategic flood risk management plans and 
development documents take the risk of 
surface water into account. 
 

MEDIUM TERM ACTIONS: 1-20 years 
Action Outcome 
 
Promote the use of SuDS for 
the management of run-off, as 
per the recommendations of 
PPS25. This should be done 
by:  
 
§ incorporating policies within 

the LDDs; 
§ encouraging developers to 
utilise SuDS wherever 
practicable in the design of 
development, if necessary 
through the use of 
appropriate planning 
conditions or by planning 

 
By embedding the requirements for SuDs 
within regional and local policy we will be 
able to work together to influence the 
implementation of local drainage schemes 
to effectively manage surface water within 
all new developments. As part of this it is 
vital that we understand and plan for the 
long term management of such assets to 
ensure their operation and management is 
sustainable. 
 

Page 42



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 24 
 

agreements; 
§ developing WCS to further 
encourage the use of 
SuDS as an aid to 
mitigating the rate and 
volume of surface water 
flows; 

§ promoting the use of SuDS 
to achieve wider benefits 
such as sustainable 
development, water quality, 
biodiversity and local 
amenity. 

 
The commencement of 
schedule 3 of the Flood and 
Water Act 2010 will require 
sustainable drainage to be 
considered in all new 
development. 
 
LONG TERM ACTIONS: 20-100 years 
Action Outcome 
None None 

 
Table 2.1 River Ouse Catchment Flood Management Plan – 
Surface Water Management Actions 

 
River Derwent Catchment Flood Management Plan 

 
2.13  There are no actions relating to surface water management for the 

Council’s area in the River Derwent CFMP. 

Partnership 
 

Page 43



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 25 
 

2.14  The Council is a member of the North Yorkshire Flood Risk 
Partnership, comprising CYC and NYCC elected members and 
officers, YWS, EA, IDB and the RFCC. This meets quarterly to provide 
a forum for statutory flood risk authorities to: 

• support a joint strategic understanding and mitigation of flood risk in 
the sub region; and 

• ensure that partners collaborate in the development of LLFA based 
local flood risk strategies and other necessary tasks required by 
current legislation. 

 
2.15  It is well known that York suffers frequent flooding from the rivers 

Ouse and Foss, and to a lesser extent from the Derwent. The effects 
are well recorded, predictable and subject to a well rehearsed 
response plan. Because of this there is a longstanding relationship 
between the various partners involved, and both the River Flood 
Emergency Plan and Multi Agency Plan are reviewed annually. Due to 
the increasing frequency of non river flooding, these reviews include 
discussions of the effects of surface water flooding and response. In 
addition to the various Directorates within the Council and the 
emergency services, the participants are: 

 
The Environment Agency  

The Council has had a good working relationship with the 
Environment Agency since its inception in 1996, and with its 
predecessors before that. Its drainage engineers have always 
worked closely with the Agency’s officers in all aspects of flood 
risk management, particularly in managing the frequent fluvial 
flood events that affect York and also in liaison over planning 
issues.  
 
Yorkshire Water Services Ltd 
 
Until 1998 the Council was sewerage agent for YWS and 
engineers familiar with the network are still employed by the 
Council in the Flood Risk Management team. Since the loss of 
the agency they have continued to liaise with YWS in 
investigating drainage problems and this relationship has been 
strengthened by the signing of an information sharing protocol 
following the enactment of the Flood and Water Management Act 
2010.  
 

Page 44



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 26 
 

Internal Drainage Boards 
 
There are four Internal Drainage Boards around York to which the 
Council pays a special levy and may nominate members. Since 
1998 one of these nominees has been a Council drainage 
engineer and as a result the Council’s Flood Risk Management 
team enjoys a good working relationship with all of the Boards. 
Within their Districts the IDBs are responsible for managing flood 
risk from ordinary watercourses. The Board districts, where they 
overlap the City, are shown in Figure 2.1. It should be noted that 
all Boards are responsible for considerable areas beyond the City 
boundary, though in each case the largest urbanised area is York. 

 
2.16  Although the IDBs manage watercourses within their areas, CYC is 

the LLFA and therefore has overall responsibility for managing flood 
risk within its area. 

 

 
 

Figure 2.1 – IDB Districts  
 

2.17  With reference to the Defra guidance a partnership should be formed 
of partners and stakeholders to progress the SWMP. Paragraph 2.2 
states that “Due to the variable nature of organisations involved in a 

Page 45



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 27 
 

SWMP study, the guidance is not prescriptive about how the 
partnerships should be established, nor the specific roles and 
responsibilities of each partner. It is recognised that flexibility is 
required, and that the way a partnership operates in practice will vary.”  

 
2.18  This was taken into consideration in this SWMP study. Recorded and 

predicted surface water flooding is of a localised small scale, 
dispersed and infrequent. There has been no impetus on the part of 
any communities to form action groups or to act collectively and as a 
consequence there have been no interest groups to involve as 
stakeholders in the study. 

 
2.19  Because of the nature of the flooding to be investigated in this study 

the Council considered that there was no overall strategic driver which 
would require a formal partnership as all interested parties are in 
regular dialogue regarding flooding issues as required. In investigating 
specific problem areas prior to and during this study, Council 
engineers have liaised as necessary with the EA, IDB and YWS in 
conjunction with local ward members, parish councils and residents. 
This partnership working on a local and ad hoc basis has proved very 
effective in identifying the causes of flooding problems, potential 
solutions and responsibilities for their implementation.  

 
2.20  Cross boundary surface water drainage issues with neighbouring 

authorities were considered. The principal neighbouring authority is 
North Yorkshire County Council and its boundary with York extends 
from near Stamford Bridge on the River Derwent, around the north, 
west and south sides of York, to Wheldrake, again on the River 
Derwent. The boundary is completed by the River Derwent itself 
between Stamford Bridge and Wheldrake, on the other side of which 
is East Riding of Yorkshire County Council. Consultation with both 
Councils has confirmed that there are no cross boundary surface 
water drainage issues.  

 
2.21  In the circumstances of this particular study it is not felt that a more 

formalised approach would have reached different conclusions or 
produced a different action plan. However, the issue of a more formal 
partnership will be addressed in the preparation of the Council’s Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy and the findings of this study will be 
form a key role in progressing it. 

 

Page 46



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 28 
 

Scope of study 
 
2.22  With no areas recorded to have suffered large scale, frequent or 

persistent surface water flooding, and none that are predicted from the 
FMfSW or recorded in the PFRA, the SWMP study has concentrated 
on investigating a sample number of the areas which suffered surface 
water flooding in 2007. While the investigations were centred on the 
flooded areas they have in many cases extended beyond to establish 
the underlying cause. 

 
2.23  The study comprises: 

 
• Modelling of a sample of areas recorded to have flooded in 2007 to 
provide an understanding of the cause of the flooding and also a 
check on the accuracy of the FMfSW mapping. 

 
• On site investigation centred on some of these areas, following 
consideration of the modelling, and either resolution as part of the 
investigation or to confirm an understanding of the cause for further 
action later. 

 
2.24  Considering the flood risk situation in the Council’s area the objectives 

of the study are: 

 
1) A clear understanding of the causes of flooding at each location 

investigated. 
 
2) A record of the infrastructure serving the location and its condition 

and ownership. 
 
3) A validation of the EA Flood Map for Surface Water.  
 
4) Recommendations for future maintenance to prevent a repetition 

of the problem. 
 
5) An understanding of how representative the findings are of the 

situation citywide.  
 
6) Recommendations for further investigation. 
 
7) Recommendations for further work. 

Page 47



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 29 
 

 
8) Advice and information to local authority planners. 
 

2.25  This SWMP study may influence by or be influenced by other Flood 
Risk Management Authority local or regional delivery plans. Examples 
are the Environment Agency Catchment Flood Management Plans 
(CFMPs) which explain the policy for the management of flood risk 
from main rivers and may influence the development of a SWMP if 
there are areas where these interact with surface water. Figure 2.2 
shows the potential inter-relationship between the multitude of plans 
which may exist, be in preparation, or be required in the future. 

 

 
 
Figure 2.2 - Links between SWMP and other plans 

Page 48



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
3  AVAILABLE INFORMATION 

 
3.1  Records of surface water drainage infrastructure in the Council’s area 

are patchy. It is known that many watercourses have been culverted 
during development but their locations are poorly recorded, if at all. 
This is also the case for highway drainage in non sewered areas. Very 
little information was inherited from the predecessor authorities and 
there were also significant gaps in the former York City drainage 
records. The location of most of the highway gullies is recorded on the 
EXOR Highway Management System as surface features but there is 
no record of the drainage system serving them or details of 
connectivity. The YWS statutory sewer records provide some 
guidance where public sewers may serve the gullies but there is no 
information in many areas of the City regarding the location of any 
highway drainage network, though it is clear from the presence of 
gullies that there must be some. This shortage of information 
throughout the Council’s area has long been a concern as it makes 
resolution of flooding problems difficult and effective maintenance 
impossible. 

 
3.2  A citywide desk study of the location of gullies, available highway 

drainage network records and YWS records has shown that an 
estimated 5% of the gullies have no obvious network serving them. 
While this figure may not appear to be very high a significant number 
of these missing records affect major arterial roads into and around 
the City. The most major of these are: 

 
• A19, boundary to A19/A1237 roundabout 
• A1237, entire length from Askham Bryan to Hopgrove 
• B1363 Wigginton Road, boundary to hospital 
• Haxby road between Haxby and New Earswick 
• Strensall Road, A1237 to Strensall 
• Strensall, York Road 
• Stockton Lane from Heworth Without to Stockton on Forest 
• A1036 Heworth to Hopgrove 
• A1079 Hull Road, Windmill lane to boundary 
• A166 Stamford Bridge Road, outer ring road to Gate Helmsley 
• B1228 Elvington Lane, Hull Road to Elvington 
• A19 Selby Road, south of Fulford to boundary 
• B1222 Naburn Lane, A19 to designer outlet 
• Bishopthorpe Road, racecourse to Bishopthorpe 

Page 49



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 31 
 

• Sim Balk Lane, complete length 
• A1036, Sim Balk Lane to Tadcaster Road, Copmanthorpe 
• Askham Lane, Woodthorpe to A 1237 
•  B1224 Acomb to Rufforth  
• A59 Poppleton to Boundary 

 
3.3  This lack of information can cause major disruption to traffic in the 

event of a flood incident. Two such examples have occurred in 2012: 

 
• On Friday 27 April flooding at the A19/A1237 roundabout caused 
major disruption to the whole of the A1237 outer ring road from 7 
am to 2 pm as a major part of the roundabout was impassable and 
1½ to 2 hours were typically added to journey times. Resolution of 
the problem required an investigation to locate the drainage system 
and outlet, which was blocked with tree roots. None of the highway 
drainage routes were recorded on any readily accessible database 
 
•  On Sunday 10 June the A1079 both carriageways of the Hull 
Road flooded from the outer ring road roundabout to Badger Hill. 
The road was impassable for several hours and a subsequent 
investigation found major silt blockage in both highway drains and 
public sewers. None of the highway drainage routes were recorded. 
In addition at least 8 properties on the Badger Hill estate suffered 
internal flooding. 
 

3.4  Following the flooding in 2007, and in recognition of this shortage of 
information and the recurrence of persistent highway flooding 
problems at many locations, funding has been made available for 
investigation and remedial work from the highway maintenance 
budget over the past four years.  

 
3.5  The availability of funding for the SWMP has enabled modelling of 

areas to be carried which would not have otherwise been done. This 
has provided a better understanding of the problems and their causes, 
and a check of the accuracy of the FMfSW. Some of the funding was 
also used to assist with the cost of investigations, which have 
established the cause of many flooding problems and often resolved 
them, while also providing improved records of the drainage 
infrastructure.  

 

Page 50



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 32 
 

3.6  In accordance with the SWMP Technical Guidance information is 
categorised as follows: 

 
1. Asset data and information 
2. Background information 
3. Historical information 
4. Future development information  
5. Document and plans 
6. Water quality information 

 
3.7  In order to indicate the quality of the data the guidance suggests the 

following scoring: 

 
1 Best possible 
2 Data with known deficiencies 
3. Gross assumptions 
4. Heroic assumptions 

 
Table 3.1 summarises the data available for the study: 
 

Source of 
Information 

Catego
ry Knowledge/data type 

Data 
qualit
y 
score 

Usage 
restricted? 

City of York 
Council 

5 Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA) 1 No 

5 Preliminary Flood Risk 
Assessment (PFRA) 1 No 

3 Historic flood event 
data 2 No 

1 Highway drainage 
records 2 No 

1 Information on ordinary 
watercourses 2 No 

1 Maintenance regimes 
and records 3 No 

2 OS mapping data 1 OS licence 
restrictions 

Environment 
Agency 4 

Catchment Flood 
Management Plans 
(CFMPs) 

1 No 

Page 51



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 33 
 

1 Fluvial Flood Maps 1 No, if not 
modified 

2 Ground data (LIDAR) 1 
Subject to 
EA license 
agreement 

2 
Areas Susceptible to 
Surface Water 
Flooding (AStSWF) 

2 No 

2 Flood Map for Surface 
Water (FMfSW) 2 No 

2 
Areas Susceptible to 
Ground Water 
Flooding 

2 No 

Yorkshire 
Water 

1 Foul/combined/surface 
water models 2 In 

accordance 
with Data 
Sharing 
Protocol 

1 Drainage asset data 2 

3 DG5 register 1 

Internal 
Drainage 
Boards 

1 Information on local 
watercourses 1 No 

 
Table 3.1: Available Data 
 
 

Page 52



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
4 LEVEL OF ASSESSMENT AND MODELLING APPROACH 

 

4.1  In accordance with the Defra technical guidance the appropriate level 
of assessment for the SWMP was considered to be a Detailed 
Assessment for the following reasons: 

 
• A Strategic Assessment is inappropriate due to the small size of the 
authority’s area, its topography, and the lack of any identified areas 
of significant flooding on the basis of records or EA modelling. The 
FMfSW provides a strategic broad scale assessment of risk. 

• An Intermediate Assessment was not considered appropriate as 
sufficient data was available to identify localised small areas that 
had been affected by flooding, with further guidance provided by the 
FMfSW mapping. 

 
4.2 At the time of commencing the Surface Water Management Plan there 

was little evidence in the from of reported incidents available pointing 
to widespread, frequent or persistent surface water flood risk at any 
location within the study area. However, it was considered that the 
opportunity should be taken to carry out a detailed assessment of 
those areas where flooding was recorded in 2007, and to use this to 
validate the EA’s FMfSW, establish the causes of flooding and identify 
solutions.  

 
4.3 To progress this Halcrow were engaged to provide modelling 

expertise. The following is an extract from their report regarding the 
selection of the modelling approach. The full modelling report is 
included as Appendix 1: 

 
The purpose of the pluvial modelling was to provide quick and 
simple modelling of pluvial flows to identify the broad surface 
water risk areas. By applying rainfall directly onto a 2D mesh 
using TUFLOW software flood extent and depths was determined 
for eight hot spot areas. Allowance for storage capacity available 
within the below ground drainage network for each hot spot has 
been included. Further simulations to investigate the impact of 
blocked or insufficient gullies on flood extents and depths were 
also undertaken. 
 
The conceptual approach adopted was to assume that rainfall 
falling within each modelled hotspot area was the primary source 

Page 53



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 35 
 

of flooding in that area. Inflows generated by rainfall falling 
outside each area being secondary either because these flows 
are very small, or because their time-of-arrival at each study area 
would be much later than the occurrence of more severe flooding 
due to the local rainfall). This assumption was considered 
acceptable due to the very small size of the urban hotspots being 
investigated. 

 
Rainfall was computed using the Flood Estimation Handbook 
methodology with losses computed using the FEH rainfall-runoff 
model. Losses represent hydrological processes which do not 
directly contribute to surface flooding such as infiltration and 
interception. Rainfall depths were computed for a range of return 
period between 1 in 1 yr and 1 in 1000 yr. Allowance for the 
below ground drainage network capacity was made by 
subtracting the net rainfall for the estimated sewer standard of 
service from the specified return periods. 
 
Resultant net rainfall was distributed onto a 2-D terrain model and 
routed using the TUFLOW hydrodynamic modelling package. A 
separate 2-D model was developed for each of the eight flooding 
hot spots. Maximum flood extents for depths greater than 0.1 m 
and 0.3 m were plotted for specified return periods. 

 
4.4  Areas of surface water flooding concern (flooding hotspots) were 

identified by CYC based on known historic flooding, Yorkshire Water’s 
sewer flooding record, and the Environment Agency’s surface water 
flood maps. Twelve hotspots were identified as in Table 4.1: 

 

Area Hotspot Name 

1 Strensall 

2 Wigginton / Haxby 

3 Rawcliffe 

4 Clifton Without 

5 Clifton 

6 Heworth 

7 Burnholme 

Page 54



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 36 
 

Area Hotspot Name 

8 Acomb 

9 Holgate 

10 a. Westfield 
b. Woodthorpe 

11 Bishopthorpe 

12 Rufforth 

 

Table 4.1: Initial list of Hotspots 

 
4.5  Each of these 12 hotspots was reviewed by Halcrow together with 

CYC, to understand better the existing flood risk and sources and 
causes of flooding. Where the reasons for flooding were well 
understood in a particular hotspot, or solutions had already been 
identified or implemented, hotspots were removed from the scope of 
further work. Table 4.2 summarises the review of the hotspots: 

 

Area Summary of review Conclusions Hydraulic 
modelling? 

1 The key area of concern 
is that centred on York 
Rd where the EA 
mapping shows deep 
flood risk. More detailed 
modelling should be 
carried out here. 

Hydraulic modelling 
required. 
CYC to consider a 
culvert survey of 
Strensall Drain d/s of this 
area. 

Y 

2 The key area of concern 
is The Village, in the 
vicinity of the property 
flooded in 2007. 
 

Hydraulic modelling 
required. 
CYC to consider a 
flooding questionnaire for 
properties in this area. 

Y 

Page 55



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 37 
 

Area Summary of review Conclusions Hydraulic 
modelling? 

3 The key areas of 
concern are Howard 
Drive and Rawcliffe 
Croft. 

Hydraulic modelling 
required. 
CYC to consider a 
flooding questionnaire for 
properties in this area. 

Y 

4 The key area of concern 
is in St Phillip’s Grove 
area. Other areas of 
flood risk appear to be as 
a result of culvert 
capacity on Birdike. 

Hydraulic modelling 
required.  
CYC to consider a 
flooding questionnaire for 
properties in this area. 
Birdike culvert may 
benefit from CYC culvert 
survey. 

Y 

5 Two key areas of 
concern are in Shipton St 
and Field View. 
The sewer system 
appears to be under 
capacity in Shipton St 
area, and there are 
vulnerable people at risk 
of flooding (elderly care 
home shown within EA 
flood risk area).  

Hydraulic modelling 
required.  
CYC to consider a 
flooding questionnaire for 
properties in this area. 
 

Y 

6 The three key areas (in 
Straylands Grove, Elm 
Park Way and Elmfield 
Ave appear to be due to 
under capacity of 
existing drainage.  

Hydraulic modelling 
required.  
CYC to consider a 
flooding questionnaire for 
properties in this area. 

Y 

7 Only key issue is at 
junction of Badbargain 
Lane and Gerard 
Avenue, due to known 
gully issues. 

Hotspot removed from 
the scope of this study.  

N 

Page 56



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 38 
 

Area Summary of review Conclusions Hydraulic 
modelling? 

8 Two key areas are 
junction of Carr Lane and 
Boroughbridge Rd, and 
Ouse Acres. 

Hydraulic modelling 
required.  
CYC to consider a 
flooding questionnaire for 
properties in this area. 
CYC to consider survey 
to determine capacity 
and condition of Ings Cliff 
Drain, as EA flood risk 
map show this area at 
risk, although no flooding 
reported here in June 
2007. 

Y 

9 The area around Beech 
Ave appears to be an 
issue. Likely main cause 
is a sewer capacity 
issue.  

Hotspot removed from 
the scope of this study. 

N 

10a The key flood risk areas 
are around Huntsman 
Walk.  

Hydraulic modelling 
required.  
CYC to consider a 
flooding questionnaire for 
properties in this area. 
There is a known DG5 
issue with a property on 
Foxwood Lane. CYC to 
follow this up with YWS. 

Y 

10b Key flood risk areas here 
are around Acombwood 
Dr and Alness Dr. Likely 
main cause is a sewer / 
land drain capacity issue. 

Hotspot removed from 
the scope of this study. 

N 

Page 57



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 39 
 

Area Summary of review Conclusions Hydraulic 
modelling? 

11 It was agreed that the 
flooding issues here 
would not benefit from 
additional surface water 
modelling. 

Hotspot removed from 
the scope of this study. 

N 

12 It was agreed that the 
flooding issues here 
would not benefit from 
additional surface water 
modelling. 

Hotspot removed from 
the scope of this study. 

N 

 

Table 4.2: Review of hotspots 

 
 
4.6  Following this review, focus areas within eight hotspots were taken 

forward for hydraulic modelling and further assessment. The complete 
list is included in Table 4.3 below. 

 

Area Hotspot Name Focus Area Name 

1 Strensall York Rd 

2 Wigginton / 
Haxby 

The Village 

3 Rawcliffe Howard Drive 
Rawcliffe Croft 

4 Clifton Without St Phillip’s Grove 

5 Clifton Shipton St Field View 

6 Heworth Straylands Grove 
Elm Park Way 
Elmfield Ave 

8 Acomb Junction of Carr Lane 
and Boroughbridge Rd 
Ouse Acres 

Page 58



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 40 
 

Area Hotspot Name Focus Area Name 

10a Westfield Huntsman Walk 

 

Table 4.3: Final hotspots and focus areas 

4.7  Investigations were undertaken at and around the locations detailed in 
Table 4.4 to support the modelling and to help to understand its 
outputs and conclusions. The prioritisation of the investigations was 
determined by the scale and extent of the problems identified from the 
2007 flooding records and available engineering and financial 
resources. Most investigations commenced with very minimal 
information on the existing drainage infrastructure so the process was 
slow and progress dependent on what was found. For this reason the 
investigations at many locations in Strensall, Haxby and Wigginton 
occupied a considerable part of the investigation time as they, of 
necessity, extended outwards as further problems were uncovered. 
This is discussed in part 5. 

 

Area Hotspot Name Investigation 

1 Strensall Yes 

2 Wigginton / 
Haxby 

Yes 

3 Rawcliffe No 

4 Clifton Without No 

5 Clifton No 

6 Heworth No 

8 Acomb Yes 

10a Westfield No 

 

Table 4.4: Modelled areas investigated 

 
 
 

Page 59



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
5  ANALYSIS OF MODELLING AND SITE INVESTIGATIONS 

 
5.1  The analysis has been carried out using three main sources of 

information: 

 
1 A number of selected hotspots that flooded in 2007 have been 
modelled. The short listing is covered in part 4 and the full report is 
in Appendix 1.  

 
2 The EA flood risk mapping “Flood Map for Surface Water Flooding” 
(FMfSW) which was agreed during the PFRA process as providing 
the best guidance for the Council’s area. 

 
3 Investigations which have been carried out by CYC flood risk 
engineers focussed on some of the modelled hotspot areas as 
detailed in part 4 and more extensively where further problems have 
been identified. 
 

5.2  The sections in the following analysis are referenced using the 
modelling report hotspot numbering shown in Table 5.1. Maps 
showing the locations of flooding are included in the modelling report, 
Appendix 1:  

 

Area Hotspot Name Focus Area 
Name 

1 Strensall York Rd 

2 Wigginton / 
Haxby 

The Village 

3 Rawcliffe Howard Drive 
Rawcliffe Croft 

4 Clifton Without St Phillip’s Grove 

5 Clifton Shipton St 
Field View 

6 Heworth Straylands 
Grove 
Elm Park Way 
Elmfield Ave 

Page 60



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 42 
 

Area Hotspot Name Focus Area 
Name 

8 Acomb Junction of Carr 
Lane and 
Boroughbridge 
Rd 
Ouse Acres 

10a Westfield Huntsman Walk 

 
Table 5.1: Final hotspots and focus areas 

 

 
5.3  Hotspot 1: Strensall 

Location 

Strensall is a large village 10km north of York, and 4km north-east of 
Haxby. It is located between the River Foss to the west and Strensall 
Common to the east. The Common covers over 500 ha and is a 
Special Area of Conservation, being an example of lowland heathland 
habitat. To the south of the village is Strensall Camp, built by the War 
Office in 1884 for training troops, covering an area of about 730 ha 
and stretches to Towthorpe at its southern end. The military estate 
includes an army firing range and training area on the Common. 
Before 1996 it was part of the Ryedale district. 

 
Topography 
 
The area is very flat with little variation in height, and the village is in 
the natural flow path from the western side of the Common to the 
river. The area is predominantly warp and lacustrine clay and drains 
poorly. There is a history of clay extraction in the area with 
consequent areas of land fill and ponds. 
 
Drainage 
 
The older part of the village is centred around The Village (road) and 
Bone Dyke, which flows to the River Foss from the Common and is 
culverted through the urbanised area. This dyke is one of the main 
routes for surface water drainage from the northern western part of the 
Common picking up flows from a network of field ditches. There are 

Page 61



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 43 
 

few surface water sewers in the old village and the sewerage system 
is mostly combined, flowing by gravity to the YWS Cobbs Cottage 
pumping Station then on to Walbutts treatment works northeast of 
Strensall. 
 
Development 
The first major expansion of the village occurred after 1950, to the 
south west of the old village east of York Road, significantly increasing 
its size. Surface water from these developments discharges to the 
Foss (2008) IDB Strensall Drain which in turn discharges to the River 
Foss south of the York to Scarborough railway line. It is largely 
culverted in various sizes and materials, and often inaccessible due to 
the developments either side. Strensall Drain had previously drained 
the south western part of the Common but it is understood that, prior 
to this area being developed, it was intercepted south of the junction 
of Ox Carr Lane and Moor Lane. A 600mm/750mm culvert was 
constructed which conveys flows from the Common on a route to the 
south east of Ox Carr Lane, discharging to the River Foss south of the 
village. 

 
Subsequent development west of York Road extends from the 
junction of York Road and Strensall Road northwards across the York 
to Scarborough railway line to West End. This represents another very 
significant increase in the size of the village. Surface water from these 
developments is drained via the sewerage network to six outfalls into 
the River Foss. 
 
The final area of significant development, known as The Brecks, is 
located to the north east of the old village. This is post 1990 
development and surface water discharges directly to the River Foss 
through a further six sewerage system outfalls between Strensall 
Bridge and the eastern end of the development. 

 
The railway, roads, housing development and military use of the 
Common have all affected the natural drainage of the area and 
surface water flooding has occurred at many locations throughout 
Strensall, affecting both urban and rural highways and also gardens 
and a few properties. It has been found that, in Strensall, there is often 
interconnectivity between the individual flooded areas that have been 
recorded and/or investigated indicating widespread infrastructure 
failure. 
 

Page 62



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 44 
 

The historic drainage routes in relation to the current development are 
shown on drawing 5.2 

 

 
Drawing 5.1: Historic Drainage Routes in Strensall 

 
Recorded Flooding 

 
Flooding has occurred at many locations throughout Strensall over a 
long period of time. The modelling concentrated on the area most 
affected in 2007. The following analysis groups some of the most 
significant problem areas together from the investigating engineers' 
reports mostly concentrating on the more urbanised areas. In most 
areas the investigations started with a very poor understanding of how 
the drainage systems should work, due to lack of records. However, 
there are fundamental infrastructure problems that have been 
identified, which further links many of these grouped areas together. 
 
Analysis 

 
a) Hallard Way/Kirklands/Highland Avenue 

 

Page 63



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 45 
 

This urban area was modelled and the findings are recorded in 
the report (Appendix 1) as Hotspot 1 (Strensall): 

 
The flood evidence from the 2007 event indicates flooding of 
the Kirklands highway adjacent to the junction with Hallard 
Way.  The Environment Agency Surface Water Flooding maps 
indicate flooding in a very similar area with deep water around 
Kirklands and an adjacent area between Kirklands and Oak 
Tree Close. 

 
Results from the model are consistent with the 2007 and 
Environment Agency results.  Shallow flooding in the 1 in 30 yr 
and 1in 75 yr occurs along Kirklands with limited property 
flooding commencing at 1 in 100 yrs.  Results for the 1 100 yr + 
CC are very similar to the 1 in 200 yr.  Confidence in model 
results is therefore good. 
 
The extents and depth of predicted flooding for the gully 
blocked scenarios are more extensive than the baselines 
simulations, indicating that gulley maintenance is important in 
this area.  

 
This area is centred on Strensall Drain. Investigations carried out 
following the 2007 flooding in this and surrounding areas have 
found root and siltation problems in both CYC and riparian owned 
pipes and culverts, both those discharging to Strensall Drain and 
within the Drain itself. It is likely that these blockages have 
affected the performance of gullies rather than them being 
blocked. Some of the problems have been solved by this 
investigation but more work is necessary to maximise the 
performance of the infrastructure both here and in the wider area.  
 
Recommendation 
 
As both models indicate a risk of flooding to both highways and 
property and the investigation is incomplete, it is recommended 
that investigation is continued to resolve remaining problems to 
minimise the risk. 

 
b) York Road 

 
This area, the main road into Strensall from York, is built up and 
adjacent to area a). It was affected by highway flooding in 2007, 

Page 64



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 46 
 

but no property is recorded to have flooded. Although the 
modelling report does not comment on this area it does show that 
very minor scattered shallow flooding may occur from a 1 in 200 
year event. This correlates well with the FMfSW for the same 
return period. The scale of observed flooding exceeded that 
modelled, indicating that infrastructure failure could be the cause. 
Little of the highway drainage infrastructure was recorded in this 
area and subsequent investigation found problems with roots, 
siltation, blocked gullies, damage by utilities affecting CYC owned 
pipes and culverts. The opportunity was taken to carry out repairs 
as the blockages were located. 

 
Following this remedial work it is thought that future events will 
closely replicate the predicted flooding from the models. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Monitor effect of future rainfall events.  

 
c) Flaxton Road (various locations) and junctions with Scott 

Moncrieff Road and Moor Lane 
 

This mainly rural area has suffered persistent highway flooding at 
a number of locations over many years, most severely in the 
winter with depths up to 150mm, but also in summer. No 
modelling predicts flooding at these locations indicating that 
deficiencies in the drainage infrastructure together with the 
flatness of the area are likely to be the cause. Investigations 
carried out over several years as funding has permitted have 
confirmed this view. 

 
Investigations have confirmed that this area should drain to the 
culvert which was constructed to intercept Strensall Drain. Little of 
the highway or other infrastructure in the area was recorded and 
much of the surrounding land on Strensall common is owned by 
the MoD which has riparian responsibility for ditches and culverts. 
Investigations found the cause of flooding to be minimal 
maintenance of these assets and root growth and siltation in the 
highway drainage system. Some repairs have been carried out 
but more work is to be done in some areas. 

 
It is likely that, once effective repairs have been completed, flood 
risk in this area will be minimised and if the drainage systems are 

Page 65



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 47 
 

maintained there should be little risk of flooding and those areas 
still affected will correlate closely with both models. 

 
Recommendation 
 
While this flooding does not affect property, the standing water on 
this well used rural road can be hazardous, particularly in winter. 
It is recommended that investigation is continued to resolve 
remaining problems to minimise the risk. 

 
d) Moor Lane 
 
 Internal flooding affected 39 Moor Lane in 2000, together with the 

highway midway along Moor Lane, in front of it and adjacent 
properties. The highway outside 52 Moor Lane, about 100m north 
of its junction with Flaxton Road has also flooded several times 
since 2000.  

 
Both the study and FMfSW models confirm that the area in front 
of 39 Moor Lane would be affected by shallow flooding from a 1 in 
200 year event. The FMfSW flood envelope extends slightly into 
the garden of 39 Moor Lane towards the property, while the study 
model just shows flooding in the highway. Both models also show 
highway flooding south of that observed outside 52 Moor Lane.  
 
Investigations have established that the property flooding was 
due to overland flows through the garden from open fields behind 
to the road in front. This is on the line of a tributary to Strensall 
Drain from the north western area of the Common. The modelling 
reflects a low point in front of the property and the flows appear to 
have followed a natural flow path. Investigations have been 
carried out and it is likely that the flooding has been caused by 
root infestation and siltation in downstream culverts, but there are 
also problems with riparian drainage in nos. 37, 39 and 41 and 
complications with foul sewers which have not been resolved. 
Further work may reduce the flooding to that shown in the 
models, but onset of flooding could continue to be from less 
extreme events. 

 
The extent of flooding nearer the junction with Flaxton Road is 
reasonably predicted by the models but, once again, the onset of 
observed flooding was probably from a lesser event. An 
investigation found a defective culvert with many buried manholes 

Page 66



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 48 
 

and the culvert was once again blocked with roots and silt. Since 
this has been cleaned it appears to have prevented the early 
onset of flooding, though more extreme events are likely to affect 
the area as shown by the modelling, which is considered to be a 
reasonable prediction of likely flooding. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the investigation be continued and 
necessary remedial work carried out to minimise risk of flooding 
to property.  

 
e) Ox Carr Lane / Oak Tree Close 

 
Ox Carr Lane: A 260m length of Ox Carr Lane from the west of 
its junction with Moor Lane to Strensall Drain behind Oak Tree 
Close has suffered persistent ponding at gully positions along its 
length. As with Flaxton Road, which is a continuation of this road 
north eastwards, this was not reflected in modelling, indicating 
that the gullies and associated infrastructure were probably not 
functioning correctly.  
 
The investigation in this area established the previously 
unrecorded presence of the 600mm/750mm culvert which 
appears to have been constructed to intercept Strensall Drain. 
This conveys flows from the Common on a route to the south east 
of Ox Carr Lane, discharging to the River Foss south of the 
village. It is assumed that this was done prior to the urbanisation 
of the village around the original route. This culvert also has many 
connections from the Common. Poor quality land drains full of silt 
and roots, and in one location damaged by a lamp column, were 
found in the verges of both sides of the road. The pipes were of 
such poor quality that many disintegrated when jetted.  

 
Limited repairs have been carried out, together with the provision 
of new gullies, and the system now operates more effectively 
though further investigation and repairs need to be carried out. It 
is unlikely that the flooding here has been completely remedied 
as it is known that there is further work to be carried out.   
 
Recommendation 
 

Page 67



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 49 
 

While this flooding does not affect property, the standing water on 
this well used rural road can be hazardous, particularly in winter. 
It is recommended that investigation is continued to resolve 
remaining problems to minimise the risk. 
 
Oak Tree Close: Strensall Drain behind Oak Tree Close has 
caused flooding in the rear gardens of the odd numbered 
properties in Oak Tree Close. This is predicted in both models, 
but it is likely that the onset of flooding was sooner than predicted 
due to various ways in which the ditch had been interfered with - 
weirs, filling in, culverts of various sizes, built over with sheds etc., 
and was found to be aggravated by the problem investigated in 
Hallard Way/Kirklands/Highland Avenue ((a) above), further 
downstream on Strensall Drain. 

 
Recommendation 

 
It is recommended that the investigation be continued as 
resources permit to ensure that there are no obstructions to the 
flow of Strensall Drain and its adjoining drains. 

 
f) Strensall Road 
 
 Highway flooding has occurred at various isolated locations on 

Strensall Road between Towthorpe Lane at the southern end and 
Ox Carr Lane at the north. This is beyond the extent of the study 
model and is not shown to be affected in the FMfSW. 
Investigation work found unrecorded highway drains and culverts 
blocked with silt, roots and damaged by utility work. 

 
 Repair and cleaning has been carried out, together with the 

improvement of poorly designed gullies, and the system now 
operates more effectively. 

 
 Recommendation 
 
 Monitor effect of future rainfall events. 
 
g) Southfields Road 

 
Highway flooding has occurred on several occasions across the 
full width of the road along a 200m length. This is beyond the 
extent of the study model but the FMfSW predicts that a shorter 

Page 68



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 50 
 

length may be affected by shallow flooding in a 1 in 200 year 
event. The frequency of observed flooding would indicate that 
infrastructure failure is the cause of the problem. The road is 
shown on the YWS sewer record to be served by a combined 
sewer and there was no clear evidence of how the road drained.  

 
 The investigation located blocked uncharted highway drains and 

a collapsed manhole flowing northwards to The Village. The 
repair of this has not completely solved the problem and further 
investigation is required.  

 
 Recommendation 
 
 It is recommended that the investigation be continued as 

resources permit. 

h) The Village 

 Highway flooding has occurred on The Village (road) at its 
junction with the Sheriff Hutton Road and at its crossing of Bone 
Dyke 180 metres east. This older part of Strensall is served by a 
combined sewerage system but there was no clear evidence of 
how the road drained. Both of these areas are beyond the extent 
of the study model but the FMfSW predicts that both areas may 
be affected by shallow flooding in a 1 in 200 year event. The 
frequency of observed flooding would indicate that infrastructure 
failure is the cause of the problem. 

 
The investigation at the Sheriff Hutton Road junction noted that 
the combined sewer is under capacity as sewage escapes from a 
YWS manhole cover have been noted on several occasions. A 
substantially blocked uncharted pipe was located discharging 
westwards from outside 22 The Village. This pipe was heavily 
silted and lacked any obvious means of access for maintenance. 
Excavations and further CCTV surveys revealed numerous 
chambers that were slabbed over, which have now been raised to 
the surface to provide future access. Although this pipe appears 
to be operating satisfactorily it outfalls to a section of culverted 
watercourse beyond Church Lane which may be affected by tree 
roots. 

 
A pipe was also found running east from the same location, and 
then north along the Sheriff Hutton road discharging to the River 

Page 69



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 51 
 

Foss west of the bridge. Although apparently working, flooding 
was experienced in August 2011 and further investigation is 
required. There is evidence that an old ditch leading directly to the 
River Foss, which would have allowed the water level on the road 
to overflow, has been filled in. 
 
The investigation at The Village crossing of Bone Dyke found 
blocked gullies and obstructions in the downstream open 
watercourse but has not been conclusive as to the cause of 
flooding.  
 

 Recommendation 
It is recommended that the investigations at both locations be 
continued as resources permit. 

Page 70



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 52 
 

5.4  Hotspot 2: Wigginton/Haxby 

 
 Location 
 
 Haxby is located 7km north of York and 4km south of Strensall. It is 

bordered on the east by the River Foss and to the west by the village 
of Wigginton. Expansion has caused the two settlements to form a 
continuous densely populated urban environment. The garden village 
of New Earswick is to the south with open farmland to the north as far 
as the villages of Sutton-on-the-Forest and Strensall. Before 1996 
they were part of the Ryedale district. 
 
Topography 
 
The two villages sit on ground consisting mostly of clay with sand and 
alluvium soil, near the old Forest of Galtres. To the north is Goland 
Dike, a small tributary of the River Foss, to the east is the River Foss 
which flows southward towards York and the River Ouse. Forming the 
western boundary of Wigginton is Westfield Beck. The area is very flat 
with little variation in height. There is a history of clay extraction in the 
area with consequent areas of land fill and ponds. 

 
Drainage: Haxby 
 
The older part of Haxby is centred around the junction of The Village 
(road), Station Road and York Road. The area to the south of The 
Village and east of York Road drains eastwards towards the River 
Foss via several minor field drains which cross the York to 
Scarborough railway line. There are two large ponds at the site of 
former brickworks between York Road and the railway. North of The 
Village the natural drainage is northwards via the minor Foss (2008) 
IDB maintained watercourses Wigginton Drain, Usher Lane Drain and 
Haxby Grange Dyke, which discharge to Goland Dyke which in turn 
discharges to the River Foss at a point north of Haxby. Windmill Lane 
Culvert drains the north eastern corner of the village eastwards to the 
River Foss. 
 
The older part of the village and York Road are served by a combined 
sewerage system which gravitates to a pumping station on Landing 
Lane, but generally all of the development beyond the rear curtilages 
of these properties both north and south of The Village and west of 
York Road (i.e. the vast majority of the area) is sewered separately. 

Page 71



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 53 
 

The expansion of the village is understood to be mostly post 1960 and 
there is now little or no scope for any further significant expansion. 
 
Drainage: Wigginton 

 
The older part of Wigginton is centred around Mill Lane and The 
Village (road), between the B1363 York to Helmsley Road and Haxby. 
As is the case with Haxby, the old village is served by a combined 
sewer, but all other areas, again post 1960, are separately sewered 
and there is little or no scope for any further significant expansion. 
Most, if not all, of the urbanised area west of York Road to Haxby (the 
western part of Haxby and all of Wigginton) ultimately drains to 
Westfield Beck which forms the western boundary of Wigginton. There 
are seven direct discharges to the beck and approximately twelve 
connections to the Headlands Lane Dyke Culverts which runs 
southwards through Wigginton before discharging to Westfield Beck. 
Westfield Beck and the Headlands Lane Dyke Culverts are the 
responsibility of the Foss (2008) IDB. 

 
It has been found that, in Wigginton and Haxby, there is often 
interconnectivity between the individual flooded areas that have been 
recorded and/or investigated indicating widespread infrastructure 
failure. 
 
The historic drainage routes in relation to the current development are 
shown on drawing 5.2 

 

Page 72



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 54 
 

 
  Drawing 5.2: Historic Drainage Routes in Wigginton and 
Haxby 
 
Westfield Beck Pumping Station 
 
Prior to the extensive development of Haxby and Wigginton flooding 
problems from Westfield Beck were experienced in certain areas of 
New Earswick downstream of Wigginton. To protect the village from 
future increased flooding, which would result from the proposed 
upstream development of Haxby and Wigginton, the then local 
authority and sewerage undertaker, Flaxton Rural District Council, 
constructed a pumping station at the south end of Wigginton next to 
Westfield Beck in the early 1970s. A rectangular penstock, controlled 
by depth sensors in the downstream beck, was built across the 
channel diverts excess flows to the pumping station. This lifts the flow 
and discharges it into a gravity sewer which passes through the 
southern side of the Hartrigg Oaks development and onwards directly 
to the River Foss. The pumping station has two no. 0.49m3/s pumps 
which provide the capacity to discharge a 1 in 100 year flow3. The 
pumping station and sewer are owned by YWS. Subsequently, in 
1988, the Foss IDB improved the culverted length of Westfield Beck 
running through New Earswick, further reducing the risk of flooding.  

Page 73



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 55 
 

 
Westfield Beck Storage Lagoon 
 
Areas of housing at the north of New Earswick have been identified as 
being at risk of fluvial flooding by the EA. Their Development Control 
Team is concerned that the flood risk could potentially increase in the 
future due to additional runoff from further development in the 
Westfield Beck catchment, primarily in Haxby and Wigginton 
upstream. The nature of this development, in the form of property 
extensions and the creation of patios and drives, is difficult to control 
through the planning regime, and has a cumulative effect in increasing 
runoff. Although there is little scope for more major development, if it 
does occur there is more opportunity to control its runoff and minimise 
the impact than there is with minor development. 
 
The EA commissioned a study to investigate the feasibility of flood 
storage as a potential solution to this problem, and has proposed a 
scheme to construct a storage lagoon located next to the beck 
between Haxby and New Earswick to control maximum flood levels. 
However, it has not been possible to obtain funding for this at the time 
of writing though it still remains an aspiration both for CYC and the 
EA.     
 
Recorded Flooding 
 
Flooding has occurred at many locations throughout Wigginton and 
Haxby over a long period of time. The modelling concentrated on the 
area most affected in 2007. The following analysis groups some of the 
most significant problem areas together from the investigating 
engineers' reports mostly concentrating on the more urbanised areas. 
In most areas the investigations started with a very poor 
understanding of how the drainage systems should work, due to lack 
of records. However, there are fundamental infrastructure problems 
that have been identified, which further links many of these grouped 
areas together. 
 
Analysis 
 
a) Junction of The Village and York Road, Haxby 

 
This urban area was modelled and the findings are recorded in 
the report (Appendix 1) as Hotspot 2 (Wigginton/Haxby): 
 

Page 74



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 56 
 

Records indicate flooding at the junction of The Village and York 
Road in 2007.  The Environment Agency Surface Water Maps 
indicate shallow flooding around Hall Rise and the Ambulance 
Station and to in the gardens between The Village and North 
Lane. 

 
Output from the model indicates less extensive flooding than the 
Environment Agency surface flooding maps.  The model 1 in 
100yr + CC extent is very similar to the 1 in 200 yr, with very 
limited predicted flooding of property and limited flooding of 
highways within the hotspot area.  For the 1 in 200 yr event, 
flooding is predicted of the roadway cul-de-sac in Hall Rise and 
adjacent to the Ambulance Station.  The recorded 2007 flooding 
along highways of The Village and York Road is not replicated by 
the model. 
 
A key difference between the Environment Agency Surface Water 
flooding maps and approach adopted here is explicit allowance 
for storage capacity in the below-ground drainage system.  For 
this hotspot, it is assumed that the below-ground drainage 
network provides a 1 in 5 yr standard of service, which is 
represented through a reduction in net rainfall.  The reduction in 
the 1in 200 yr rainfall is from 20.5 mm to 14 mm (equivalent to a 1 
in 75 yr event). 
 
The event severity of the 2007 event is recorded, in a report to 
the Council's Executive Member dated 10 December 2007, to 
vary across the city from 1 in 20 yr to 1 in 100yr.  On basis of this 
event severity, even when taking into account drainage, the 
model results seem to under-estimate flooding. 

 
It is plausible that flooding in 2007 was caused by localised 
blockages in the below-ground drainage system which are not 
replicated in the model.  Similarly it is plausible that localised flow 
routes that cannot be defined at the scale of the model could also 
have contributed to flooding. 
 
Due to poor replication of evidence from the 2007 event, 
confidence in model results for this hotspot is lower than other 
hotspots. 
 
Investigation carried out in this area located both public sewers 
and CYC culverts blocked by roots and silt, with problems 

Page 75



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 57 
 

compounded by blocked gullies and damage by utilities, 
confirming the suggestion from the modelling. The surface water 
pipework outside 32 York Road was totally blocked causing 
floodwater to enter tthe gardens of nos, 28 and 30. Damage to 
the pipework was located and further work is required to resolve 
the problems in this area. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that further investigations at this location be 
continued as resources permit. 

b) The Avenue /York Road/Old Orchard/Little Meadows, Haxby 
 
Flooding is recorded to have occurred in the highway and to 
some properties in The Avenue in 2004 and 2007 as a result of 
summer rainfall. The problem was compounded by foul flooding 
and both CYC and YWS have been involved in investigations to 
determine the cause. This section covers the findings of the 
surface water system investigation only. 

 
The FMfSW shows that shallow flooding from a 1 in 30 year event 
may affect some gardens on the north side of The Avenue and a 
short length of the highway at the western end of Holly Tree Lane. 
It also predicts that in a 1 in 200 year event shallow flooding 
would affect a wider area including the four properties with 
recorded flooding. Therefore this prediction of affected areas is 
considered to be a good correlation with observed events but the 
onset of the observed flooding arises from a considerably less 
severe event indicating that there are infrastructure failures. 
 
The Avenue is served by a separate sewerage system with the 
surface water public sewer within the road draining westwards 
towards the York Road/Holly Tree Lane junction. In the course of 
the investigation a silted up riparian owned culvert was found in 
the front gardens of the five properties on the southern side of the 
Avenue next to the junction. A further culvert was found between 
nos. 79 and 81 York Road extending to the rear of the properties 
on the north side of The Avenue. These, together with the public 
sewer, were found to be connected to a further riparian owned 
culvert crossing York Road and passing through several 
ownerships on the north side of Holly Tree Lane. Significant 
sections of these culverts were found to be blocked with silt and 

Page 76



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 58 
 

roots over a length of approximately 300 m. The Holly Tree Lane 
culvert was in poor condition at many locations with several 
collapses. Beyond Little Meadows this discharges to the Foss 
(2008) IDB maintained culvert Headlands Drain South which 
flows to Westfield Beck on the west side of Wigginton. 

 
Flooding experienced in this area has been much more frequent 
than predicted by the FMfSW and the investigation has confirmed 
that this has been caused by infrastructure failure due to lack of 
knowledge of its location and consequently no maintenance. 
Although much has been done to date there is work still 
outstanding at this location. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Monitor the effect of future rainfall events and continue 
investigation and remedial work. 

 
c) Station Road, Haxby 
 
 Persistent frequent highway flooding has occurred over many 

years at Station Road, and two properties, 51 and 55 Station 
Road, are recorded to have suffered internal flooding, most 
recently in 2009. 

 
 The FMfSW predicts that these properties and the adjacent 

highway would suffer shallow flooding from a 1 in 30 year event 
and more widespread shallow flooding from a 1 in 200 year event. 
This prediction of the affected area is considered to be a good 
correlation with observed events, but the onset of the observed 
flooding arises from a considerably less severe event indicating 
that there are infrastructure failures. 

 
The investigation has established that the surface water sewer in 
the northern footpath, outside the affected properties, is 
significantly under capacity. The problem was compounded by 
tree root blockage and a high percentage of blocked gullies. 
These blockages have been cleared but there still remains the 
issue of under capacity which YWS are addressing. 

 
Recommendation 
 

Page 77



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 59 
 

Monitor the effect of future rainfall events and assist YWS in 
continuing their investigation and remedial work. 

 
d) Mill Lane, Ascot Road and Delamere Close, Wigginton 
 
 Frequent and widespread highway flooding has occurred at Mill 

Lane and Ascot Road over many years and property flooding has 
only narrowly been avoided on several occasions. 

 
The FMfSW indicates that shallow highway flooding from a 1 in 
30 year event might be expected to affect the southern end of 
Ascot Road between its junctions with Mill Lane and Delamere 
Close, possibly affecting some of the odd numbered properties 
though they may be sufficiently elevated to avoid this. This 
shallow flooding becomes more extensive from a 1 in 200 year 
event, affecting a longer length of highway, more properties and 
rear gardens on the odd numbered side. The area is very flat and 
this prediction of the affected area is considered to be a good 
correlation with observed events, but the onset of the observed 
flooding arises from a considerably less severe event indicating 
that there are infrastructure failures. 
 
There were four road gullies in the 150m length of Ascot Road 
and four in the 100m long Delamere Close which is slightly less 
than the current design standard. This alone would not help the 
situation in such a flat area but the investigation found that the 
surface water sewer in Delamere Close, to which Ascot Road 
flows, was up to 40% blocked with silt and the pipe to which that 
connects in Mill Lane was permanently surcharged above soffit 
level. In an attempt to lessen flows running off Mill Lane into ascot 
Road two additional gullies were installed by CYC. An uncharted 
highway drain/culvert was found to run the full length of Mill Lane 
which was affected by tree roots. Cleaning and CCTV surveying 
of this part of the network is planned. Some of the network 
connects to the head of a 145mm diameter SW sewer which had 
50% blockage with silt, and this will be cleared by YWS. 

 
Further investigation also found that a weir had been constructed 
in one of the YWS manholes upstream of this junction to divert 
flow into the village pond. This caused the sewer to be 
permanently 75% full, severely limiting its capacity to convey 
storm flows, and it has been removed. The investigation has also 
found that the problems are compounded by a backfall in a length 

Page 78



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 60 
 

of the sewer in Delamere Close and possibly a siphon at its 
connection in Mill Lane. YWS are to carry out further 
investigations in this area but it still currently remains at risk of 
flooding. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Monitor the effect of future rainfall events and assist YWS in 
continuing their investigation and remedial work, along with CYC 
remedial work on Mill Lane. 

 
5.5  Hotspot 3: Rawcliffe 
 

Location and Drainage 
 
Rawcliffe is a suburb located 5 km to the north west of York. It is 
centred around Blue Beck, a watercourse draining Rawcliffe and the 
majority of Clifton Moor to the River Ouse. Blue Beck is a designated 
Main River as it can cause flooding to property, primarily fluvial, as a 
result of the River Ouse backing up. Clifton Moor was an airfield prior 
to its development as a residential, commercial and retail area in the 
1980s. Rawcliffe Lake, owned by YWS, was created to provide 
storage and attenuation of surface water flows from the airfield 
redevelopment to protect the existing downstream properties. Surface 
water sewers serve the majority of the catchment draining either to the 
lake, which has a controlled discharge into Blue Beck, or directly to 
Blue Beck downstream of the lake. A flood detention area is situated 
next to the EA’s floodbank to provide additional storage for flows from 
the Blue Beck catchment during high River Ouse levels.  Surface 
water flooding affecting property is not a major problem in this area. 
However, some localised flooding occurred in 2007 including 
significant sections of highway drainage serving Shipton Road.  
 
The historic drainage routes in relation to the current development are 
shown on drawing 5.3 

 

Page 79



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 61 
 

 Drawing 5.3: Historic Drainage Routes in Rawcliffe, Clifton and 
Clifton Without 
 
Flooding 
 
Flooding of several roads was recorded in 2007 including sections of 
Rawcliffe Croft and at the intersection of Howard Drive and Manor 
Park. No property is reported to have been affected.  
 
Analysis 
 
The affected area was modelled and the findings are recorded in the 
report (Appendix 1) as Hotspot 3 (Rawcliffe): 

 
Two focus areas within this hotspot are identified, located along 
Rawcliffe Croft and at the intersection of Howard Drive and Manor 
Park.  Records from the 2007 event indicate localised flooding of 
the highways in Rawcliffe Croft, Howard Drive and Manor Park.  
Environment Agency Surface Flooding maps replicate shallow 
flooding along a localised length of Rawcliffe Croft highway and 
adjacent properties.  The Environment Agency maps show shallow 
flooding adjacent to Howard Drive but not along Manor Park. 
 

Page 80



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 62 
 

The results from the latest model replicate the 2007 flooding well. 
Shallow flooding in Rawcliffe Croft commences at 1 in 30 yr 
although flooding of adjacent properties is not indicated even in the 
1in 200 yr and/or 1in 100yr + CC. Flooding at Howard Drive/Manor 
Park is less well predicted by the model with very minor flooding 
predicted in the 1 in 200yr event. 

 
Confidence in model results is therefore considered good.    
 
Due to the relative lack of severity of this flooding with no property 
being affected, and confidence in the model, no investigations have 
been carried out in this area. However, in the same vicinity, the 
occurrence of flooding from rainfall events in spring and early 
summer 2012 has shown the highway drainage in Shipton Road to 
be inoperative on the outward bound lane, flooding half of the 
carriageway. While this is unlikely to be directly connected to the 
modelled area an initial investigation confirmed that this has been 
caused by infrastructure failure due to lack of knowledge of its 
location and hence no maintenance. Further investigation of this 
area is required. 
  

Recommendation 
 
Ensure surface water drainage infrastructure is located and restored 
to working condition and monitor effect of future rainfall events. 
 

5.6  Hotspot 4: Clifton Without 
 
 Location and Drainage 
 
 The Clifton Without area is located approximately 3 km northwest of 

York and comprises a large area of post war residential development 
centred around Kingsway North and Water Lane, with further 
1990s/2000s residential development north of Bur Dike Avenue. The 
drainage system is mostly separate with surface water draining to Bur 
Dike which drains predominantly open stray land upstream and a 
small part of the southern area of Clifton Moor. Bur Dike is culverted 
from the end of Lilbourne Drive at the northern end of the residential 
development all of its way to the River Ouse under Clifton Green and 
through the Clifton area, a distance of approximately 2 km. This length 
of Bur Dike is a designated Main River as it can cause flooding to 
property, primarily fluvial, as a result of the river Ouse backing up. To 
protect areas from this flooding, which occurs mostly around Clifton 

Page 81



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 63 
 

Green, a pumping station was constructed in the 1980s on the Bur 
Dike culvert approximately 110 m from the river in the flood bank, to 
prevent backflow from the river at times of high level and overpump 
flows from the catchment. This is owned and operated by the EA.  

 
 The historic drainage routes in relation to the current development are 

shown on drawing 5.3 in the section on Rawcliffe. 
 

Flooding 
 
Surface water flooding is not a major problem in this area, but some 
localised highway flooding occurred in 2007, affecting Water Lane, 
Rainsborough Way and St Philip’s Grove. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Analysis 

 
This affected area was modelled and the findings are recorded in the 
report (Appendix 1) as Hotspot 4 (Clifton Without): 
 
Records from the 2007 event indicate flooding of the highway along 
Water Lane, Rainsborough Way and St Philip’s Grove.  The 
Environment Agency Surface Flooding maps indicate similar 
flooding along Water Lane and St Philip’s Grove with a small 
number of adjacent properties affected.  The localised flooding in 
Rainsborough Way is not indicated in the Environment Agency 
maps.  
 
Results from the latest modelling indicate flooding consistent with 
the 2007 event for the 1 in 30yr event along Water Lane.  Flooding 
along St Philip’s Grove is also predicted but concentrated at a 
central low point rather than the more extensive flooding indicated 
by the 2007 records.  Localised flooding in Rainsborough Way is 
predicted in the 1 in 200 yr and 1in 100yr+CC event.   Flooding of 
adjacent properties is not indicated. 

 
Confidence in model results is therefore considered good. 

 

Page 82



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 64 
 

Due to the relative lack of severity of this flooding with no properties 
being affected, and the confidence in the model, no investigations 
have been carried out in this area.  

 
Other flooding 
 
An additional area that has been known to flood on several occasions 
is the roundabout at Lilbourne Way, up to a depth of 0.5m, 
necessitating the closure of the road. The cause of this was found to 
be the non operation of the Surface Water pumping station serving the 
adjacent housing estate and it is understood that issues affecting this 
have now been resolved. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Ensure surface water drainage infrastructure is maintained and 
monitor effect of future rainfall events. 
 

5.7  Hotspot 5: Clifton 

 
 Location and Drainage 

 The Clifton area is located approximately 3 km north of York and 
comprises Victorian era terraced housing east and west of Burton 
Stone Lane and south of Crichton Avenue. The area is served entirely 
by a combined sewerage system and comprises a high percentage of 
impermeable surfacing compared to suburban areas. Significant 
flooding occurred in the 1980s and 2007 saw some localised flooding 
affecting the highway at Field View to the west of the railway, 
Haughton Road, Baker Street, Pembroke Street and Shipton Street. 

 The historic drainage routes in relation to the current development are 
shown on drawing 5.3 in the section on Rawcliffe. 

 
 Flooding 
 
 Flooding of several short lengths of roads was recorded in 2007 

though no property is reported to have been affected. The area was 
modelled and the findings are recorded in the report (Appendix 1) as 
Hotspot 5 (Clifton): 
 
Analysis 
 

Page 83



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 65 
 

Records from the 2007 event indicate flooding of the highways at  

• Field View to the west of the railway 

• Haughton Road 

• Baker Street  

• Pembroke Street 

• Shipton Street. 

Flood extents from the Environment Agency Surface Water flooding 
maps are broadly consistent with the 2007 event although do not 
replicate the full extent of flooding on Baker Street.  
 
Results from the baseline model results indicate much less extensive 
flooding than indicated by the 2007 records. For the 1 in 200 yr and 1 
in 100yr+CC there is some predicted flooding along Field View.  
Results from the blocked gully simulations indicate some further 
flooding but again less than indicated from the 2007 records. 
 
For modelling this hotspot, it was assumed that the below ground 
drainage capacity provided approximately a 1 in 5 yr standard of 
service.  This below ground capacity was represented by a 
commensurate reduction in the net rainfall.  For the 1 in 200 yr event, 
net rainfall was reduced from 20.5 mm to 14 mm, equivalent to a 1 in 
75 yr event.  The inclusion of the below ground drainage capacity 
contributes, but does not fully explain the apparent under prediction of 
flooding in the model results. 
 
The extents and depth of flooding are more extensive in the outputs 
from the modelling with blocked gullies, indicating that gulley 
maintenance is important in this area.  For example, flooding of the 
area around the care home for the elderly is predicted with blocked 
gullies during the 1 in 200yr event. 
 
Due to less replication of flooding evidence from the 2007 event, 
confidence in model results is lower than other hotspots.  
 
Due to the relative lack of severity of the surface water flooding 
recorded in 2007 with no properties being affected no investigations 
have been carried out. However, the situation in this area differs from 
the others as the drainage system in the study area is combined. In 
addition there are properties on the YWS DG5 register that are known 
to flood internally in certain conditions. The wider catchment sewerage 

Page 84



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 66 
 

system has been subject to modelling by YWS in the past and it is 
understood that they are reviewing this with a view to resolving the 
issues for which they are responsible. It is therefore not proposed to 
take any further action other than to liaise with YWS as required. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Liaise with YWS in developing their hydraulic model. 
 

5.8  Hotspot 6: Heworth 

 
Location and Drainage 
 
Heworth is a suburb 2 km northeast of York. The original development 
of the area is around East Parade, Heworth Road and Heworth Green 
with later 1930s semi-detached houses on Stockton Lane. A 
considerable amount of suburban development has taken place since 
then, leaving Monk Stray as the only significant open space in the 
area. The basic road layout was established by the late 19th century 
and it appears that surface water drainage would have been via minor 
ditches to either the River Foss to the west or Tang Hall Beck to the 
south, both classified as main rivers. The locations of these are still 
very evident and they are critical elements of the surface water 
drainage system of the area.  
 
Older parts of Heworth are served by a combined sewerage system 
while the newer development is drained separately, principally to Tang 
Hall Beck. 
 
Drawing 5.4 shows the area in relation to the River Foss and Tang 
Hall Beck. 

Page 85



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 67 
 

 
Drawing 5.4: Heworth, the River Foss and Tang Hall Beck  

 
Flooding 

 
The area that flooded in 2007 is located between the A1036 Malton 
Road and Stockton Lane adjacent to Monk Stray. Flooding of the 
highway occurred along Straylands Grove and in localised areas of 
Elmpark View/Way. The area is very flat and clay extraction and brick 
manufacture have been previous uses. As a result there are several 
ponds of various sizes, as well as known filled areas.  
 
Analysis 
 
The area was modelled and the findings are recorded in their report 
(Appendix 1) as Hotspot 6 (Heworth): 
 
Records from the 2007 event indicate flooding of the highway along 
Straylands Grove and localised areas of flooding in Elmpark 
View/Way junction.   Additionally localised highway flooding is 
indicated to the west of Malton Road on Elmfield Avenue. The 
Environment Agency Surface Water flooding maps indicate more 
extensive shallow flooding along Elmpark View and Elmpark Way but 

Page 86



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 68 
 

less extensive flooding along Straylands Grove.  Localised flooding on 
Elmfield Avenue is replicated well in the Environment Agency maps.   
 
Results from the model indicate commencement of highway flooding 
in Elmfield Avenue in the 1in 30 yr event.  Model results indicate 
extensive highway flooding along Straylands, Elmpark View and 
Elmpark Way during the 1in 75 yr event.  Results from the 1 in 200 yr 
results indicate significant numbers of properties at risk.   
 
Confidence in model results is considered good.  
 
The flooding in this area is localised in natural low points, exacerbated 
by the underlying clay preventing infiltration.  Infiltration measures are 
therefore unlikely to prove suitable for this area.  One approach which 
could contribute significantly to the reduction of surface water flooding 
would be to reduce the amount of run-off entering the existing 
drainage system.  By retrofitting source control attenuation and 
storage SUDS we can interrupt run-off and delay its entry into the 
underground drainage system, helping to manage peaks in flow.  
Pathway SUDS such as swales could potentially help to slow run-off 
as well, although these may be more difficult to design into the 
existing urban landscape.  Source control SUDS measures 
appropriate for retrofitting are explained in more detail in the table in 
Appendix F.   

 
Given that we are dealing with an existing urban area with limited 
available land, it is likely that property scale measures such as water 
butts, rainwater harvesting, permeable driveways and disconnection of 
downpipes will prove the most achievable and best value for money 
(based on research, including: Environment Agency science report 
SC060024, Cost Benefit of SUDS Retrofit in Urban Areas, SNIFFER 
report: Retrofitting Sustainable Urban Water Solutions" and "Stovin 
and Swan (2007)”). 
 
Depending on site specifics, however, there may be potential for other 
measures such as green roofs, community rainwater harvesting and 
street scale permeable paving to be considered. 
 
No investigation has yet been carried out in this area as the flood risk 
to property is not severe and while it is believed that the drainage 
infrastructure is in good condition and operates effectively this should 
be checked. The fundamental problem in this area, as identified in the 

Page 87



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 69 
 

modelling report, is its flatness and the clay ground which rules out 
any form of infiltration drainage.  
 
While property level attenuation may provide some relief this would be 
dependent on individual householders implementing and maintaining 
measures, which they would have to pay for. They would need to be 
convinced of their potential effectiveness, to understand how they 
work and be aware of what maintenance would be required. In making 
a decision as to whether it is worthwhile for them to make such an 
investment they would have to assess this against the relatively 
infrequent inconvenience of shallow road flooding, which they may not 
perceive as a high risk.  
 
It is considered unlikely that householders would make a decision to 
implement such measures on the basis of their experience of flooding 
to date and theoretical future risk. Additionally it is doubtful how much 
impact the relatively small volume of storage that could be created at 
property level, should it all be available at the required time, would 
make on the overall flood risk in the area.  
 
Recommendation 
 
CYC and YWS will ensure surface water drainage infrastructure is in 
good condition as assumed and monitor effect of future rainfall events. 

Other flooding 
 
Extensive flooding has also been recorded several times on Malton 
Road adjacent to Heworth Golf Club, affecting a 500m length of both 
sides of the carriageway. Investigations have found a lack of ditch and 
pipe maintenance to be the main cause of the problem but this is 
undoubtedly compounded by the significant increase in impermeable 
area that drains to the system. A comparison of aerial photographs 
from 2002 and 2007 shows the overall road width to have been 
increased by almost 25% with the addition of pedestrian/cycle tracks 
on both sides, where there were formerly verges, and a bus lane. It is 
known that no consideration was given to improving the drainage 
system to take the extra flows generated from this extra impermeable 
area and it is therefore unsurprising that flood risk has increased at 
this location.   
 
Recommendation 

 

Page 88



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 70 
 

CYC will liaise with the golf club to clear its ditch and will carry out 
further investigations into the watercourse running through the Stray. It 
will also work with highway design and maintenance engineers to 
ensure that they are aware of the importance of managing flood risk 
properly in their designs. 

5.9  Hotspot 8: Acomb 

Location and Drainage 
 
Acomb is a large suburb 3.6 km west of the centre of York extending 
from Woodthorpe in the south to the River Ouse in the north, Holgate 
in the east and the Outer Ring Road in the west. It encompasses the 
A59 Boroughbridge Road and the B1224 Wetherby Road. One of the 
highest areas of York, peaking roughly along the line of the Wetherby 
Road, it falls southwards through Westfield to Woodthorpe and 
northwards to the River Ouse. 
 
Drainage of north Acomb 
 
Natural drainage northwards is by Carr Drain which originally flowed 
from near Walton Place in the Chapelfields estate. There is no trace of 
this now and the first evidence of it is where, in open ditch, it forms 
part of the north western boundary of Acomb cricket ground west of 
Acomb Green. From there it is culverted under Croftway and 
Wetherby Road and flows northwards in open ditch behind nos. 5 to 
47 Danebury Drive. It is then culverted again for a distance of 
approximately 1 km through a large area of inter and post war 
housing, and under Boroughbridge Road. Access to the culverted 
lengths is very restricted and the precise route is not recorded, though 
it is roughly indicated by reference to former field boundaries on 
historical maps. 
 
Changing name to Ing Cliffs Drain, the watercourse then forms the 
western boundary of the Sovereign Park development as an Ainsty 
(2008) IDB maintained watercourse before being culverted again 
under the southern end of the York Northwest development area 
(formerly the British Sugar works) and the railway (East Coast Main 
Line). It finally flows in open watercourse to the River Ouse through 
the water treatment works. 
 
The majority of the housing areas, through which Carr Drain and Ing 
Cliffs Drain pass, are separately sewered. Although not entirely clear, 

Page 89



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 71 
 

it is likely that these sewers ultimately flow into this watercourse. A 
large part of the area through which the culvert passes is Council 
housing and it is assumed that culverting was carried out satisfactorily 
at the time and that ownership and riparian responsibility was clear. 
However, with the mass sale of Council housing over the past 
decades it is likely that there are many private house owners who are 
unaware of the presence of the watercourse, though it is still likely to 
be a Council owned asset. The culvert also passes through private 
housing and responsibility in these areas is likely to be individual 
riparian, though it is likely that house owners are unaware of the 
presence of this strategic watercourse in their property or their 
liabilities for it. This issue is not unique to this area.  
 
The historic drainage routes in relation to the current development are 
shown on drawing 5.5. 

 
Drawing 5.5: Historic Drainage Routes in north Acomb 
 
 
 
 
 
Drainage of south Acomb 
 

Page 90



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 72 
 

The southern part of Acomb comprises the original village centred 
around Front Street, which is served by a combined sewerage system, 
and a large area of inter and post war housing further south which is 
separately sewered.  
 
An examination of historical maps showing the area prior to 
development indicate the presence of a minor watercourse, Gale Lane 
Drain, half way down Gale Lane, and it is likely that a network of field 
drains conveyed flows to this. This flows to Acomb Moor Drain and is 
now an Ainsty (2008) IDB maintained culvert. Its route is not clear, but 
it passes though an area of largely Council housing around St 
Stephens Road and private housing near Foxwood Lane. The route of 
Acomb Moor Drain itself, flowing west to east and over 1 km long, is 
now Foxwood Lane. The drain is culverted along Foxwood Lane and 
is an Ainsty (2008) maintained watercourse discharging to the YWS 
Foxwood Lane surface water pumping station. This pumps flows 
onwards to Holgate Beck.  

 
Further south, Moor Drain is shown on the historic maps, running from 
agricultural land at the western boundary of Woodthorpe eastwards to 
Hob Moor to Holgate Beck, a distance of almost 2 km. The route of 
the majority of this is untraceable due to development, mostly private 
housing. The first length is culverted between late 1970s houses and 
is thought to be about 900mm in diameter though it has not been seen 
by the Council’s engineers. It then forms the southern boundary of 
Acomb Wood and from the eastern end of the wood is culverted for a 
distance of approximately 425 m through dense private housing and 
then a further 550 m through a Council housing area. There are few if 
any known access points and no knowledge of a definitive route.  It is 
not known if the surface water sewers from the housing are connected 
to it, and it is unlikely that any of the residents are aware of its 
presence or their probable responsibilities as riparian owners. 
 
The historic drainage routes in relation to the current development are 
shown on drawing 5.6. 

 

Page 91



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 73 
 

 
Drawing 5.6: Historic Drainage Routes in south Acomb Westfield 
and Woodthorpe 
 
Holgate Beck 
 
Holgate Beck, into which all of the above watercourses discharge, 
flows northwards through Holgate, ultimately discharging to the River 
Ouse at Water End. It also picks up flows from the Hobgate and 
Moorgate area in Holgate. This tributary was culverted through a 
privately owned housing area from Hobgate to the south end of Lady 
Hamilton Gardens by York City Council in the early 1970s. The route 
of this is unrecorded though it is likely to follow the watercourse line 
visible on the historic maps. It is thought that access may be available 
in some gardens. Once again residents may be unaware of its 
presence or their probable responsibilities as riparian owners. 

 
At the confluence of Holgate Beck with the River Ouse is a pumping 
station owned by the EA which prevents backflow into the beck from 
the river protecting lower lying areas in the Hamilton Drive area of 
Holgate from fluvial flooding. To provide further relief from flooding in 
the same area, which could be caused more directly by the beck, 
there is a flood relief culvert which intercepts flow from the beck on 
Hob Moor south of the housing area and conveys it, via a culvert laid 

Page 92



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 74 
 

under the racecourse, to the River Ouse south of the city near 
Bishopthorpe. 

 
Ground conditions 
 
Ground conditions in the Acomb area are perhaps the most variable in 
the whole of the Council’s area. The northern part is predominantly 
sand and gravel while further south there is silt and clay. This is 
evidenced by Acomb Green, a triangular hollow formed by the 
extraction of sand, and former brick extraction pits, now filled, in the 
vicinity of Gale Lane. Underlying the whole area are lenses of running 
sand, which break the surface locally at Fishponds Wood, situated 
between Danebury Drive and Rosedale Avenue. This is the site of an 
old pond which was filled in before 1950 but a continuous trickle of 
water still flows from it downwards towards Danebury Drive. 
  
Flooding 
 
The most persistent and longstanding flooding problem in the Acomb 
area occurs at the junction of Carr Lane, Boroughbridge Road and 
Ouseacres in the northern part. At least ten gardens and one property 
are known to have suffered flooding.  
 
Analysis 

 
The area was modelled and the findings are recorded in the report 
(Appendix 1) as Hotspot 8 (Acomb): 
 
Records from the 2007 flood event indicate highway flooding along 
Ouse Acres. The Environment Agency Surface Water maps indicate 
deep flooding at the northerly end of Ouse Acres but additionally 
localised flooding along Carr Lane.  The area at risk at the northerly 
end of Ouse Acres is considered to be at risk from fluvial flood risk 
rather than surface flooding and is therefore excluded from the hot 
spot area. 
 
Results from the modelling study indicate commencement of highway 
flooding along Carr Lane in the 1 in 30 yr event.  Flooding along the 
southerly end of Ouse Acres is not replicated even for higher order 
events.  The 1 in 200 yr event indicates some property flooding. 
 
Comparison of blocked gully scenarios with baseline simulations 
indicates that flooded areas and depths are similar. 

Page 93



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 75 
 

 
Confidence in model results is considered good. 
 
This problem has occurred over many decades and can affect up to 
11 properties in a low area of Carr Lane near its junction with 
Boroughbridge Road. The area is predicted to be affected by flooding 
in the FMfSW, with both shallow flooding from a 1 in 30 year event 
and deep flooding from a 1 in 200 year event affecting properties. 
However, the frequency of observed flooding is indicative of 
infrastructure failure. The flooding has in the past been attributed to 
‘rainfall beyond the design capacity of the system’ but this is not 
thought to be the case on the basis of the modelling and observed 
flood events. Previous attempts have been made to alleviate the 
flooding, including removing a tree, installing two additional gullies on 
the odd-numbered side, CCTV inspection and two repairs, but met 
with little success. An apparent increase in the frequency of flooding 
and increasing pressure from one of the residents instigated a more 
detailed investigation which commenced in 2009. 

 
An uncharted highway drain was found in Carr Lane which was found 
at various locations to be blocked with silt, an inflatable bag-stopper, 
long length of nylon rope, large slabs of stone, broken pieces of pipe 
and tree roots. This has been extensively jetted, cleaned and 
surveyed by CCTV with the defective lengths repaired. A particular 
problem at this location is drives that fall away from the back of 
footpath to the properties. To prevent flow from the highway entering 
the drives additional gullies have been installed and the footpaths 
outside all of the affected properties have either been raised and/or 
cut-off channels installed. An existing gully was also enlarged at the 
junction with Boroughbridge Road to intercept run-off into Carr Lane.  
 
The gullies on both sides of Boroughbridge Road, from its junction 
with Water Lane to Ings Cliff Drain, were checked. Some were found 
to be blocked and were subsequently cleared. An uncharted highway 
drain blocked with tree roots was found on the northern side of the 
road and was cleared by jetting along with a concrete obstruction and 
siltation. However, flooding of the highway in Carr Lane has recurred 
and further investigations have shown evidence of surcharge in both 
the highway drain and YWS's foul sewer to which some of the gullies 
are connected. There is also a YWS surface water sewer on the 
southern side of Boroughbridge Road which discharges to Ings Cliff 
Drain.  
 

Page 94



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 76 
 

The opportunity was taken during a closure of Carr Lane to carry out 
further investigation and the remaining 10m section of highway drain 
was jetted up to the YWS public surface water sewer in 
Boroughbridge Road. The surface water sewer was found to be 
obstructed with large amounts of silt and rubble directly preventing the 
effective draining of Carr Lane. YWS raised two buried manholes on 
their surface water sewer in Boroughbridge Road and cleared their 
pipework. 
 
YWS surveyed their foul/combined sewers in Carr Lane and 
Boroughbridge Road and found a large accumulation of fat. This was 
causing partial blockages and had a significant effect on flow. This has 
been cleared by YWS and the will monitor the effect of this action. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Continue investigation in conjunction with YWS, and monitor effect of 
future rainfall events. CYC has installed two additional conventional 
gullies in Carr Lane to prevent flow running past arterial (within 
kerbline) gullies and the effect of this will be monitored. 

 
 

Page 95



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 77 
 

5.10  Hotspot 10a: Westfield 

 
 Location and Drainage 
 
 Westfield is the southern part of Acomb centred around Foxwood 

Lane and the drainage of the area is described in section 8 and shown 
on Drawing 5.6. 

 
 Flooding 
 
 Highway flooding occurred in 2007 affecting Huntsman’s Walk but did 

not affect properties. 
 
 Analysis 
 
 The area was modelled and the findings are recorded in the report 

(Appendix 1) as Hotspot 10a (Westfield): 
 

Records from the 2007 event indicate flooding of the highway along 
Huntman’s Walk.  The Environment Agency Surface Water maps 
indicate flooding centred around a similar area with deep flooding of 
Thornwood Covert and Huntman’s Walk.  Shallow flooding of 
property is predicted.   
 
Results from the modelling indicate commencement of highway 
flooding in the 1 in 75 yr with more extensive highway flooding in the 
1in 200 yr event along Huntman’s Walk and Thornwood Covert.  
Baseline simulations are less extensive than Environment Agency 
outlines, and very limited property flooding is indicated.  
Comparison of baseline and blocked gully simulations, indicate 
blocked simulation show more consistent flooding with areas of 
flooding/not flooding combining along the highway.  Differences 
between blocked and unblocked scenarios are relatively small.   
 
Confidence in model results is considered good.  

 
Due to the relative lack of severity of the surface water flooding 
recorded in 2007 no investigations have been carried out at this 
location. 
 
Recommendation 
 

Page 96



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 78 
 

Ensure surface water drainage infrastructure is maintained and 
monitor effect of future rainfall events. 

 

Page 97



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
6  DISCUSSION OF ANALYSIS AND ASSESSMENT OF RISK 
 
 Discussion 
 
6.1 The next stage in the Defra SWMP guidance following modelling and 

analysis is mapping and communication of flood risk. It has been 
established that the PFRA did not identify any areas of significant risk 
in accordance with its definition, but the SWMP provides the 
opportunity to define flood risk on the basis of locally agreed criteria, 
which will then be used to prioritise work in the local strategy for flood 
risk management. 

 
6.2 Paragraph 2.3 suggests potential criteria for defining local flood risk, 

and this will be the subject of debate in compiling the Local Strategy. It 
has been established by the detailed modelling for this study that the 
FMfSW provides good guidance as to where surface water flooding 
may occur. However, it is not considered that it is, or will ever be, 
sufficiently accurate to be used to identify flood risk areas with any 
certainty for action in the strategy. Realistically actions will only relate 
to known problems of flooding, not theoretical, and therefore any 
action plan will be generic and non specific in terms of locations for 
this Council’s area. Actions will be driven by future events as well as 
dealing with those problems that have already been identified. 

 

Page 98



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 80 
 

6.3 As stated previously no incidences of widespread or frequent major 
surface water flooding have been recorded, but flooding that has 
occurred has been dispersed and usually affected small areas. A 
sample of these events have been modelled and investigated and no 
major schemes have been identified as being necessary. This section 
therefore discusses the analyses of the sample study areas, considers 
how representative they are of the wider situation, sets out conclusions 
and makes recommendations based on them.  

 

6.4  This study has provided an opportunity to check the EA’s Flood risk 
mapping with small scale area specific modelling at eight locations. 
This modelling has consistently shown the FMfSW map provides good 
indicative guidance of flood risk. The FMfSW mapping shows 
indicative affected areas for two flood events: 

 
• 1 in 30 annual chance for two depth bandings (greater than 0.1m 

and greater than 0.3m). 
• 1 in 200 annual chance for two depth bandings (greater than 0.1m 

and greater than 0.3m). 
 
6.5  The site specific modelling produced flood depth maps for the 

following rainfall return periods: 
 

• 1 in 30 year (3.3%) 
• 1 in 75 year (1.33%) 
• 1 in 100 year (1%) 
• 1 in 100 year plus 30% to allow for future urbanisation and climate 

change 
• 1 in 200 year (0.5%) 

6.6  Throughout this study the site specific modelling has shown a close 
correlation with the FMfSW. Both models make assumptions regarding 
the capacity of surface water drainage infrastructure and have 
provided reliable guidance of the potential location, extent and 
probability of flooding.  

 
6.7  While the FMfSW provided an indicative overview, the site specific 

modelling was able to target areas and verify scenarios for different 
levels of efficiency of the infrastructure i.e. to model not only the 

Page 99



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 81 
 

theoretical capacity of the system and the effects of exceedance on 
the area for different return periods, but also the effect of blockages 
and deficiencies. 

 
6.8  A common theme that has emerged in those areas investigated is that 

the effects of flooding have been greater than predicted by both 
models. This has often been either more frequent or more extensive 
than modelled and in some cases both. This is invariably an indication 
of defective infrastructure limiting the capacity of the system. 

 
6.9  The modelling report frequently concluded that this aggravation of 

flooding was caused by defective infrastructure, suggesting the cause 
to be either blocked gullies or blocked pipes. Investigations have 
confirmed this to be the case at most locations, highlighting a long 
term legacy of neglect in the maintenance of surface water 
infrastructure. Frequently, where the suggested cause of flooding has 
been the blockage and/or insufficient number of gullies, the 
investigation has found it to be a more fundamental blockage of the 
gully connections and pipe network, preventing the gullies working. 
The causes of blockage were usually found to be root infiltration, silt or 
damage due to utility or other excavations, and often a combination of 
all of these. 

 
6.10  The investigations have also highlighted that a lack of knowledge of 

the location of the infrastructure, especially CYC highway drainage, is 
also a contributory factor in the lack of maintenance, a point which was 
raised in Section 3: Available Information. This is a longstanding issue 
which is discussed further in the next section, Maintenance and Asset 
Management. 

 
6.11  In addition to the sample areas covered by this study, investigations, 

usually triggered by highway flooding, have also been carried out in 
the following areas over the past six years: 

 
• Rufforth 
• Foxwood 
• Woodthorpe 
• Bishopthorpe 
• Wheldrake 
• Naburn 

Page 100



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 82 
 

• Elvington 
• Stockton on Forest 
• Dunnington 

 
6.12  Every investigation has located unrecorded poorly maintained 

infrastructure essential to the efficient operation of the drainage 
system. The findings from these investigations are consistent in 
confirming that the sample analysed in the study is representative of 
the citywide situation.  

 
 Maintenance and Asset Management 
 
6.13  The national standard for highway maintenance is Well-Maintained 

Highways - Code of Practice for Highway Maintenance Management 
(CoP) published by the Roads Liaison Group (2005, latest update 16 
January 2012).  There are two other Codes of Practice that cover 
highway structures and lighting. Relevant extracts from this CoP are 
included in Appendix 3 and are: 
• Section 9.11: Service inspection Of Highway Drainage Systems 

• Section 10.7: Condition Of Highway Drainage Systems 

• Section 14.4: Flooding From Inadequate Drainage 

6.14  The Council published its first Transport Asset Management Plan 
(TAMP) in 2006 and this confirms (para.1.5) that the CoPs “...set out 
an acceptable approach to maintenance. They specify certain core 
standards and give guidance for development of other standards 
based on local decisions. The Code of Practice approach will be 
adopted as part of the York asset management plan”. There are no 
declarations of any departures from the CoP in the TAMP so it is 
assumed that the Council’s highway maintenance should be carried 
out generally in accordance with it. 

 
6.15  This first version of the TAMP was a statement of the existing situation 

with an identification of performance gaps. The principle of the Asset 
Management process is to be able to manage the highway assets on a 
lifecycle planning basis. Subsequent versions would update the plan 
with more information as performance gaps were addressed. 

 
 
 

Page 101



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 83 
 

 
 

6.16  Paragraph 1.3 of the TAMP, included in Appendix 2, estimates there to 
be  approximately 40,000 carriageway gullies in the Council’s area. In 
order to produce a TAMP within the required timescale many 
assumptions and estimates had to be made, due to the lack of records 
and limited resources to produce them, and this was identified as a 
performance gap to be addressed. Yorkshire Water Authority found 
itself in a similar situation with their public sewer records in the 1980s 
and invested heavily in locational surveys. This allowed the extent and 
condition of their assets to be recorded and assessed enabling future 
maintenance requirements to be programmed, and this should be the 
aim for CYC’s highway drainage system. 

 
6.17  Residential and commercial areas are invariably served by sewerage 

systems, and while it is not always apparent where they ultimately 
discharge to, it is a fair assumption that gullies are connected to them. 
The citywide desktop study of the location of gullies on the Exor 
database against the YWS sewer records, referred to in paragraph 
3.2, has shown that some 2,000, 5% of the total number, have no 
obvious drainage infrastructure to which they could be connected. A 
significant number of these missing records affect major arterial roads 
into and around the City, as detailed in paragraph 3.2, and the lack of 
information can severely affect the time taken to remedy highway 
flooding at these locations. Two such recent incidents are detailed in 
paragraph 3.3. 

 

6.18  Section 10.0 of the TAMP is included as Appendix 2. This covers 
highway drainage and subsection 10.2: Routine Maintenance defines 
the service provided. It states:  

 
• Routine carriageway gully cleaning is carried out at: 6 monthly 
intervals on tree lined streets, arterial routes into the city centre and 
the city centre and annually on all other gullies 

 
• All reactive gully cleans not causing an immediate hazard to road 
users or properties have been carried out on Fridays, a list being 
faxed to the contractor every Thursday. Recently this has been 
extended to a daily planned schedule, achieving additional savings 
and efficiency. 

Page 102



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 84 
 

 
• Routine grip cutting is carried out annually, in late summer / early 
autumn. 

 
• Drain clearance is carried out on a reactive basis following defect 
reports. 

 
Comment 

• The frequency of gully cleaning has been reduced in the six years 
since the publication of the TAMP due to budget cuts. Prior to 
changes introduced in 2012/13 the authority carried out scheduled 
annual cleans on all road gullies and a further clean where account 
had to be taken of leaf burden which had an adverse effect on the 
ability of gullies to function in times of precipitation. This was already 
a reduction in service from the TAMP.  

 
• Blockages of the pipe system serving gullies renders them 
ineffective, and cleaning gullies in isolation often does not address 
the cause of flooding problems. Therefore the performance of all of 
the elements of the highway drainage infrastructure needs to be 
confirmed and optimised,  

 
• Currently the only gullies that are cleaned on a scheduled annual 
basis are those on the defined network of primary and secondary 
gritting routes shown in Appendix 5. Gullies which are reported as 
defective and are not on the gritting routes are responded to on a 
reactive basis. Future gully cleaning needs to be planned on the 
principles of flood risk management. 

 
• It is a false economy to minimise scheduled gully cleaning and rely 
on reactive cleaning. There are major efficiencies in proactive bulk 
cleaning on a scheduled basis and this would reduce the number of 
expensive one-off reactive visits which can disrupt routine work. It 
would also enable flood risk to be managed more effectively. 

 
• The current priority of scheduled cleaning of gullies only on gritting 
routes is flawed, and is not based on flood risk management 
requirements. Locations that have suffered surface water flooding, 
affecting the highway as well as property, are unlikely to be on 

Page 103



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 85 
 

gritting routes, but are most likely to be residential areas. As this 
study has shown, lack of routine maintenance in such areas can 
aggravate the effects of surface water flooding.  

 
• Routine cutting of existing grips in rural locations is carried out but 
due to resource limitations there are no new grips cut. 

 
• There has been no statement of change of Council policy or review 
or revision of the TAMP. This should be reviewed. 
 

• Routine or reactive gully cleaning only involves the emptying of the 
gully pot and does not include the checking of connections to ensure 
that the gullies work as recommended in para 10.7.4 of the CoP. 
Therefore problems frequently recur but due to a lack of a 
monitoring system are unlikely to be investigated. 

 
6.17  Section 10.4 of the TAMP identifies performance gaps. It 

acknowledges that “The accuracy of inventory records for highway 
drainage ranges from approximate (carriageway gullies) to non 
existent (footway channels). It is proposed to collect inventory data for 
all surface drainage infrastructure during the carriageway and footway 
inventory surveys. A system is being introduced to record all 
subsurface drainage on the (highway management) Exor system, as 
and when details are confirmed by works or investigations”. 

 
 
 Comment 

 
• The proposed method of data collection during inventory surveys 
has severe limitations and is very unlikely to produce the required 
information. There is frequently no indication of sub-surface 
drainage infrastructure on the surface and the only way to locate it is 
to commence a locational survey by excavation.  

 
• The funding for investigations of highway drainage related flooding 
problems (ref para 3.3) has been effective in producing inventory 
information and where possible the opportunity is taken to remedy 
faults. Evidence of this approach is recorded in section 5. Progress 
has been made in recording the information on Exor but it should be 
noted that the funding only became available in response to 

Page 104



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 86 
 

flooding. If this had not occurred it is unlikely that any progress 
would have been made in recording highway drainage assets, as 
required in the TAMP. Regardless of flood risk, funding should be 
available to improve the inventory information and efficiency of 
maintenance. 

 
• The investigations often start with little or no information and are 
very labour intensive requiring direction by suitably experienced 
drainage engineers. It is estimated that perhaps 10% - 15% of the 
missing information has been acquired to date and therefore a future 
commitment to funding is required to enable further infrastructure to 
be located, repaired and recorded. The Local Strategy will provide 
guidance on triggers for instigating statutory investigations.  

 
6.18  Section 10.4.2 of the TAMP states “There are no routine maintenance 

programmes for inspection and clearance of sewers, drains, catchpits 
and manholes. At present all such work is reactive following a fault 
report. When the inventory survey is complete it is proposed to 
investigate the introduction of such programmes in order to reduce 
reactive work by proactive intervention”.  

 Comment 

• There are still no routine maintenance programmes for these items, 
and as stated above routine maintenance of gullies is now minimal. 
As infrastructure is located and repaired it will be in serviceable 
condition but consideration needs to be given to routine future 
maintenance to ensure that the condition of these assets do not 
deteriorate again through future neglect.  

 

Page 105



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
7 CONCUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Conclusions 

7.1  The conclusions arrived at from this study, which are also confirmed 
by investigations at other locations across the Council’s area are:-  

 
7.1.1 The location of much of the highway drainage infrastructure is 

unrecorded and its condition consequently unknown. This 
makes effective and efficient targeting of maintenance 
resources difficult and as a result work tends to be reactive. 

 
7.1.2 When culverted watercourses and ditches have been located 

during investigations riparian owners are often unaware of their 
presence or strategic importance, or of their responsibilities for 
its maintenance. 

 
7.1.3 Drainage infrastructure, especially watercourses and land 

drainage, is often inaccessible due to development. 
 
7.1.4 Development has often paid little regard to the pre-existing 

natural flow paths and drainage infrastructure. For example 
former field drains and minor watercourses have frequently 
been filled during development, or inadequately piped in with no 
record of location or provision of any access points for 
maintenance. There is still a danger of this occurring without 
adequate consultation with the Flood Risk Management team 
during the development control process. 

 
7.1.5 Blockage of pipes, ditches and culverts in Council, YWS and 

private ownership is common and with no inspection or 
maintenance regime cannot be monitored. 
 

7.1.6 Pipes and culverts are commonly blocked with silt and roots. 
  
7.1.7 Damage to pipes and culverts by the utility companies is 

common. 
 
7.1.8 Maintenance of known infrastructure beyond the emptying of 

gullies is poor or non existent. When gullies are cleaned 
connections are not checked so re-blocking is common.  

Page 106



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 88 
 

 
7.1.9 Funding for maintenance of highway infrastructure, in particular 

gully cleaning, has been reduced annually over successive 
years to a point where it is now mainly a reactive operation. 
Such routine gully emptying that is carried out is generally not in 
the areas that suffer surface water flooding.  

 
7.1.10 Repairs to drainage systems and attempts at remedying 

flooding problems have often been badly executed and ill 
thought out with no regard to a holistic solution based on 
knowledge of the drainage of the area. Often these have not 
been effective, or have aggravated the problem. 

 
7.1.11 Designs for road alterations e.g. speed tables, road and 

footpath widening and the creation of cycle paths, can affect 
existing drainage infrastructure and should be designed to take 
this into account, ideally incorporating the use of SUDS. Such 
alterations can significantly increase impermeable areas and 
increase flood risk. Alterations can also physically affect the 
drainage of a site and the ease of access for maintenance. 
While this would be important anywhere it is an essential 
consideration in such a flat area. If not considered as an 
integral part of the design it can cause or aggravate flooding. 

 
 Recommendations 

7.2  On the basis of the conclusions from the study it is recommended 
that:-  

 
7.2.1 A commitment is made to fund continuing investigations to 

locate unrecorded drainage infrastructure in those areas where 
information is unavailable, prioritised to where there are known 
flooding problems. The information should be recorded on a 
geo-referenced database, such as Exor, which can be used as 
a management tool. 

 
 Reason: It is not possible to have a planned maintenance 

regime if there is no record of the location and condition of the 
infrastructure to be maintained.  

 

Page 107



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 89 
 

7.2.2  A commitment is made to carry out repair work to damaged 
infrastructure already identified, prioritised to where there are 
known flooding problems, and remedial action taken to ensure 
that the performance of the existing surface water infrastructure 
is optimised. 
 

 Reason: To minimise flood risk by ensuring that the existing 
infrastructure is effective. 

 
7.2.3 Future maintenance is scheduled rather than reactive and 

based on the requirements of the highway maintenance 
service.  

 
 Reason: To enable effective budgeting for and planning of 

future maintenance and to make the most efficient use of 
resources. 

 
7.2.4 The effects of future rainfall events are monitored at known 

flood risk locations, though this is likely to be a reactive process.  
 
 Reason: To check the effectiveness of works carried out. 

 
 
7.2.5 CYC liaise with YWS to agree ownership of previously 

unrecorded assets. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that future maintenance responsibility is 

clear. 
 
7.2.6 Riparian owners are made aware of their obligations with regard 

to maintenance of flows as assets are found. 
 
 Reason: To ensure that future maintenance responsibility is 

clear. 
 
7.2.7 CYC liaise with the relevant utility companies to remove their 

equipment where it has been found to have damaged the 
drainage system. 

 
 Reason: To minimise flood risk by ensuring that the existing 

infrastructure is effective 

Page 108



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 90 
 

 
7.2.8 Flood Risk Management should be an integral part of highway 

alteration and maintenance design. 
 
 Reason: To minimise flood risk by ensuring that the impact of 

proposed addition and alterations to existing highway 
infrastructure, including allowances for climate change, is 
factored into designs. 

 
7.2.8 The Transport Asset Management Plan should be reviewed and 

updated. 
 
 Reason: To enable the highway network to be managed 

holistically.  
 
7.2.9 The Flood Risk Management Team continues to play a 

proactive role in the development control process to ensure that 
there is compliance with all relevant guidance. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that future development does not increase 

flood risk. 
 
7.3  These conclusions, together with the following action plan, will be used 

in the preparation of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.  

Page 109



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 91 
 

8  ACTION PLAN FOR THE FUTURE MANAGEMENT OF 
SURFACE WATER 

 
8.1  The objectives of the study, as detailed in paragraph 2.24, were:  

 
1) A clear understanding of the causes of flooding at each 

location investigated. 
 
2) A record of the infrastructure serving the location and its 

condition and ownership. 
 
3) A validation of the EA Flood Map for Surface Water.  
 
4) Recommendations for future maintenance to prevent a 

repetition of the problem. 
 
5) An understanding of how representative the findings are of 

the situation citywide.  
 
6) Recommendations for further investigation. 
 
7) Recommendations for further work. 
 
8) Advice and information to local authority planners. 

 
8.2  Through the modelling and investigation work the study has 

achieved objectives 1 to 7. The recurrent conclusion throughout 
the study has been that neglect of drainage infrastructure in all 
ownerships has been deficient over a long period of time and that 
a significant backlog of maintenance needs to be addressed to 
enable future surface water flood risk to be managed. 

 
8.3  It has also become clear from the investigations that poor control 

of development in the past has affected natural drainage paths 
and that increased impermeable areas both in developments and 
highway alterations have aggravated flooding problems. In order 
to minimise the further effect of this, flood risk management must 
be an integral part of development management and highway 
design, and this will address objective 8. 

 

Page 110



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 92 
 

8.4  The study has therefore identified two actions for the future 
management of surface water flood risk. No other actions have 
been identified: 

 
• Maintenance of assets. 
• Control of development. 

 
Maintenance of Assets 
 
8.5  The study has identified very serious shortfalls in both past and 

current maintenance of surface water drainage assets (Refer to 
conclusions paragraphs 7.1.1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10). These 
assets are principally in the ownership of CYC and YWS, 
although some are privately owned. The IDBs rarely if ever own 
assets but have a responsibility to maintain flow in or through 
them. They have permissive responsibilities only. 

 
8.6  Investigations have clearly identified that neglect of this 

infrastructure by all owners has been either the cause of flooding 
or has aggravated it. Furthermore it has clearly identified that 
there are very poor records of the highway drainage infrastructure 
throughout the Council’s area. Even if funding were available 
maintenance would be very difficult to prioritise on the basis of 
existing information.  

 
8.7  In the areas modelled specifically for the study the EA’s FMfSW 

has been shown to provide good general guidance to the location 
of areas likely to suffer surface water flooding. In view of the 
topography of the Council’s area and observations and 
investigations in other areas it has been concluded that the 
FMfSW provides good guidance throughout the Council’s area. 
However, it is not considered that this mapping of theoretical flood 
risk can be used to plan routine maintenance, but it will continue 
to be used in conjunction with future investigations. It is not 
proposed to carry out any further modelling, but that carried out 
has been used by the EA to update the FMfSW.   

 
8.8  Since 2008/09 funding has been made available through the 

highway maintenance service to investigate surface water 
flooding, driven by the flooding which occurred in June 2007. Of 
necessity this has taken a holistic approach, identifying and 
recording the location and condition of drainage assets as found, 

Page 111



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 93 
 

to enable the effective management of future flood risk. From a 
highway maintenance and asset management point of view this 
has had the benefit of providing information on the highway 
drainage infrastructure to address the performance gap identified 
in the TAMP in 2006, but without the flooding occurring it is 
unlikely that any progress would have been made on this issue. 
Priorities for investigation have been driven by targeting known 
flood risk areas. 

 
8.9  The funding that has been available to date is a total of £855k: 

 
2008/09  £200k 
2009/10  £200k 
2010/11  £235k 
2011/12  £55k 
2012/13  £165k 

 
8.10  On completion of the ongoing investigations in the current 

financial year, it is estimated that progress will have been made in 
investigating, rectifying problems and collecting data, in 
approximately 10% to 15% of the Council’s area where 
information is lacking. The study has shown that uncertainties 
over ownership can affect the progress and conclusion of 
investigations, and continuing liaison with flood risk management 
partners will be required. However, regardless of ownership or 
responsibility the location of the infrastructure will be recorded, 
and flood risk will be better understood, fulfilling the Council’s 
responsibilities as LLFA. 

 
8.11  It is estimated that further funding of approximately £5m will be 

needed, calculated on a pro-rata basis, to complete investigations 
citywide and to collect and record information and remedy 
defects. On completion of the work, continued funding will be 
required for maintenance but expenditure can be planned and 
prioritised, rather than being reactive, and therefore maximise 
future efficiency. 

 
8.12  This is clearly a substantial amount, and it has been calculated 

assuming that future investigations will be of the same level of 
complexity. Investigations to date have targeted known flooding 
areas and sought to resolve, in many cases, longstanding 
problems. Future investigations may not be as complex but this 

Page 112



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 94 
 

can only be confirmed once they have commenced, so it is not 
possible to assign specific amounts of funding to particular areas.  

 
8.13  Therefore this estimated amount should be regarded as 

confirmation that ongoing funding is required to address flood risk 
and provide highway asset data. In practical terms the amount 
that can be effectively spent in any year is limited by the 
availability of appropriately skilled resources to direct and carry 
out the work and this should be the determining factor in deciding 
funding levels, together with an ongoing assessment to enable 
higher risk areas to be prioritised. 

 
8.14  An option to do nothing could be considered. Should this be 

chosen, the condition of the drainage infrastructure will continue 
to deteriorate and reactive action will become more frequent, as 
has been already been experienced. This disrupts the planned 
work programmes for both engineers and the workforce, and both 
of these resources are becoming more stretched with reduced 
funding. The two events detailed in paragraph 3.3 can be used to 
make an assessment of the implications of doing nothing and the 
resulting costs.  

 
• On Friday 27 April flooding at the A19/A1237 roundabout 

caused major disruption to the whole of the A1237 outer ring 
road from 7 am to 2 pm as a major part of the roundabout was 
impassable and 1½ to 2 hours were typically added to journey 
times. Resolution of the problem required an investigation to 
locate the drainage system and outlet, which was blocked with 
tree roots. None of the highway drainage routes were 
recorded on any readily accessible database. 

 
 It is difficult to calculate actual losses in a case like this but using 

guidance provided by the Council’s traffic modellers the following 
indicative calculation of economic loss has been made: 

 
 Allow for an assumed 3,000 vehicle movements per hour (peak). 
 Assume all vehicles delayed by average of 1 hour. 
 Assume the duration of disruption to be 4 hours. 
 Assume cost of delay to be an average of £7/vehicle/hour. 
 
  Economic losses = 3,000 x 1 x 4 x £7 = £84,000 
 

Page 113



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 95 
 

 Actual costs incurred in managing the incident and remedying the 
problem: 

 
 An engineer from the Flood Risk management team has spent 

approximately 40 hours dealing with the incident on the day and 
carrying out a subsequent investigation to locate the drainage 
system and manage various contractors.  

 
 40 hours@ £39 = £1,560 
 
 The Flood Risk Manager wrote a report on the incident, which 

took 5 hours. This was not a Section 19 report under the F&WMA.  
 

 5 hours @ £55 = £275 
 
Contractor costs for jetting, CCTV, creating a track to gain access 
to the blocked drain etc. £7,500 
 
 Total costs actually incurred £9,335 
 
None of this was programmed work and therefore there are 
further unquantifiable costs incurred in disrupting routine work.   

 
• On Sunday 10 June the A1079 both carriageways of the Hull 

Road flooded from the outer ring road roundabout to Badger 
Hill. The road was impassable for several hours and a 
subsequent investigation found major silt blockage in both 
highway drains and public sewers. None of the highway 
drainage routes were recorded. In addition 8 properties on the 
Badger Hill estate Way suffered internal flooding. 

 
Once again it is difficult to calculate actual losses but using 
guidance provided by the Council’s traffic modellers the following 
indicative calculation of economic loss has been made: 

 
Allow for an assumed 500 vehicle movements per hour (Sunday 
afternoon) 
Assume all vehicles delayed by average of 0.25 hour. 
Assume the duration of disruption to be 2 hours. 
Assume cost of delay to be an average of £7/vehicle/hour. 
 
 Economic losses = 500 x .25 x 2 x £7 = £1,750 

Page 114



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 96 
 

 
Had the event occurred on a weekday the repercussions would 
have been on the same scale as the A19/A1237 incident as the 
Hull Road is a major route in and out of the City.   
 
Insurance costs for householders – unknown but assume to be 
£5,000 per property = £40,000  
 
Actual costs incurred in managing the incident and remedying the 
problem: 
 
  Emergency callout on Sunday afternoon and plant costs. 
£700 
 

Engineers from the Flood Risk Management team have 
spent approximately 40 hours to date carrying out an 
investigation to locate the drainage system and manage 
various contractors plus extensive liaison with YWS. A 
Section 19 report under the F&WMA is required due to 
the severity of the flooding. 

 
80 hours@ £39 = £3,120 
10 hours @ £55 = £550 
 
Contractor costs for jetting, CCTV, etc. £7,500 

 
  Total costs actually incurred by Council to date £11,870 
 
 None of this was programmed work and therefore had a 

knock on effect on other work of the team.  
 
8.15  The SWMP technical guidance requires LLFAs to consider 

whether a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), an 
Appropriate Assessment (required by the Habitats Directive) or an 
Article 4.7 Water Framework Directive (WFD) assessment is 
required. As the recommendations arising from this study relate to 
the location and subsequent maintenance of existing surface 
water infrastructure and no major works are proposed that will 
have a significant environmental impact, it is therefore considered 
unlikely that a SEA will be required but it will be looked at on a 
case by case basis. 

 
 Maintenance of Assets: Recommendations 

Page 115



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 97 
 

 
 Taking the above into consideration it is recommended that:  
 

1. Annual funding of £200k is made available to continue 
investigations and record data. The hierarchy for 
investigations will be developed in the local strategy based 
on:  

 
a) areas of known flood risk. 
 
b) areas where there are gullies but no recorded 

infrastructure serving them, prioritising principal 
transport routes. 

 
c) other areas. 

 
2. The Transport Asset Management Plan is reviewed and 

updated to reflect the improved asset information available 
from the investigations.  

 
3 Progress on investigations, repairs and data acquisition is 

reported annually to Cabinet as part of the regular review of 
the Local Strategy to enable:  

 
a) requirements for future funding to be reviewed and 

revised as necessary. 
 
d) the effectiveness and efficiency of the maintenance 

regime to be reviewed and amended as necessary, to 
enable any funding changes to be based on real 
efficiencies. 

 
e) residual flood risk to be assessed to determine whether 

specific funding is required to resolve more significant 
flooding problems. 
 

Control of Development 
 
8.16  The study has identified numerous locations where development 

has aggravated flood risk (Refer to conclusions paragraphs 7.1.2, 
3, and 11). It has done this by: 

 

Page 116



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 98 
 

• affecting natural drainage paths; for example former field drains 
and minor watercourses have frequently been filled in during 
development, or inadequately piped in with no consideration of 
future liability or the effects on flood risk to the site or locality. 

 
• Increasing impermeable areas 
 
• adversely affecting access to infrastructure for maintenance. 
 
• creating future maintenance liabilities for which responsibility is 
not established at approval stage. 

 
8.17  While this refers to development sites with planning approval, it 

should be noted that the same problems have occurred as a 
result of highway alterations, ref conclusion 7.1.11: 

 
Designs for road alterations often do not take into account 
effects on drainage infrastructure. These can physically affect 
the drainage of a site and ease of access for maintenance, and 
also increase impermeable areas and flood risk. While this 
would be important anywhere it is an essential consideration in 
such a flat area. If not considered as an integral part of the 
design it can cause or aggravate flooding. 

 
Road alterations can cause significant increases in surface 
water flows and the sustainable management of drainage is 
rarely addressed by designers, leading to a consequent 
increase in flood risk. An example of this is given in section 5.8 
Hotspot 6: Heworth, in the paragraph titled “Other Flooding”. 
 

 
8.18  Historically, the development that has taken place over many 

decades has permitted the discharge of surface water, with no 
volume restrictions, to existing drainage systems. This was 
accepted practice for the scale and type of development at the 
time, taking into account the prevailing climatic conditions, and 
was not questioned. However, the more recent demands of 
development and urbanisation, largely driven by ever increasing 
vehicle ownership and use, together with proven evidence of 
climate change, have made this approach unsustainable and 
unacceptable.  At the same time the gradual deterioration in the 

Page 117



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 99 
 

condition of surface water drainage systems through neglect has 
reduced available capacity further aggravating flood risk. 

 
8.19  Depending on its scale, development in its widest sense can 

typically include: 

 
• The construction of more and bigger roads. 
 
• Out of town shopping centres and associated car parks. 
 
• The creation of bus and cycle lanes. 
 
• The hard surfacing of urban verges to create parking areas. 
 
• The hard surfacing of gardens to create parking areas. 
 
• The construction of larger houses and at a higher density than 
previously 

 
• Domestic properties with multiple parking spaces. 
 
• The construction of house extensions and garden infill 
development. 

 
8.20  All of these activities reduce the available permeable areas which 

absorb surface water and therefore all development can increase 
surface water flood risk.  

 
8.21  Planning Policy Statement 25 (PPS25) addressed this issue, 

requiring developers to consider all flood risk with a site specific 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). Section 10 of the new National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the associated technical 
guidance note maintains this requirement. 

 
8.22  The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) was 

produced in response to PPS25 and assesses the different levels 
of flood risk in the York Unitary Authority area and maps these to 
assist with statutory land use planning. It provides concise 
information on flood risk issues, to assist planners in the 
preparation of the Local Development Framework (LDF) and in 
the assessment of future planning applications. It is also intended 
that this document is used by the general public and those 

Page 118



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 100 
 

wishing to propose developments as a guide to the approach that 
Local Planning Authorities will follow in order to take flood risk 
issues into account in a sustainable manner. Part 4 of the SFRA 
includes detailed policy recommendations covering these issues 
and also guidance for Development Managers, and is reproduced 
as Appendix 4. 

 
8.23  The SFRA states that all watercourses are at capacity and 

therefore surface water must be managed so as not to increase, 
and if possible reduce existing flows. Of particular relevance is 
paragraph 4.1.8 of Appendix 4, Forward Planning (FP) Policy 
Recommendation: Flood Zone 1. This is repeated as a policy 
recommendation for all fluvial flood zones: 

 
4.1.8 The majority of the watercourses in York are up to 

maximum capacity. Consequently, 1 in 100-year (1%) 
surface water runoff rates for developments in this zone 
should be, where practicable, restricted to either: - 

 
• Existing runoff rates (if a Brownfield site, based on 140 
l/s/ha, in accordance with The Building Regulations 2007, 
Part H.3, with a reduction of 30% in runoff where 
practicable (as agreed with the EA) or, 

• Unless otherwise calculated, agricultural runoff rates (if the 
site has no previous development) will be based on 1.4 
l/s/ha. To achieve this, additional run off volume will 
require balancing. 

 
8.24  Appendix 4 of the SFRA also includes guidance for Development 

Management and the Consideration of Planning Applications. 
Paragraph 4.1.108 provides General Surface Water Drainage 
Guidance:  

 
4.1.108 The 2000 flood saw all the major Becks and rivers 
flowing at full capacity, in each of the three river zones. 
Flooding affected 365 properties and threatened a further 5000. 
Consequently, the following policy should apply to all new 
development / redevelopment, irrespective of which flood zone 
it lays in: - 

 
1. In accordance with PPS25, surface water flows from all sites 
should, where practicable, be restricted to 70% of the 

Page 119



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 101 
 

existing runoff rate i.e. 30% reduction (as agreed with the 
EA), Existing runoff rates are calculated as follows: 

 
a. Brownfield site = 140 l/s/ha (in accordance with The 
Building Regulations 2007, Part H.3) or 

 
b.  Undeveloped sites = 1.4 l/s/ha (agricultural runoff 
rates). 
 

Storage volume calculations, using computer modelling, 
must accommodate a 1 in 30-year storm with no surface 
flooding, along with no internal flooding of buildings or 
surface run-off from the site in a 1 in 100- year storm. 
Proposed areas within the model must also include an 
additional 20% allowance for climate change. The 
modelling must use a range of storm durations, with both 
summer and winter profiles, to find the worst-case volume 
required. 
 
If no connected impermeable areas (if the site has no 
previous development i.e.(Greenfield) then an Agricultural 
runoff rate of 1.4 l/s/ha shall be used. 
 
Notes: In some instances, there may be no flow from the 
site that discharges to a watercourse and the land may be 
waterlogged. Development of such a site will require the 
compensatory attenuation of flow elsewhere to maintain 
the status quo. 
 

Agricultural runoff rate of 1.4 l/s/ha is currently quoted to 
developers. However, it is recognised that this empirical 
figure may not be appropriate for all soil types and 
modelling carried out as part of the flood risk assessment 
specific to a particular development site may establish a 
different existing runoff from the site on which a design can 
be based and agreed. 
 

2. Surface water from developments shall not connect to 
combined drains or sewers, if a suitable surface water 
sewer is available and unless expressly authorised by 
Yorkshire Water. 

 

Page 120



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 102 
 

Note: This is to prevent overloading of the sewerage 
system and prevent unnecessary treatment of surface 
water. Some areas are wholly combined systems of 
drainage (e.g. city centre). 

 
3. All full planning applications shall have complete drainage 
details (including Flood Risk Assessments when 
applicable) to include calculations and invert levels (to 
AOD) of both the existing and proposed drainage system 
included with the submission, to enable the assessment of 
the impact of flows on the catchment and downstream 
watercourse to be made. Existing and proposed surfacing 
shall be specified. 

 
Note: This should be confirmed at plans processing stage 
and the application rejected when insufficient detail is 
provided, thus preventing the promotion of inappropriate 
development. This will also reduce the need for conditions 
related to drainage and provide clarity for enforcement 
purposes. 
 

4. Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) methods of source 
control and water quality improvement should be utilised 
wherever possible for all new developments in the 
catchment. 
 

 Notes: In accordance with Approved Document Part H of 
the Building Regulations 2000, the first option for surface 
water disposal should be the use of sustainable drainage 
methods (SUDS) which limit flows through infiltration e.g. 
soakaways or infiltration trenches, subject to establishing 
that these are feasible, can be adopted and properly 
maintained and would not lead to any other environmental 
problems. For example, using soakaways or other 
infiltration methods on contaminated land carries 
groundwater pollution risks and may not work in areas with 
a high water table. 

 
5. Where the intention is to dispose to soakaway, these 
should be shown to work through an appropriate 
assessment carried out under BRE Digest 365, (if possible 
carried out in winter) - to prove that the ground has 
sufficient capacity to accept surface water discharge, and 

Page 121



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 103 
 

to prevent flooding of the surrounding land and the site 
itself. 

 
Where permeable paving is proposed the same BRE 
Digest 365 assessment should be carried out to prove that 
the ground has sufficient capacity to accept surface water 
discharge, and to prevent flooding of the surrounding land 
and the paving itself. 
 
City of York Council’s Drainage Section should witness the 
BRE Digest 365 test. 
 
Notes: The suitability of the use of soakaways and swales 
within York will be limited, due to the unsuitable clay 
ground encountered throughout most of the city. There 
should be a presumption that these will be unsuitable 
unless proven otherwise. 
 
Should follow on with other options, if infiltration does not 
work, i.e. on site retention, sewers, watercourses as per 
Building Regulations - Part H (Drainage & Waste Disposal) 
2002 Edition. 
 

6. Ground water / land drainage from proposed 
developments shall not be connected to public sewers and 
existing land-drainage systems should be maintained. 
 
Note: Yorkshire Water will not allow the connection of 
ground water to public sewers, to prevent hydraulic over-
loading of the sewerage system and problems associated 
with siltation. 
 

7. Applications for smaller scale developments in relation to 
surface water drainage, which are part of larger sites that 
already have outline permission, must comply with any 
conditions that were applied to the larger site. 
 

 Note: This is to prevent a ‘piecemeal’ approach to 
SUD/drainage schemes. This will apply to both large-scale 
housing and industrial developments, where the drainage 
system should be designed “as a whole”. 

 

Page 122



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 104 
 

8. Proposed development near to existing areas served by 
combined sewerage systems (typically pre-1930 terraced 
housing and inner-city) will need careful consideration with 
regards to additional hydraulic loading 

 
 Note: Yorkshire Water should be consulted at an early 
stage for all developments over 10 dwellings or sites 
exceeding 0.5ha, as new connections to sewers suffering 
from under capacity may result in exacerbation of any 
existing problems. The proposed site may also flood itself 
due to surcharge during intense summer storms. 

 
8.25  The Council’s Core Strategy, a key part of its Local Development 

Framework, was submitted to the Secretary of State in February 
2012, but has subsequently been withdrawn. However, Policy 
CS22 Flood Risk contained therein is a further confirmation of the 
requirement to control surface water risk during the planning 
process, both strategically and at application level. It is unlikely 
that these requirements will be amended in the revised 
submission, as the basic principles of the policy are confirmed by 
the NPPF and associated guidance. Policy CS22 is included in 
Appendix 4. 

 
8.26  The Council’s Flood Risk Management team takes a very 

proactive role in development management and aims to resolve 
drainage and flood risk design issues at application stage to avoid 
the need for planning conditions. Without considering flood risk 
and drainage as a fundamental element of the design, options to 
provide sustainable solutions at a late stage of the process are 
difficult or impossible to achieve. Close working with the 
Development Management Team is necessary to ensure 
applications are dealt with appropriately in accordance with the 
SFRA and NPPF.. 

 

8.27 This principle is supported by the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 which requires LLFAs to establish a 
Sustainable Drainage Systems Approving Body (SAB). This body 
must approve drainage systems in new developments and re-
developments before construction begins. The Act also removes 
the automatic right of connection to the sewerage system. 
Enactment of this part of the Act is expected in 2013. 

 

Page 123



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 105 
 

8.28  The preferred option for a SUDS design is for it to mimic the pre 
development drainage of the site, which would ideally be 
achieved by the use of soakaways. However, due to the clay 
ground conditions prevalent across the majority of the York area, 
opportunities for infiltration drainage are very limited. As a result, 
sustainable drainage solutions are, of necessity, most frequently 
based on the retention of surface water on the site using ponds or 
tanks, with a controlled discharge to the downstream sewer or 
watercourse. While this can help to reduce the peak rate of flow 
of the runoff from the site, and the total volume of flow will remain 
the same, the duration of flow will be extended. This may lead to 
extended periods of higher water levels in receiving watercourses 
or drains and the impact of this will depend on the scale of the 
development and the characteristics of the downstream 
infrastructure. While small developments may not have a great 
impact the cumulative impact of many developments may be a 
cause for concern. 

 
8.29  Should there be concerns regarding the effects of development 

on flood risk in an area there is legislation available which might 
help to manage it. The Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) (Amendment) (No. 2) (England) Order 
2006 allows for a Local Planning Authority to designate an area 
within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage problems, as a 
Critical Drainage Area. The Council has not so far designated any 
areas but will consider it if is necessary to manage flood risk in 
specific areas.  

  
8.30  It is of concern that the above procedures will not cover the effect 

of highway works on flood risk, which do not require planning 
approval. However, there is a clear requirement in the F&WMA 
for highway authorities (S27 (3)(d)) “...to make a contribution 
towards the achievement of sustainable development” . This is 
expected to be clarified on the enactment of the part of the Act 
referred to above and the Flood Risk Management team will work 
with highway engineers to ensure that there is compliance. 

 
Control of Development: Recommendations 

 

8.31 Taking the above into consideration it is recommended that: 

 

Page 124



City of York Council 
Surface Water Management Plan 
 

Page | 106 
 

1) Development is only permitted strictly in accordance with the 
NPPF and SFRA. 

 
2) The Flood Risk Management team continues to take a 
proactive role in development management with the aims of 
minimising the number of approvals that are given with 
drainage conditions attached. 

 
3) Where drainage conditions are attached to approvals the Flood 
Risk Management team will ensure that they are realistic and 
achievable. 

 
4) The Council sets up procedures to become the SuDS Approval 
Body when the relevant part of the Act is enacted and guidance 
is issued. 

 
5) The Flood Risk Management team works with highway 
maintenance and design engineers to ensure that they fully 
understand the need for sustainable drainage in their work, and 
that suitable designs are implemented.  

  

Page 125



City of York Council  
Surface Water Management Plan 
 
Appendices 
 
Double click to open as pdf 
 

Appendix 1  
Hydraulic Modelling Report 
Halcrow June 2011 

Appendix 2 City of York Council 
Traffic Asset Management Plan September 2006 

  
Section 10 
Highway Drainage 

  
Paragraph 1.3 
Assets Included 

Appendix 3 

 
Well-maintained Highways 
 Code of Practice for Highway Maintenance 
Management 
 

 

 

 
 

Section 9.11 
Service inspection Of Highway Drainage 
Systems 
 

 

 

 
 

Section 10.7 
Condition Of Highway Drainage Systems 

 

 

 
 

Section 14.4 
Flooding From Inadequate Drainage 

Appendix 4 

 

 
 

City of York Council 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (rev 2011) 
Section 4 

Appendix 5  
 
Gritting and Gully Cleaning Routes 

 
 

Page 126



1 
T:\Dev_Serv/ Group/ Perf_&_Rev_ Monitor reports/Community Safety Scrutiny Committee Reports 
2012~13\Qtr 1 Performance   PSH – 29/08/2012 

 

   
 

   

 
Community Safety Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

15 January 2013 
 

Report of the Director for Communities and Neighbourhoods, and the Director 
of City and Environmental Services 
 
Quarter 2 Finance and Performance update for Environmental 
Services and Public Protection 
 

Summary 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on financial 
performance, service plan improvement actions and performance 
measures for Environmental Services and Public Protection.   

Financial Performance Analysis  

 Finance – forecast outturn – Monitor 2 

2. The services that relate to Community and Safety Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee cross two directorates (City and Environmental 
Services and Communities and Neighbourhoods). Service Plan 
Variations which relate to services within this scrutiny are shown 
below: 

 Net  Variance 
 Budget Outturn  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 

CES Directorate (Extract)    
Highways, Waste and Fleet 15,544 16,628 +1,084 
CANS Directorate (Extract)    
Smarter York 2,410 2,471 +61 
Neighbourhood Management 1,396 1,388 -8 
Street Environment 424 429 +5 
Parking Services 1,891 2,013 +122 
Parks and Open Spaces 866 832 -34 
Public Protection 208 50 -158 
Safer York Partnership 184 184 0 
CANS Directorate (Extract) 7,379 7,367 -12 
    

Agenda Item 5Page 127



2 
T:\Dev_Serv/ Group/ Perf_&_Rev_ Monitor reports/Community Safety Scrutiny Committee Reports 
2012~13\Qtr 1 Performance   PSH – 29/08/2012 

Total 22,923 23,995 +1,072 
 
  Note: ‘+’ indicates an increase in expenditure or shortfall in income 

   ‘-‘ indicates a reduction in expenditure or increase in income 
 
3. Details of the main variations by service plan are detailed in the 

following paragraphs. 

Highways, Waste and Fleet (£+1,084k) 
4. A number of pressures exist across the Highways, Waste & Fleet 

service. Savings proposals are being developed to deliver these but in 
the meantime there is a shortfall in Commercial Waste income 
(£454k). Savings identified for 2012/13 around changes to terms and 
conditions, increases in productivity, waste round rationalisation, 
Household Waste Recycling Centre policy and garden waste 
collections are yet to be delivered (£380k), as well as unachieved 
savings from previous years related to Agency Staff, Area Based 
Working, Internal Trading and Procurement (£220k). 
 

5. Work is ongoing to deliver these savings within Highways, Waste and 
Fleet as the service is modernised however it is acknowledged that 
they will not be fully delivered until later financial years and in the 
meantime compensatory savings will need to be identified across the 
directorate. 

 
Communities and Neighbourhoods (£-12k) 

6. There is a forecast overspend of £122k within Parking Services due 
primarily to a shortfall of income from Penalty Charge Notices. 

7. There is currently a forecast overspend on Smarter York due to one 
off redundancy costs 

8. The services within public protection are forecast to underspend 
primarily due to increases in income notably Registrars (£49k) and 
Bereavement Services (£69k). There is also a projected underspend 
of £36k within Environmental Health and Trading Standards due to 
holding staffing vacancies. 

Page 128



3 
T:\Dev_Serv/ Group/ Perf_&_Rev_ Monitor reports/Community Safety Scrutiny Committee Reports 
2012~13\Qtr 1 Performance   PSH – 29/08/2012 

Headline achievements and performance 
 
9. Waste services has seen significant improvements since 09/10 in 

terms of percentage of waste recycled (7.8% increase), residual 
household waste (8.8% reduction) and proportion of waste being 
landfilled (7.2% improvement), in line with national trends, and it 
becomes progressively harder to continue this rapid rate of 
improvement.  In national benchmarking for 10/11 (APSE) the service 
was in the top quartile for percentage of waste recycled, and second 
quartile for % waste landfilled.  

10. The latest forecast suggests that our targets for improvement in both 
areas continue to be challenging and, as at Monitor 1, the data from 
waste collections indicates that waste recycled, reused or composted 
is will fall slightly below our target of 47.61% and the percentage of 
waste landfilled is forecast to be higher than its target of 51.56%, 
despite improvements from the 11/12 position. 

11. Despite continuing decreases in landfill tonnages the landfill tax bill 
continues to increase with increases in landfill tax per tonne. 

Performance data 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 
Forecast -/+ change 

Tonnes of Landfilled waste 
- Household 50,850 52,000 49,180 48,070 46,990 -1,080 

Tonnes of Landfilled waste 
- Commercial 9,480 8,300 6,410 5,420 6,100 680 

Tonnes of Landfilled waste 
- Combined 60,330 60,300 55,590 53,490 53,090 -400 

Cost of landfill tax - 
Household £1,627,200 £2,080,000 £2,360,640 £2,691,920 £3,007,360 £315,440 

Cost of landfill tax - 
Commercial £303,360 £332,000 £307,680 £303,520 £390,400 £86,880 

Cost of landfill tax - 
Combined £1,930,560 £2,412,000 £2,668,320 £2,995,440 £3,397,760 £402,320 

 
12. In the last year the focus has been on rolling out recycling collections 

to a larger proportion of residents and this has had a positive effect on 
the recycling rate, but that focus has limited the possibilities for 
improving the service to those who already had recycling collections.  
Performance is also impacted by a number of external factors 
including adverse weather which, for example, has reduced garden 
waste tonnage, and the recession which is impacting recyclate 
tonnages, as e.g. customers reduce their consumption of beer and 
wine or buy fewer newspapers and magazines.  This trend has been 
identified by authorities across the country.  York is currently trying to 
increase recycling via various different approaches such as a zero 
waste campaign, sustained levels of communication, specific 
advertising campaigns around the Christmas period for electrical 

Page 129



4 
T:\Dev_Serv/ Group/ Perf_&_Rev_ Monitor reports/Community Safety Scrutiny Committee Reports 
2012~13\Qtr 1 Performance   PSH – 29/08/2012 

goods, work to educate students about recycling, inclusion of the 
remaining properties without recycling collections and the trial of 
mixed plastic collection with Yorwaste in communal properties. 

13. The newly created City Team will be working with the Council in 
shaping the spend of £3.3 million from the Economic Infrastructure 
Fund to deliver Re-Invigorate York, a project aimed at enhancing the 
public realm and improving the business and leisure environment in 
the city centre, thus strengthening York’s offer as a business, tourism 
and leisure location. This illustrates York’s drive for excellence as the 
city was recently voted the 3rd best UK City by the Guardian Travel 
Awards 2012. 

14. Achievements in Q2 include reduction of a highways repair gang to 
bring repair standards in line with the national average, with 
associated savings; work begun to forge relationships with other 
authorities and the Yorkshire Highways Alliance to identify best 
practise within the highways maintenance industry; savings achieved 
from installation of more efficient street lighting, which will also 
contribute to a reduction in CO2 emissions. 

15. Crime: Performance across most areas of community safety in York 
shows very good improvement, with the total recorded crime incidents 
forecast to decrease by around 9.8% on last year. This represents a 
58.3% decrease in crime in the city since 2003/04. Based on 
information available for Q2, all indicators within the serious 
acquisitive crime group are predicted to be lower in 2012/13 than in 
last year. 

16. A cross-directorate and cross-partnership Hate Crime training course 
has been developed by SYP, CANs and CBSS, with the first pilot 
session to be run in Selby at the end of September.   

17. The regional Scambuster service operated by City of York Council 
achieved a successful outcome following the 4 week trial of two former 
directors of Compass Mobility Limited. Complaints from ‘customers’ 
related to mobility aids valued in excess of £1 million.  Convicted and 
sentenced to 5 years for fraud, the former directors will also be subject 
to investigation under the Proceeds of Crime Act to confiscate assets 
acquired as a result of their criminal conduct.  

18. A lengthy Scambuster investigation into Chequered Flag Car Sales 
culminated in an 8 week trial. In August, the jury found the 
uncooperative defendants guilty of conspiring to defraud customers 
and of money laundering.  Their car sales business sold misdescribed 

Page 130



5 
T:\Dev_Serv/ Group/ Perf_&_Rev_ Monitor reports/Community Safety Scrutiny Committee Reports 
2012~13\Qtr 1 Performance   PSH – 29/08/2012 

and sometimes potentially dangerous second hand cars on a wide 
scale. The cost of bringing the case to court was partly met by a grant 
from the Office of Fair Trading. 

Consultation 

19. This paper is an information report for Members and therefore no 
consultation has been undertaken regarding its contents. 

Corporate Priorities 

20. Reporting on Financial Performance and Service Improvement 
support the Corporate Theme of ‘Core Capabilities. 

Implications 

• Financial - Considered as part of this report 

• Human Resources (HR) - N/A 

• Equalities - N/A 

• Legal - N/A 

• Crime and Disorder - N/A 

• Information Technology (IT) - N/A 

• Property - N/A 

• Risk Management - N/A 

 
Conclusion  

21. This report has provided an update on quarter 2 performance.  

Recommendations  

22. The Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the financial and 
performance position of the portfolio. 

Page 131



6 
T:\Dev_Serv/ Group/ Perf_&_Rev_ Monitor reports/Community Safety Scrutiny Committee Reports 
2012~13\Qtr 1 Performance   PSH – 29/08/2012 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officers responsible for the report: 

 
Penny Hepworth  
Service Development 
Officer 
Tel: 551506 
 
Kath Bonfield 
Senior Management 
Information Officer 
Tel: 554546 
 
Patrick Looker 
Finance Manager 
Tel: 551633 

 
Sally Burns 
Director of Communities and Neighbourhoods 
 
Darren Richardson 
Director of City and Environmental Services 
 

Report 
Approved 

√ Date 4 January 2013  

    

 

Page 132



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

SYP Overview and Scrutiny Performance Report  
 

First Six Months of 2012-13 
 

PERFORMANCE REPORT ON COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN 2011-14 
 
1. Introduction and Overview 
 
1.1. Data and/or update information on progress is not held by the Safer York 

Partnership support team for all of the indicators contained within the 
plan. 

 
1.2. Work has been disrupted due to flooding of Clifford Street and lack of a 

permanent office. 
 
1.3. This report will now take the form of an exception report whereby only 

items which are underperforming are reported upon. The exception report 
will be presented in a form in line with the Community Safety Plan 2011-
14 which has the following priorities; 

 
• Acquisitive Crime  
• Anti-Social Behaviour 
• Violent Crime  

• Business Crime 
• Re-offending Information 
• Other Indicators 

 

Month 2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10

Apr 1026 1157 1264 NA
May 1042 1151 1370 NA

2007-08 18924 Jun 1007 1177 1323 NA
2008-09 17886 Jul 1020 1177 1269 NA
2009-10 14480 Aug 1006 1069 1331 NA
2010-11 15199 (There has been no allowance for known seasonal patterns) Sep 983 1001 1320 NA
2011-12 13576 Oct 1148 1205 1346 NA

Key: Nov 1138 1320 NA
Dec 1261 923 NA

   -   Action Needed (>120%) Jan 1129 1171 1008
2012-13 13937    -   Caution  (100% - 120%) Feb 966 1207 1066
2013-14 13756    -   No Action  (<100%) Mar 1145 1355 1084

2) Forecasted annual total based upon a moving average of months

Milestone Targets

1) Target level 2013-2014 (Strategy end not the Yearly milestones) 

Previous Years The Graph shows: 

1146.3

Target Monthly Total

7232

Cumulative

12398

Forecast 2012-13

13756

Target 2013-14

Totals
York - All Crime (from IQUANTA)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2011-12 Mont hly Total 2012-13 Monthly Total Forecast Monthly Total Target Monthly Total

 
 
1.4. Total crime in York dropped by 10% (1623 crimes) in 2011-12 compared 

to 2010-11. The first seven months of data available from Iquanta suggest 
that crime continues to reduce and at present is predicted to be between 
5 and 10%. 

 

Agenda Item 6Page 133



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

1.5. York’s Joint Strategic Intelligence Assessment has been completed. This 
has identified four themes that will make up part of North Yorkshire 
Police’s control strategy:  

 
o Serious Acquisitive Crime 
o Protecting Vulnerable People 
o Quality of Life 
o Organised Crime Groups 

 
1.6. York has moved from 12th place to 11th place within its Iquanta family 

comparison of most similar family members. In order to move another 
place, York would have to further reduce crime by 2% 

 
1.7. The only crime performance targets, where there was not a reduction in 

crime within the last strategy were; NI 20 Assault without Injury, NI 29 
Gun crime and Aggravated Vehicle Taking which saw rises of 172 crimes 
(17%), 5 crimes (250%) and 1 crime (7%) respectively. 

 
2. Acquisitive Crime 
 

Month 2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10

Apr 150 131 159 202
May 120 137 217 138

2007-08 3330 Jun 110 155 166 124
2008-09 3459 Jul 101 137 167 138
2009-10 1998 Aug 128 122 159 207
2010-11 2067 (There has been no allowance for known seasonal patterns) Sep 134 144 175 207
2011-12 1895 Oct 128 191 147 224

Key: Nov 186 157 188
Dec 197 138 160

   -   Action Needed (>120%) Jan 182 167 124
2012-13 1848    -   Caution  (100% - 120%) Feb 148 193 145
2013-14 1798    -   No Action  (<100%) Mar 165 222 141

Milestone Targets

Previous Years The Graph shows: 

1) Target level 2013-2014 (Strategy end not the Yearly milestones) 

Target 2013-14

1798

Forecast 2012-13

1493

York - NI 16 - Serious Aquisitive Crime 

Totals

2) Forecasted annual total based upon a moving average of months

Cumulative

871

Target Monthly Total

149.8

0

50

100

150

200

250

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2011-12 Monthly Total 2012-13 Monthly Total Forecast Monthly Total Target Monthly Total

 
 
2.1. Acquisitive crime in 2011-12 was 8% lower (170 crimes) than the previous 

financial year and based upon seven months data in 2013-14 this 
reduction is predicted to continue, with a possible further 20% drop in 
acquisitive crime.  

 
2.2. York has seen significant improvement in its position within its Iquanta 

family with York now sitting in 7th place compared to 12th place at the 
start of the financial year. 

 

Page 134



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

2.3.  Not all areas of York are predicted to have a 20% drop in acquisitive 
crime. Wards which are not predicted to have these reductions, and the 
volume of crime is enough to show significant change are as follows: 

 
o Clifton  ward, where there is a predicted 30% increase due to higher 

levels of auto-crime. 
 

o Haxby & Wigginton ward, where there is a predicted 26% increase due 
to higher levels of burglary 

 
o Heworth ward where there is a predicted  35% increase due to higher 

levels of burglary. 
 
o Hull Road ward, where there is a predicted 11% increase due to higher 

levels of burglary. 
 

o Huntington & New Earswick ward, where there is a predicted 24% 
increase due to higher levels of auto-crime. 

 
o Skelton, Rawcliffe & Clifton Without ward, where there is a predicted 

56% increase due to higher levels of both burglary and auto-crime. 
 
2.4. The following changes have been made when comparing 2011-12 to 

2010-11. 
 

o Domestic Burglary   - 12% Decrease - 96 Crimes 
o Non-Domestic Burglary  - 7% Decrease - 97 Crimes 
o Theft from a Motor Vehicle  - 3% Increase - 26 Crimes 
o Theft of a Motor Vehicle  - 30% Decrease - 80 Crimes 
o Robbery of Personal Property - 17% Decrease - 16 Crimes 
 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Running Total
1 2 3 1 7

13 21 14 18 13 22 18 119
46 55 31 31 38 35 39 275
2 1 3 3 3 12

36 27 23 29 27 27 26 195
38 35 28 17 14 18 34 184
1 1 1 1 4

136 140 102 99 93 105 121 796

2012

Grand Total
Unknown

Shed / Outbuilding
Garage

Education
Dwelling

Business Premise / Commercial
Allotment

 
 
2.5.  Within the last seven months there have been approximately 195 

burglaries of garages within York, at approximately 30 a month. These 
account for 28% of all burglaries in York as they can be recorded as a 
domestic or non-domestic burglary depending on if the garage is integral 
to the house or external. 

 
2.6. The level of burglaries of sheds / out-buildings has risen in October, after 

low levels during the summer. 
 
2.7. A study of burglary of garages has shown that; 

Page 135



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

 
o 30% of these garages are insecure 
 
o 30% of these garages are entered by bending back the main door 

 
o 15% of these garages are entered through breaking or removing a 

window 
 

o 15% of these garages are entered by forcing the back door 
 

o 10% of these garages are entered by other means such as having a 
key, using an external door, removing bricks or coming through the 
roof. 

 
2.8. There is no single type of property that has been targeted in theft from 

vehicle. Vehicles continue to be targeted for property left on show. Levels 
of number plate theft / catalytic converter theft continue to be analysed 
and these remain low, between 2 and 4 cases per month on average. 

 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Running Total
Clifton Moor Business & Retail Park 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 3
Monks Cross 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Murton Industrial Estate 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Poppleton Bus iness Park 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Outgang lane Industrial Estate 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 2
Derwent Valley Ind Estate 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Burglary 2012

 
 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Running Total

Clifton Moor Business & Retail Park 1 2 1 1 3 2 0 1 2 4 17

Monks Cross 2 0 0 1 1 1 0 3 3 0 11

Murton Industrial Estate 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 3

Outgang lane Industrial Estate 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5

Poppleton Business Park 0 2 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 8

Shipton Park 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Autocrime 2012

 
 
2.9. Levels of all types of acquisitive crime at the following continue to be low 

and under target; 
 

o Business premises and industrial estates; 
o Schools and six form colleges; 
o City-centre cycle racks; 
o Allotments; 
o Hotels; 
o York St Johns; 
 

2.10. Levels of all types of acquisitive crime at the following continue to be 
low although there has been more crime than expected in September and 
October 

 
o Council car parks; 
o University  

Page 136



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

o York District Hospital. 
 
2.11. We have been working with the NYP Operational Plan Owner for 

Operation Bucarooo (reduction of auto-crime) to develop the preventative 
strategy of this operation.  

 
2.12. Worked with the suppliers of the Garage Guardian security device to 

develop a medium security version which we feel will improve take-up 
given the reduced price of £30 as opposed to £85.  This also makes it 
cost effective for it is provided as part of the Safer Homes Handyperson 
service for victims.  We are keen to encourage take-up given the rise in 
garage breaks over the past 12 months.  

 
2.13. Given our move to Derwent School, we are no longer able to store 

security equipment.  We have now arranged for the Home Improvement 
Agency (Yorkshire Housing) to sell equipment on our behalf in York. 

 
2.14.  We now have 209 Cold Calling Control Zones in the city, covering 255 

streets and 8189 properties. There have been 7 distraction burglaries in 
2011-12 and 4 in the first half of 2012-13. The main types of MO for this 
crime were criminals pretending to be from the council or water board with 
2 crimes each. City of York council is receiving around 10 submissions a 
month for cold-calling control zones. 

 

Month 2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10

Apr 51 83 80 91
May 44 93 125 79

2007-08 1198 Jun 75 84 160 99
2008-09 1014 Jul 82 79 161 87
2009-10 1120 Aug 66 56 137 87
2010-11 1366 (There has been no allowance for known seasonal patterns) Sep 71 63 141 76
2011-12 959 Oct 88 100 151 129

Key: Nov 84 130 139
Dec 80 39 81

   -   Action Needed (>120%) Jan 76 84 65
2012-13 1036    -   Caution  (100% - 120%) Feb 69 62 77
2013-14 1008    -   No Action  (<100%) Mar 92 96 110

2) Forecasted annual total based upon a moving average of months

Milestone Targets

1) Target level 2013-2014 (Strategy end not the Yearly milestones) 

Previous Years The Graph shows: 

84.0

Target Monthly Total

477

Cumulative

818

Forecast 2012-13

1008

Target 2013-14

Totals
York - Theft or unauthorised taking of a cycle

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2011-12 Monthly Total 2012-13 Monthly Total Forecast Monthly Total Target Monthly Total

 
 
2.15. Levels of cycle theft continue to reduce with 407 crimes fewer of theft 

of cycles in 2011-12 equating to a 30% drop since 2010-11. Cycle theft 
levels in the first eight months of the year continuing to suggest further 
drops, 14%, in this crime type. 

 

Page 137



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

2.16. 14500 Bikes have now been registered within the Operation Spoke 
project since January 2010. These bikes were registered at a rate of 
around 10 bikes a day since the start of 2011. 

 

N
o
v0
8-

Ja
n
09

Ju
l0
9-

S
ep

09

A
pr
10
-

Ju
n
10

Ju
l1
0-

S
ep

10

O
ct
10
-

D
ec

10

Ja
n
11
-

M
ar
11

A
pr
11
-

Ju
n
11

Ju
l1
1 
- 

S
ep

11

O
ct
11
 - 

D
ec

11

Ja
n1

2 
-

M
ar
12

A
pr
12
-

Ju
n1

2

M
ay

12
-

Ju
l1
2

Ju
n
12
-

A
u
g1

2

Ju
l1
2-

S
ep

12

York 1.4 1 1.43 1.87 2.24 1 .55 1.21 1.30 0.98 1.27 1 .14 1.03 1.1 8 1.11 1.09

Cambridge 4.3 0 5.42 6.72 7.04 6 .13 3.67 5.04 4.36 4.29 2 .98 3.02 4.3 4 4.98 5.10

Oxford 2.5 6 3.52 3.67 3.93 3 .30 2.77 5.32 4.87 4.25 3 .75 3.53 3.8 5 3.66 4.00

Brigh ton 1.09 1.34 0 .75 0.75 1.21 1.02 0.92 0 .69 0.74 1.0 1 1.27 1.47

Bristol 1.21 1.54 0 .96 0.99 1.15 1.37 1.17 0 .95 0.90 1.0 7 1.12 1.20

Exeter 0.95 0.94 0 .92 0.53 0.72 0.86 0.94 0 .78 0.61 0.8 5 0.95 1.05

L incoln 1.28 2.43 1 .31 1.36 2.41 2.29 2.05 1 .59 1.54 1.8 5 1.86 2.40

Manchester 1.40 1.44 1 .15 0.89 1.29 1.64 1.10 0 .85 0.85 0.9 5 0.99 1.12  
 
2.17. York continues to perform well on cycle crime levels, compared to 

other cycling cities, with the York performing significantly better than 
similar cities of Oxford and Cambridge.  

 
3. Anti-Social Behaviour  
 

Month 2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10

Apr 855 1139 1142 1158
May 972 1097 1170 1123

2007-08 12827 Jun 845 1225 1238 1150
2008-09 12847 Jul 956 1285 1270 1235
2009-10 13012 Aug 1032 1251 1229 1320
2010-11 12927 (There has been no allowance for known seasonal patterns) Sep 909 1001 1069 1046
2011-12 12550 Oct 1052 1133 1094 1164

Key: Nov 886 1125 1015
Dec 862 833 966

   -   Action Needed (>120%) Jan 851 854 939
2012-13 12524    -   Caution  (100% - 120%) Feb 832 843 836
2013-14 12361    -   No Action  (<100%) Mar 988 1060 1060

12361

Forecast 2012-13

11350

Cumulative

6621

Target Monthly Total

1030.1

Previous Years The Graph shows: 

Milestone Targets

1) Target level 2013-2014 (Strategy end not the Yearly milestones) 

2) Forecasted annual total based upon a moving average of months

York - NYP Recorded ASB Calls for Service

Totals
Target 2013-14

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2011-12 Monthly Total 2012-13 Monthly Total Forecast Monthly Total Target Monthly Total

 
 
3.1. Levels of anti-social behaviour calls for service recorded by North 

Yorkshire Police were slightly lower, 400 cases (2%) at the end of the 
financial year.  Levels in the first seven months of 2012-13 continue to 
reduce.  

 
3.2. The level of criminal damage in 2011/12 was 16% (407 cases) lower than 

last year. All types of criminal damage fell. Based on the first six months 
of 2012-13 this drop in criminal damage is predicted to continue and is 
likely to be in the region of 8%. 

Page 138



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

 
3.3. York currently sits in 7h position in its Iquanta family compared to 8th place 

at the end of the summer 2011, and has improved its position from 15th, 
since January 2011. 

 

Month 2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10

Apr 293 314 312 348
May 270 213 246 236

2007-08 4806 Jun 255 242 252 368
2008-09 4112 Jul 345 389 372 293
2009-10 3291 Aug 327 345 224 248
2010-11 3227 (There has been no allowance for known seasonal patterns) Sep 224 301 252 308
2011-12 3574 Oct 288 250 269 264

Key: Nov 272 265 220
Dec 188 213 177

   -   Action Needed (>120%) Jan 418 328 216
2012-13 3168    -   Caution  (100% - 120%) Feb 323 315 265
2013-14 3126    -   No Action  (<100%) Mar 319 410 348

York - CYC Recorded ASB Calls for Service

Totals
Target 2013-14

3126

Forecast 2012-13

3432

Cumulative

2002

Target Monthly Total

260.5

The Graph shows: Previous Years

1) Target level 2013-2014 (Strategy end not the Yearly milestones) 

Milestone Targets

2) Forecasted annual total based upon a moving average of months

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Apr May J un Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2011-12 Monthly Total 2012-13 Monthly Total Forecast Monthly Total Target Monthly Total

 
 
3.4. Overall levels of council recorded anti-social behaviour rose by around 

320 cases (8%) higher in 2011-12. These are due to rises within fly-
tipping, litter and to a lesser extent graffiti and drugs related litter. 
Applications such as the SmarterYork mobile application have added to 
the increases in fly-tipping and rubbish as this has become easier to 
report. 

 
3.5. The first seven months of 2012-13 indicate that levels of council recorded 

ASB are likely to reduce by around 10% form last years total.  
 

A n ti-S o cia l B e ha viou r Typ e P re dicte d  C h an g e 20 1 2 -13  t o 2 01 1 -12
A ll N Y P A sb -4%

En viro n men tal -2 4%
Nui san ce -2%
P er son al -4%

A ll C Y C  Asb -1 0%
Ab an do ne d Ca rs 8 9 %

Dru g Re la te d L itte r -3 3%
F ly ti pp ing  - Ru bb ish 7 %

G ra ffit i -1 2%
L itte r -1 9%

Dog  Fou lin g -3 6%
N YP  C rim ina l D a m a ge -1 2%
E P U  N ois e C a ses -2%
C YC  H o usi ng  A S B com p lain ts  O p en 1 2 %
C YC  H o usi ng  A S B C o m p lai nts C lo sed -4 0%  
 
3.6. The level of graffiti recorded on TAAGY, the multi-agency system for 

logging graffiti, has been between 25 and 30 cases for the last three 

Page 139



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

months The SmarterYork application has now been dynamically 
integrated to the TAAGY system. 

 
3.7. Information held on graffiti by TAAGY suggests that areas of Micklegate, 

Holgate and Acomb continue to be the main wards affected by graffiti in 
York.  

 
3.8. For the six months between January and June the council obtained 44 

orders against individuals, ranging from breach of injunctions, orders for 
possession to premises closure orders. 

 
3.9. We are looking to amalgamate the myriad of meetings to tackle ASB such 

as Nuisance Action Group, and ASB Referral Panel for example into one 
meeting to be called Multi Agency Problem Solving, we are currently 
finishing work on the database which will allow us to streamline our 
processes and reduce the bureaucracy involved.  These new meetings 
should start in February. 

 
3.10. The number of mediation cases has increased for the first half of the 

financial year from 19 to 28, which is a 47% increase.  Because of these 
increases and future projects we have trained an additional 8 mediators 
within the York area to ensure that we are still able to deliver a consistent 
high quality service. 

 
3.11. Freshers week figures from EPU show that for the 8 additional days 

Monday to Thursday (Friday and Saturdays are already covered) for both 
Universities EPU received 46 calls and they visited 14 properties. SYP 
have funded this additional service for this financial year. 

 
4. Violent Crime 
 
4.1. Levels of violent crimes in York were 388 crimes lower in 2011-12 than 

last year, equating to a 14% reduction. This reduction has continued in to 
2012-13 with at this stage after 7 months data a predicted 9% further drop 

 
4.2. York is currently in 9th place within its IQUANTA family for violent crime, 

this is an improvement from 12th place at the start of 2011. 
 
4.3. Levels of violence and damage crime within York’s Cumulative Impact 

Area (City Centre) and the city centre continue to gradually reduce. 
 
4.4. Work has been completed to establish an evidence base in order to 

understand if York has a need for a late-night levy. Evidence suggests 
that: 

 
o 246 Premises have licenses which finish between 00:00 and 06:00 as 

well as a 24hr licenses 
 
o In the last 12 months of available data, only  34 premises (14%) have 

violent crime within a 25m Radius of the premise 

Page 140



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

 
o 4 wards in the city have licensed premises with violent crime within a 

25m Radius. (Guildhall, Micklegate, Rural West, Westfield) 
o In the last 12 months of available data 66 premises (27%) have any 

type of crime within a 25m Radius 
 
o In the last 12 months of available data 54 premises (22%) have ASB 

within a 25m Radius 
 
4.5. The Night-safe steering group will be replaced with the AVANTE task 

group (Alcohol Violence and the Night Time Economy).  Work is currently 
ongoing to develop the remit and terms of reference for this group.  

 
4.6. We held a meeting with the A&E Consultant working with us on the A&E 

data sharing project to discuss potential uses of the data.  This work will 
be developed through the new AVANTE (Alcohol, Violence and the Night 
Time Economy) task group meeting. 

 
4.7. The DPPO consultation for York which started on the 10th October has 

now finished. A report is being written at present on the responses. 
 
4.8.  Information from Accident and emergency suggest that since December 

2012: 
 

o There on average 60 attendances a month for victims of assault. The 
attendance times for day of the week and hour of the day match police 
records with peaks being in the early hours of Saturday and Sunday 
mornings. 

 
o At least 35% of these and possibly up to 80% are where alcohol on 

behalf of either the victim or offender has been a factor 
 

o At least 15% of these and possibly up to 55% are where a weapon has 
been used 

 
o Between 15% and 30% of these attendances happened after the 

assault had taken place within the “home”, which could be an indication 
of domestic violence levels. 

 
4.9. There is no new domestic incident data since August 2012. On the 25th of 

November three new crimes of stalking came in to effect: 
 

o 8L/08/65 Stalking involving fear of violence 
o 8L/08/66 Stalking involving serious alarm/distress 
o 8L/195/12 Pursue course of conduct in breach of Sec 1(1) which 

amounts to stalking 
 
4.10. There is no new information at the time of writing of this board report. 

This has just been a time issue, to organise and structure the data. 
 

Page 141



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

4.11. There were 30 Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences 
(MARAC’s) held for domestic violence held during the first four months of 
2012/13. The percentage of repeat Marac’s is at similar levels to the last 
two years. 

 
Total MARAC's Initial Repeat % Repeats

36 33 3 8.3

83 74 9 10.8

91 75 16 17.6

148 121 27 18.2

162 131 31 19.1

30 19 11 36.7

120 52 44 36.7

2012-13 to Date

Month

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13 Precited  
 
 
4.12. The total number of Marac’s held in York in 2011/12 rose for the fourth 

year in a row since their inception. At this stage, although it is predicted 
that there will be fewer Marac’s in 2012/13, this does not take in to 
account that historically the months of November, December and January 
have the most MARAC’s. 

 
Indicator Type 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

0

00

0
N/a

0

0

0

NI 34 Domes tic Violence 
Murder

Out-turn

Target 0

 
 
4.13. No domestic violence murders were recorded during 2011/12 or the 

first six months of 2012-13 in York. 
 
4.14. Comments from all agencies have been coordinated for the 

Commissioning Strategy task and finish group since the last meeting and 
executive summary produced.  

 
4.15. A MARAC option report developed  
 
4.16. A Hidden Crime event has been held on Stalking. 
 
4.17. Agreed programmes decided for young people that Harm – IDAS 

awarded a three year contract via Respect to work with young people that 
have been affected by domestic abuse and are showing violent behaviour 
towards family and siblings. An agreement from CYC, NYCC and SYP 
and NYP to fill the gap for 14 -19. Funding has been agreed and a plan of 
which professionals / agencies will be invited for the 6 day training.  

 
4.18. Making Safe – Agreed via the Local Making Safe group a two day 

scoping exercise undertaken by Respect to look at an Adult programme to 
enhance the Making Safe package. Respect will scope the Victim service 
and the Offender Service.  

 

Page 142



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

4.19. Communication Strategy Agreed for next quarter (County and Local)  
 
5. Re-offending information 
 
 
5.1. Data on proven re-offending by young offenders is now available for the 

completed 2011/12 year and the 1st quarter of 2012/13. The level of re-
offending has been higher than target in 2011/12.  Information taken from 
the integrated commissioning document suggest: 

 
“Provisional result.  York historically very high compared with statistical 
family and region. Cohort analysis shows fundamental changes in risk 
profile.  Improving FTE (PI 111) figures have resulted in taking out the 
lower risk young people from the re-offending (PI 19) cohort.  York 
compare more favourably with national measures looking at larger 12-
month rolling cohorts.” 

 
Indicator Type 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011-12

1.88

2.2

1.82
1.91 (2005)

1.62

NI 19 Rate of Proven re-
offending by young Offenders 

aged 10 to 17

Target 1.74 1.66

Out-turn 1.17 2.00
 

 

Indicator Type Q1 Q2 + Q3 + Q4 +
2012-13

2.06

Out-turn 0.67 Avail End Jan

1.24 1.69NI 19 Rate of Proven re-
offending by young Offenders 

aged 10 to 17

Target 0.65

 
 
5.2. Data on first time entrants in to the youth justice system is now available 

for the completed 2011/12 year, and quarter 2 of 2012/13. This data 
suggests that the number of first time entrants continues to decline in 
York year on year.  Information taken from the integrated commissioning 
document suggest: 

 
“Provisional result, cumulative figure.  Data quality problems with police 
system persist.  Numbers of reprimands had reduced dramatically over 
recent years but seem to plateauing.  2012/13 performance does shows a 
drop in numbers compared to 2011/12.  NI 111 performance continues to 
have a perverse impact on re-offending (PI 19).” 
 

Indicator Type 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

928

776846

NI 111 First time entrants to the 
Youth justice System aged 10 

to 17

Target
2350

2040

Out-turn 1810 1559

19002185

 
 

Page 143



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

Indicator Type Q1 Q2 + Q3 + Q4 +
2012-13

NI 111 First time entrants to the 
Youth justice System aged 10 

to 17

Target 191 382 573 763

Out-turn 76 204
 

 
6. Business Crime 
 
6.1. Levels of most types of business crime are comparable to last year except 

shoplifting where it is predicted there will be a 2% of shoplifting.  
 

2012
WARD NAME Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
Acomb 1 0 2 4 1 2 3 5 4 7 29
Bishopthorpe 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2
Clifton 8 3 4 7 9 1 5 5 7 5 54
Derwent 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dringhouses & Woodthorpe 7 0 7 10 10 11 8 11 5 11 80
Fishergate 7 3 7 6 5 6 4 2 12 8 60
Fulford 2 3 5 1 5 1 4 9 2 0 32
Guildhall 48 57 67 69 47 39 60 46 49 52 534
Haxby & Wigginton 2 0 1 0 1 2 0 2 0 2 10
Heslington 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Heworth 16 4 11 13 8 25 12 7 8 17 121
Heworth Without 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3
Holgate 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 5 0 5 15
Hull Road 3 3 3 6 1 4 6 1 11 3 41
Huntington & New Earswick 14 7 5 11 6 10 8 8 11 3 83
Micklegate 3 3 6 4 5 3 8 10 5 6 53
Osbaldwick 1 2 7 2 0 3 0 1 1 5 22
Rural West 1 1 3 1 1 4 3 0 2 2 18
Skelton, Rawcliffe & Clifton Without 13 2 1 7 5 2 6 2 7 2 47
Strensall 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5
Westfield 5 5 5 6 7 8 6 11 2 8 63
Wheldrake 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Grand Total 135 94 139 148 112 122 134 125 126 138 0 0 1273

2012 
Total

 
 
6.2.  After 7 months of 2012/13 there have been 25 less premises shoplifted 

from compared to this stage last year, indicating higher repeat 
victimisation of the larger premises. 

 
6.3.  Smaller supermarkets continue to account for 10 of the top 20 premises 

suffering the highest volumes of shoplifting. The majority of this shoplifting 
is of alcohol and steps have been taken through the SNT’s, business 
crime task group and by NYP licensing to address these issues 

  
6.4.  The majority of shoplifting is within the city centre areas of York. There 

have been a higher number of cases than expected at Mcarthurglen 
within the last few months, although numbers are still low. Levels of 
shoplifting at Monks Cross, Clifton Moor, and Front Street in Acomb 
continue to be low. 

 
6.5. The levels of arrests for shoplifting are in the region of 100 arrests a 

month. The number of people whose disposal is Youth Restorative 
Justice or Community Resolution has increased in 2011 as the number of 
people with full charges has dropped.  

Page 144



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

 
6.6. Clifton Moor against Business Crime (CMAC) was officially launched on 

the 1st October.  CMAC is a new retailer’s against crime scheme.  A new 
radio security system has been launched provided by APEX radio system 
which has also been extended to the security team at the Monks Cross 
Retail Park. The radio link between the retail parks will be useful in 
combating travelling gangs who often hit both sites due to their proximity 
on the ring-road.  This scheme was deliberately launched at this time to 
coincide with the busy Christmas period.  

 
6.7. Working with the NYP Operational Plan Owner to develop the 

preventative strategy for a new retail crime operation, Operation 
Charisma. 

 
7. Other Information 
 

 
 
7.1. Levels of hate crimes / incidents have dropped in 2011/12 with 46 fewer 

cases.  There have only been 31 reported hate crimes / incidents within 
the first seven months of the year suggesting a possible end-year 
outcome of 62 crimes / incidents. 

 
7.2. The majority of the hate crime / incidents are Racial related, although 

there have been a small number of hate crimes / incidents which fall in to 
Religious, Homophobic and Disability categories over the last three years. 

 
7.3. Around 25% of all hate crimes / incidents are recorded to city centre 

locations with the other cases being evenly distributed throughout the city. 
There is little evidence of repeat victimisation for hate crime in York.  

 
7.4. No new data is available on RTC’s since the end of 2011. Road traffic 

Collision information is available for the whole 2011. The number of 
people killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions in York has 
stayed static for the last three years after a decade of reduction. 

 

Page 145



 

Document created by Safer York Partnership on 07/01/2013 

 
 
Report Written by:  
 
Ian Cunningham, Senior Analyst, 
Tanya Lyon, Crime Reduction Manager, 
Paul Morrison, Neighbourhood Safety Manager. 
 

Page 146



 
 
 

Community Safety Overview & Scrutiny Committee –Work Plan 2012-13 

Dates Work Programme 
27 June 2012 1.  Draft Workplan for 2012-13 – Discussion re New Ways of Working & Monitoring CYC Performance. Plus: 

• Director Update on Planned Service Reviews for 2012/13 
• Agreed CYC related Topics  

2.  Briefing on Proposed CCTV Topic  
3.  Introductory briefing on Animal Related Enforcement Topic  

17 July 2012 
 

1.    Animal Enforcement Review - Review remit to be agreed (Matthew Boxall) 
2.    Workplan & Suggested Remit for Domestic Recycling Task Group Scrutiny Review  
3.    Attendance of SYP & NYP to discuss Crime & Disorder Issues  
4.    Safer York Partnership Bi-Annual Performance Report  (Ian Cunningham) 
5.    SYP Report on CSP Plan & Joint Strategic Intelligence Assessment (Ian Cunningham) 
6.    CYC Year End Financial & Performance Monitoring Report (Patrick Looker) 

11 Sept 2012 1.   CYC First Qtr Finance & Performance Monitoring Report (Patrick Looker) 
2.   Draft Hate Crime Strategy - Consultation (Steve Waddington) 
3.   Animal Health Long Term Proposals - Verbal update on ongoing work (Steve Waddington) 
4.   Verbal Update from CCTV Task Group 
5.   Workplan  

13 Nov 2012 
@ 5pm 

1.   Attendance of Cabinet Member for Environmental Services re 2012/13 Priorities & Challenges 
2.   Presentation on Global Warming for Emergency Planning Scrutiny Review (Mike Taverner) 
3.   Consultation on Draft Protocol for NY&Y Police & Crime Panel and Crime & Disorder Overview & Scrutiny 

Committees 
4.   Domestic Recycling Task Group Scrutiny Review - Verbal Update from Task Group 
5.   Workplan 

15 January 
2013 

1.   Cabinet Report on Surface Water Management (for information only)– To support consideration of Possible 
Scrutiny Review on CYC Emergency Planning Procedures 

2.   CYC Second Qtr Finance & Performance Monitoring Report 
3.   SYP Bi-Annual Performance Report   
4.   Workplan 

12 March 2013 1.  Police & Crime Panel Workplan 2013-2014 – Attendance of PCP Support Officer & CYC Panel Members 
2.  CYC Third Qtr Finance & Performance Monitoring Report 
3.  Domestic Recycling Scrutiny Review Final Report  
4.  Workplan 

23 April 2013 1.   Attendance of Cabinet Members for Crime & Stronger Communities, and Environmental Services –Re outcomes 
from priorities for 2012/13 & new priorities for 2013/14 

2.   Draft Workplan for 2013/14 – Discussion re Possible Topics for Scrutiny Review in coming Year  

A
genda Item

 7
P

age 147



P
age 148

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	
	2 Minutes
	4 Cabinet Report on Surface Water Management
	Annex 1 Surface Water Management Plan

	5 Quarter 2 Finance and Performance Update Environmental Services and Public Protection
	6 Safer York Partnership Performance Report
	7 Work Plan

